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Key Figures

     USD ’000 Change
    2010 2009

Balance Sheet Data   
Total Assets  287,904 346,481 -16.9%
Gross Loan Portfolio 254,678 270,127 -5.7%
  Business Loan Portfolio 225,481 253,740 -11.1%
   USD < 10,000 14,582 23,955 -39.1%
   USD > 10,000 < 30,000 32,639 39,813 -18.0%
   USD > 30,000 < 150,000 99,992 112,313 -11.0%
   USD > 150,000 78,268 77,659 0.78%
  Agricultural Loan Portfolio 20,471 6,075 237.0%
  Housing Improvement Loan Portfolio 2,611 3,110 -16.0%
         of which, Energy Efficiency Loans 1,999 1,910 4.66%
  Other 6,115 7,202 -15.1%
Allowance for Impairment on Loans  21,340 14,885 43.4%
Net Loan Portfolio 233,338 255,242 -8.6%
Liabilities to Customers 173,998 150,146 15.9%
Liabilities to Banks and Financial Institutions 
(excluding PCH) 63,289 120,194 -47.3%
Total Equity    27,448 24,408 12.5%

Income Statement      
Operating Income 25,903 23,090 12.2%
Operating Expenses 32,247 34,153 -5.6%
Operating Profit Before Tax -6,344 -11,063 42.7%
Net Profit  -6,054 -7,998 24.3%
 
Key Ratios      
Cost/Income Ratio 93.8% 92.7%
ROE   -23.3% -33.4%
Capital Ratio  14.1% 12.9%

Operational Statistics      
Number of Loans Outstanding 17,089 25,510 -33.0%
Number of Loans Disbursed within the Year 9,731 5,518 76.4%
Number of Business and Agricultural
Loans Outstanding 13,444 20,987 -35.9%
Number of Deposit Accounts 125,129 121,435 3.04%
Number of Staff 1,017 1,417 -28.2%
Number of Branches and Outlets 40 64 -37.5%
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Mission Statement

ProCredit Bank Ukraine is a development-oriented full-service bank. We offer

excellent customer service and a wide range of banking products. In our 

credit operations, we focus on lending to very small, small and medium-sized 

enterprises, as we are convinced that these businesses create the largest number 

of jobs and make a vital contribution to the economies in which they operate.

Unlike other banks, our bank does not promote consumer loans. Instead we focus on 

responsible banking, by building a savings culture and long-term partnerships with our 

customers.

Our shareholders expect a sustainable return on investment, but are not primarily 

interested in short-term profit maximisation. We invest extensively in the training of our 

staff in order to create an enjoyable and efficient working atmosphere, and to provide 

the friendliest and most competent service possible for our customers.
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Letter from the Supervisory Board

Members of the 

Supervisory Board as of 

December 31, 2010:

Anja Lepp

Helen Alexander

Stephan Boven

Doris Koehn

Jana Sivcova 

Members of the 

Management Board as of 

December 31, 2010:

Susanne Decker

Viktor Ponomarenko

Members of the Extended 

Management Board as of 

December 31, 2010:

Mahmudali Guseynov

Olga Tomash

Dmytro Yudenko

Oleksandr Povshedniy

The year in Ukraine started with presidential elections which brought in a new government. After more 
than two years of deep economic crisis, the new administration acted decisively, initiating reforms and 
steering the country back towards growth. Ukraine’s agreement with the IMF was extended, and impor-
tant sectors showed signs of recovery, prompting estimates of 4.3% GDP growth for the year.1 These posi-
tive developments led to an upgrade of Ukraine’s country rating from B- to B. 

The UAH/USD exchange rate remained largely stable over the year, reflecting a return to confidence in 
the banking system, which ordinary Ukrainians were once again willing to entrust with their deposits. 
ProCredit Bank’s excellent liquidity ratios allowed us to lower interest rates on customer deposits, thus 
increasing our margins and our operational profitability. 

Nonetheless, entrepreneurs were still absorbed in post-crisis restructuring, adapting their businesses 
to the new realities of the market. Demand for credit from very small, small and medium clients was low; 
even so, ProCredit Bank disbursed loans totalling USD 134.3 million, and the total loan portfolio amount-
ed to USD 233.3 million at the end of the year. Two encouraging trends should be mentioned: Firstly the 
clear shift of our loan book from USD- to UAH-denominated loans, which is in line with the intentions of 
the National Bank and government to de-dollarise the economy. The temporary drawback is that for now it 
is only possible to issue short-term working capital loans, as no long-term local currency funds are avail-
able yet. The second positive trend is the increased demand for credit in the last quarter of 2010. This was 
attributable not only to the improved macroeconomic environment, but also to our successful positioning 
as a “house bank for small and medium businesses” which was accompanied by a large-scale marketing 
campaign. Our services for business clients are now concentrated in a smaller number of specialised 
branches, staffed by highly qualified “Business Client Advisers”. In 2010 alone we increased our client 
base by 42.6% to 84,558. Growth was particularly remarkable in our new agricultural segment: loans to 
these clients increased by over 200%. 

We succeeded in reducing our distressed pre-crisis loan portfolio and even recovered USD 2.5 million 
on written off loans, which is more than 20% of the amount written off in 2009. However, expenses for 
loan loss provisions remained high at 8.4 million, and this again had a significant adverse impact on our 
financial result. For 2010 we posted a loss of USD 6.1 million. We are nevertheless encouraged by the 
strong increase in our operational results in the second half of 2010, following further streamlining of our 
infrastructure and an increase in margins and fee income. We see these reassuring trends as vindication 
of our strategy to position ourselves as a specialised bank for small and medium enterprises. 

During 2010 the bank changed its legal form from a closed to an open joint stock company as required 
by Ukrainian law. At the same time the capital was increased by transforming a subordinated loan from 
Kreditanstalt für Wiederaufbau into non-voting Tier 1 capital. The total capital stood at UAH 218.5 million 
(USD 27.4 million) at year end, and the capital adequacy ratio was a comfortable 14.1%.

2010 has been another very demanding year for ProCredit Bank Ukraine. On behalf of the Supervisory 
Board I would like to express my gratitude to the employees and the management board for their commit-
ment and hard work. After our successful repositioning as the house bank for small and medium business 
we are now very well placed to take advantage of the business opportunities that 2011 will offer. 

 Anja Lepp
 Chairperson of the Supervisory Board

1 IMF Country Report No. 10/262
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* US dollar equivalent is calculated on the basis of the NBU official exchange rate as of 31 December 2010: UAH 7.9617/USD 1.

The Bank and its Shareholders

ProCredit Holding is the par-
ent company of a global 

group of 21 ProCredit banks. ProCredit Holding 
was founded as Internationale Micro Investitio-
nen AG (IMI) in 1998 by the pioneering develop-
ment finance consultancy company IPC.

ProCredit Holding is committed to expanding ac-
cess to financial services in developing countries 
and transition economies by building a group of 
banks that are the leading providers of fair, trans-
parent financial services for very small, small 
and medium-sized businesses as well as the 
general population in their countries of opera-
tion. In addition to meeting the equity needs of 
its subsidiaries, ProCredit Holding guides the de-
velopment of the ProCredit banks, provides their 
senior management, and supports the banks in 
all key areas of activity, including banking opera-
tions, human resources and risk management. It 
ensures that ProCredit corporate values, interna-

tional best practice procedures and Basel II risk 
management principles are implemented group-
wide in line with standards also set by the Ger-
man supervisory authorities.
IPC is the leading shareholder and strategic inves-
tor in ProCredit Holding. IPC has been the driving 
entrepreneurial force behind the ProCredit group 
since the foundation of the banks.

ProCredit Holding is a public-private partnership. 
In addition to IPC and IPC Invest (the investment 
vehicle of the staff of IPC and ProCredit), the other 
private shareholders of ProCredit Holding include 
the Dutch DOEN Foundation, the US pension fund 
TIAA-CREF, the US Omidyar-Tufts Microfinance 
Fund and the Swiss investment fund responsAbil-
ity. The public shareholders of ProCredit Holding 
include KfW (the German promotional bank), IFC 
(the private sector arm of the World Bank), FMO 
(the Dutch development bank), BIO (the Belgian 
Investment Company for Developing Countries) 

ProCredit Bank Ukraine is a member of the 
ProCredit group, which is led by its Frankfurt-
based parent company, ProCredit Holding. 
ProCredit Holding is the majority owner of 
ProCredit Bank Ukraine and holds 60.0% of the 
voting shares.

ProCredit Bank Ukraine was founded in January 
2001 as “Microfinance Bank” (MFB) by an alliance 
of international development-oriented investors, 
many of which are shareholders in ProCredit Hold-
ing today. Their goal was to establish a new kind 
of financial institution that would meet the demand 
of small and very small businesses in a socially re-
sponsible way. The primary aim was not short-term 

profit maximisation but rather to deepen the finan-
cial sector and contribute to long-term economic 
development while also achieving a sustainable 
return on investment.

Over the years, ProCredit Holding has consolidated 
the ownership and management structure of all the 
ProCredit banks to create a truly global group with 
a clear shareholder structure and to bring to each 
ProCredit institution all the best practice stand-
ards, synergies and benefits that this implies.

Today’s shareholder structure of ProCredit Bank 
Ukraine is outlined below. Its current share capital 
is USD 37.5 million.

Sector

Investment
Banking
Banking

Banking

Shareholder
(as of Dec. 31, 2010) 
ProCredit Holding
EBRD
KfW
Total voting capital

KfW (non-voting shares)

Total paid-in capital

Headquarters

Germany
UK
Germany

Germany

Voting share

60.0%
20.0%
20.0%
100%

–

–

Paid-in Capital, 
USD*

17,107,297
5,701,933
5,702,292

28,511,523

8,959,522

37,471,045
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and Proparco (the French Investment and Promo-
tions company for Economic Cooperation).

ProCredit Holding has an investment grade rating 
(BBB-) from Fitch Ratings Agency. As of the end 
of 2010, the equity base of the ProCredit group is 
EUR 428 million. The total assets of the ProCredit 
group are EUR 5.2 billion.

The European Bank for 
Reconstruction and Devel-
opment (EBRD) was estab-
lished in 1991. It aims to 

foster the transition towards open, market-ori-
ented economies and to promote private and en-
trepreneurial initiative in countries from Central 
Europe to Central Asia that are committed to de-
mocracy, pluralism and market economics. The 
EBRD seeks to help its countries of operations to 
implement structural and sectoral economic re-
forms, promoting competition, privatization and 
entrepreneurship.

In fulfilling its role as a catalyst of change, the 
Bank encourages co-financing and foreign direct 
investment from the private and public sectors, 
helps to mobilise domestic capital, and provides 
technical cooperation in relevant areas.

KfW Entwicklungsbank (KfW 
Development Bank): On be-

half of the German Federal Government, KfW 
Entwicklungsbank finances investments and ac-
companying advisory services in developing and 
transition countries. Its aim is to build up and 
expand the social and economic infrastructure of 
the respective countries, and to advance sound 
financial systems while protecting resources and 
ensuring a healthy environment.

KfW Entwicklungsbank is a leader in supporting 
responsible and sustainable microfinance and is 
involved in target group-oriented financial insti-
tutions around the world. It is part of KfW, which 
has a balance sheet total of EUR 442 billion (as 
of December 31, 2010). KfW is one of the five 
biggest banks in Germany and is AAA-rated by 
Moody’s, Standard & Poor’s and Fitch Ratings.
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Although energy consumption is necessary for 
our way of life, natural resources are limited. 
ProCredit Bank is aware of this conflict and ac-
tively works to achieve more sustainability in 
the long run. It is our goal to use less energy 
ourselves and to offer others the opportunity to 
do the same. Making alternatives to energy-in-
tensive processes more attractive will encourage 
people and organisations to join in our effort.

We continued our “green” office initiative and 
awareness campaign for employees in 2010. 
Lights are now used more sparingly, paper is 
printed on both sides, every e-mail reminds the 
reader to “think before you print”, water heat-
ers have been optimised to run more efficiently, 
automatic lighting timers have been installed 
and disposable cups are only offered to custom-
ers to avoid excess waste. Our initiative not only 
lessens our impact on the environment but also 

reduces our administrative expenses. In 2010 we 
took our “green” initiative out into the communi-
ty and built bicycle racks at the entrances of two 
branches in the city of Bila Tserkva. This encour-
ages people to make bicycles, a highly energy ef-
ficient mode of transportation, a part of their eve-
ryday lives. Based on the positive response from 
customers, we will continue to install bicycle 
racks near our branches throughout the country.

ProCredit Bank is also achieving reductions in 
energy consumption on a wider scale. Private 
households planning to make renovations us-
ing technologies aimed at reducing energy con-
sumption can apply for a “ProRemont Eco” loan 
featuring preferential terms and conditions. With 
this programme, our clients pay less interest now 
and have lower utility expenses in the future. The 
ProRemont Eco portfolio amounted to USD 2.0 
million at end-2010.

Special Feature

Supporting the Sustainable Management of Natural Resources
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ProCredit Bank’s energy efficiency loan portfolio 
grew moderately in 2010 to the total amount of 
USD 27.6 million. An audit conducted by an in-
ternational energy efficiency expert concluded 
that our customers have achieved energy sav-
ings well beyond the minimum amount of 20% 
set for energy efficiency projects. The potential 
to increase efficiency in energy use in Ukraine is 
considerable and thus such projects will continue 
to be highly recommendable investments for en-
trepreneurs in the future. 

ProCredit Bank Ukraine remains committed to 
achieving more sustainability in the energy sec-
tor in the future. We plan to reach our goals in 
this sector by implementing new credit products 
to promote energy efficiency measures at SMEs 
and by continuing to enhance public awareness 
through campaigns and community initiatives. 
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Management Business Review

Management

from left to right: 

Dmytro Yudenko

Member of the Extended Management Board

Victor Ponomarenko

Vice Chairperson of the Management Board

Susanne Decker

Chairperson of the Management Board

Olga Tomash

Member of the Extended Management Board

Oleksandr Povshedniy

Member of the Extended Management Board

Mahmudali Guseynov

Member of the Extended Management Board
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Political and Economic Environment 

The year 2010 was characterised by important 
changes in Ukraine’s political and economical 
environments. The year began with presiden-
tial elections, which resulted in a significant 
restructuring of political power and the forma-
tion of a new coalition government. The new 
president and his ruling party initiated changes 
in legislation and to the constitution in order to 
consolidate power at all levels and improve po-
litical stability throughout the country. The im-
plemented changes were a determining factor in 
the decision by the International Monetary Fund 
(IMF) to renew its relationship with Ukraine in 
2010. Ukraine’s government qualified for an IMF 
stand-by loan of USD 14.9 billion1, of which USD 
1.9 billion was used to cover the budget deficit. 
The government has committed to implementing 
structural reforms in fiscal policy and in the en-
ergy and gas sector, as well as social reforms. A 
number of measures were implemented in 2010; 
however, fiscal reforms were met with opposition 
from entrepreneurs. Despite political disputes 
and amid protests, a new tax code was adopted 
and approved by the president, as fiscal adjust-
ments have been deemed essential to avoiding 
excessive debt build up. Even in the face of oppo-
sition, the Ukrainian government intends to con-
tinue implementing structural reforms in order to 
tackle long-standing problems and promote sus-
tainable economic growth.

Political stability and the restored relationship 
with the IMF led FitchRatings (London) to upgrade 
Ukraine’s country rating from ‘B-’ to ‘B’ in 2010. 
This had a positive impact on businesses operat-
ing in Ukraine and improved the country’s attrac-
tiveness to investors. Furthermore, the new gov-
ernment was able to stabilise relationships with 
neighbouring countries, especially Russia, which 
also contributed to the revival of economic activ-
ity in Ukraine.

The economy showed signs of stabilisation 
throughout 2010. Recovery in terms of industrial 
output and an overall increase in exports contrib-
uted to 4.3% growth in GDP year on year. Inflation 
in Ukraine slowed down to 9.8% in 2010 (2009: 
15.9%). Although economic activity showed sig-
nificant signs of recovery towards year end – pri-
marily based on increased external demand and 

higher steel prices – the foundations for sustain-
able growth have not yet been fully established. 
In 2010, economic growth was subdued by the 
slow recovery in private consumption, the ongo-
ing weakness of the banking sector and the im-
plementation of disputed fiscal adjustments. 

The Ukrainian government is committed to at-
tracting foreign investors and has ensured that 
most sectors are fully open to foreign direct in-
vestment. Signs of continuous improvement on 
the global markets and growing external demand 
will be important drivers of economic recovery for 
Ukraine in 2011.

Financial Sector Development

At the end of 2010 the Ukrainian banking sector 
consisted of 176 operating banks and 18 banks 
in the process of liquidation2. Despite improved 
political stability and moderate economic recov-
ery, the banking system remained rather weak, 
but showed signs of stabilisation. Total banks’ 
assets increased by 7.3% to USD 8.3 billion, com-
pared with a decline of 8.34% in 2009. 

The high degree of dollarisation of the market 
in previous years had negatively impacted as-
set quality and led the National Bank of Ukraine 
(NBU) to implement measures aimed at restrict-
ing foreign currency lending. The conservative 
credit policy followed by Ukrainian banks in 2010 
resulted in low loan portfolio growth of 1.32%, to 
USD 94.83 billion. This slight increase was main-
ly generated by loans disbursed by Ukraine’s 
biggest banks to industrial corporations. The 
general climate of uncertainty caused by chang-
ing political and economic conditions resulted in 
a reduced demand for loans, and thus greatly im-
pacted medium and small-sized banks. 

Arrears management remained one of the top 
priorities for Ukrainian banks in 2010. The level 
of non-performing loans grew by 21.7% in 2010, 

1 All macroeconomic figures cited in this section were
 taken from IMF Country Report No. 10/262.
2 Unless otherwise indicated, all figures in this section are 
 taken from NBU statistics, www.bank.gov.ua
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reaching USD 10.66 billion (approximately 11.2% 
of the loan portfolio). Restructured loans made 
up 38% of the total portfolio at year end3.

Due to the slow recovery in lending operations, 
banks accumulated liquid assets during the first 
half of the year; by the end of July 2010 the volume 
of liquid assets had increased by 94.6% since the 
end of 2009. However, as a result of a rebound in 
lending operations by year end and of measures 
implemented by the NBU, the banks were able to 
decrease liquidity by 45% to UAH 18.6 billion.

In 2010 depositors’ trust in the banking system 
was gradually restored following stabilisation of 
the local currency. By end-2010 total customer 
deposits amounted to USD 52.1 billion, which 
is 27.9% more than at the close of 2009. House-
holds’ term deposits grew by 33.6% to USD 26.2 
billion. By mid-2010 the deposits volume exceed-
ed pre-crisis levels by 11%. 

In accordance with IMF terms, the NBU imple-
mented additional capitalisation requirements 
for banks. Thus, many banks received capital 
injections in 2010; total paid-in equity grew by 
22.7% and reached USD 18.3 billion. Additional 
NBU measures aimed at strengthening the bank-
ing system are scheduled and continued support 
from shareholders is expected throughout 2011. 
The gradual recovery of the economy and increas-
ing trust from depositors will promote the further 
development of Ukraine’s banking sector in 2011.

The challenging environment facing small and 
medium-sized businesses in 2010 will persist in 
2011. Strong support from banks will therefore 
be of the utmost importance for SMEs in the up-
coming year.

ProCredit Performance

Efforts to position ProCredit Bank on the market 
as the house bank for small and medium-sized 
businesses were supported by targeted acqui-
sition measures, a broad marketing campaign, 
intensive staff training, and the introduction of 
new services and product packages. We also 
succeeded in strengthening our reputation as a 
neighbourhood bank among the private individu-

als living in the communities where we continue 
to maintain a presence. Results have been more 
than positive. Client feedback has revealed that 
the bank’s efforts to reach out to clients in 2010 
were highly appreciated especially in light of the 
difficult economic environment. 

In order to enhance co-operation and interaction 
with our business clients and private individuals, 
we began reorganising our business structure in 
2009. In 2010 we were able to implement all nec-
essary changes at head office and in the branches 
and to turn our attention to raising awareness 
among employees about the new structure. The 
former credit department was transformed into 
the business unit in order to better address the 
needs of our business clients, and the retail de-
partment now focuses on working with private 
individuals. In order to enhance communication 
with clients, we also introduced two new posi-
tions: client advisers, who provide all services 
necessary to private individuals, and business 
client advisers, who offer specialised advice to 
our business clients. We also segmented all of 
our clients into groups according to their financial 
needs. The newly defined client segments are ex-
tremely helpful in ensuring targeted communica-
tion and the development of appropriate financial 
services and product packages. We are now able 
to react and adapt to the market better and faster 
than ever before.

The first positive results from the changes made 
over the past two years are already visible. Our 
business clients’ loan portfolio began increasing 
towards the end of 2010 and our client base of 
private individuals grew by 48%, from 48,845 to 
57,542 by end-2010. Our portfolio of loans to pri-
vate individuals has grown by 20%, amounting to 
USD 4.6 million at the end of the year.

We were able to build and strengthen our position 
in 2010 and are now looking forward to a success-
ful 2011, during which we will concentrate on the 
targeted acquisition of new clients and on build-
ing long-term relationships with existing clients.

3 Fitch report, www.bin.com.ua
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Business Clients

Throughout 2010 efforts were directed at further 
enhancing the quality of services provided to 
business clients by advancing our staff’s skill set 
and by positioning ourselves as the house bank 
for SMEs in Ukraine.

ProCredit Bank’s SME loan portfolio decreased 
by 6% compared with 2009 and amounted to USD 
243.5 million at the end of 2010. Loans totalling 
USD 130.1 million were disbursed to small and 
medium-sized businesses in 2010. The decrease 
in the loan portfolio is a direct result of lower de-
mand for loans due to the difficult economic en-
vironment. The contraction was partially offset 
by the success of new non-loan products, such 
as the overdraft service “Optimal Start”, which 
proved to be a successful incentive for attracting 
new clients. 

The very small segment (< USD 30,000) is still 
struggling with the aftermath of the country’s 
economic and financial instability. ProCredit 
Bank disbursed 3,959 loans, which amounted to 
USD 26.5 million. The loan portfolio in this seg-
ment decreased by USD 20.7 million to USD 64.8 
million by the end of the year and its share of the 
bank’s overall loan portfolio stood at 25.5%. 

Considerable efforts in the segment of small ex-
posures (USD 30,000 – 150,000) were directed 
at attracting new clients and developing the 

product portfolio of current clients. The major-
ity of loans disbursed in 2010 were short-term 
products such as overdrafts and the re-designed 
credit line facility. The volume of disbursed loans 
amounted to USD 27.4 million and the portfolio 
in this segment decreased by 13% to USD 88.8 
million by the end of 2010. 

Disbursements to medium-sized businesses 
(> USD 150,000) amounted to USD 44.4 million 
and the portfolio grew by 8.2% to 69.4 million 
by the end of the year. This was the first segment 
to exhibit growing demand for loans, and thus 
competition was fierce. The improved product 
portfolio and the organisational separation of 
risk analysis from sales have been crucial to our 
success in this segment. 

Loans to agricultural enterprises were disbursed 
in the amount of USD 31.8 million. This segment 
recorded staggering portfolio growth of 235%, 
totalling USD 20.5 million by the end of 2010. 
The agricultural segment’s share of the overall 
loan portfolio rose to 8%. As this sector was 
least affected by financial and economic turmoil, 
it holds great potential for further development. 
Partnerships with producers and distributors of 
agricultural machinery have been an important 
part of our success in 2010.

Our loan portfolio at risk (PAR>30 days) rose from 
6.9% to 10.8% in 2010. ProCredit Bank’s team 
of specialist loan officers and lawyers worked 
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closely with clients in 2010 to find reasonable 
solutions to difficult situations and were able to 
recover USD 2.5 million of previously written-off 
loans. Net write-offs in 2010 amounted to USD 
2.0 million or 0.8% of the total portfolio. 

Private Individuals

We seek to build long-term relationships by pro-
viding highly specialised products and services 
tailored to our customers’ needs. The introduc-
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Customer Deposits

Number (in ’000) Volume (in USD million) 
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Number of Customer Deposits – Breakdown by Size*

tion of segmentation according to clients’ needs 
in 2010 has been integral to improving this area 
of our work, as it allowed us to prioritise certain 
segments and increase the effectiveness of our 
cross-selling and acquisition efforts. For exam-
ple, we were able to offer unique product pack-
ages incorporating highly sought-after services, 
such as the overdraft on pension cards which 
was included in our product package designed 
for pensioners. In order to increase fee revenues 
and acquire potential future business clients and 
managers, we also targeted students in a market-
ing campaign in 2010. 

As a means of building long-term relationships 
with our deposit customers, loan products aimed 
at private individuals have a key role to play. Pro-
Credit Bank revived a special lending programme 
in 2010 called ProPartner loans, giving employ-
ees of our business customers access to credit on 
favourable terms but within responsible limits. 
In 2010 ProCredit Bank also actively promoted 
energy-saving technologies in everyday life with 
a marketing campaign aimed at home renovation 
loans called ProRepair Eco, which helped raise our 
retail loan portfolio to USD 4.6 million by the end 
of the year. 

In 2010 we also introduced state-of-the-art cus-
tomer feedback channels. All clients now have the 
opportunity to contact the bank via the Customer 
Support Hotline to express their opinion on the 

quality of services rendered or to address any is-
sues regarding their interaction with the bank.

The number of new private clients in 2010 in-
creased from 36,959 to 54,533, which is an in-
crease of 48%. The total deposit portfolio grew 
by 16.5%, from USD 146.8 million to USD 170.0 
million. In 2010, the volume of domestic money 
transfers was USD 2.3 billion and the volume of 
international money transfers amounted to USD 
484.1 million. Fee income made up 20% of total 
revenue, compared with 13.0% in 2009. 

Financial Results

ProCredit Bank’s financial performance in 2010 
was highly impacted by external factors, low 
business activity and a lack of demand for loans. 
Total assets decreased by 16.9% to USD 287.9 
million, driven primarily by a 6% decrease of the 
gross loan portfolio to USD 254.7 million. The dif-
ficult situation on the market also impacted port-
folio quality (PAR>30 days: 10.8%; 2009: 6.9%) 
and consequently, considerable loan loss provi-
sions had to be made (USD 8.4 million; 2009: 
USD 13.8 million). 

The bank accumulated liquidity as a result of low 
demand for loans and maintained a high level of 
liquidity throughout the year: during the first half 
of 2010 the average volume of liquid assets was 
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16.2% higher than in the same period of 2009. 
The bank implemented measures aimed at re-
ducing excess liquidity and at the same time im-
proving the financial results. In line with market 
trends, we lowered interest rates on deposits in 
both local and foreign currency. ProCredit Bank 
was able to repay USD 56.9 million of borrowed 
funds, some of it ahead of maturity, thus decreas-
ing our overall liabilities to external lenders by 
47.3%. We are confident that our long-term IFI 
partners will continue to support ProCredit Bank 
with funds in the future.

Thanks to the high level of customer confidence 
and positive market trends, the bank succeeded 
in increasing its deposit base. During the first 
seven months of 2010 deposits grew by 23.9% to 
USD 186.0 million. The impact of lowered interest 
rates was as expected: from August to the end of 
the year there was a decrease of deposits by 8% 
to USD 171.0 million. Nonetheless, in year-on-
year terms, our deposits grew by 16.5%, which 
is demonstrative of the trust our customers place 
in ProCredit. 
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Once again, the bank received support from its 
shareholders in 2010; the bank strengthened 
its capital base by converting subordinated debt 
from KfW (USD 9 million) into equity. Thus, the 
capital adequacy ratio at year end stood at 14.1% 
(2009: 12.9%), while the regulatory capital re-
quirement was 10%.

Net interest income in 2010 amounted to USD 
26.1 million, which is 9.4% less than in 2009 
mostly due to the decrease in the loan portfolio. 
Net interest income accounted for 79.2% of total 
operating income in 2010.

ProCredit Bank was able to partly offset the de-
creasing loan portfolio and shrinking margin by 
boosting its net fee income, which was 42.5% 
higher than in 2009; at USD 6.6 million it con-
tributed 20.1% of total operating income (2009: 
13.0%). This level of growth is representative of 
the bank’s success in providing quality customer 
service despite moderate business activity in 
the country. 

In 2010 the bank continued network optimisation 
and cost-saving measures. Our efforts resulted 
in 17.5% savings on total administrative costs 
year on year. Taking into account one-time ex-
penditures related to network restructuring, the 
benefits of these measures will be fully reflect-
ed in ProCredit Bank’s financial position in the 
coming year.

As a result of the ongoing impact of the finan-
cial crisis and the volatile business environment 
in Ukraine, ProCredit Bank reported a net loss 
of USD 6.1 million in 2010. In comparison with 
2009, the return on equity improved from -33.4% 
to -23.3%.

Outlook

As a result of the presidential elections in early 
2010, Ukraine experienced a significant shift and 
consolidation of political power. Although the new 
government’s working relationship with opposi-
tion parties remains tense, the overall level of po-
litical and social stability appears stronger than it 
has been for several years. 

After the dramatic drop in GDP in 2009, Ukraine’s 
economy experienced a slight recovery in 2010, 
but will continue to face significant challenges in 
the coming year. The general consensus is that full 
economic recovery and a return to sound growth 
rates will take several more years. In light of the 
considerable level of non-performing loans in 
the banking sector and the still subdued demand 
for banking services, expansion or growth in the 
banking sector will most likely be extremely lim-
ited in 2011. In addition, strict regulatory restric-
tions on foreign currency lending are not expected 
to be lifted in the near future.

While we are optimistic about our future develop-
ment due to the success achieved in acquiring non-
credit customers in 2010, we remain conservative 
about prospects for growth in our lending business 
and expect only a very modest increase of 5-10% 
in loan portfolio volume in 2011. Since the onset of 
the financial crisis in late 2008, the bank’s infra-
structure and staff levels have been streamlined 
in response to the significant decrease in the loan 
portfolio and to promote a return to sustainable fi-
nancial results. It also became vital to establish a 
branch network that is able to work efficiently and 
successfully in a future market that will most likely 
encounter economic stagnation.

In 2011 we will remain focused on establishing 
ProCredit as the house bank for SMEs, on adher-
ing to highest standards of customer service, and 
on advancing our staff’s professional skills, as 
we believe these are the key elements to promot-
ing the sustainable development and success of 
our institution.
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Risk Management

In 2010, banking operations were still very 
strongly influenced by the financial crisis. At the 
same time, however, this situation has created 
opportunities for a bank that has consistently 
taken a rigorous approach to risk management. 
We believe that this has been one of the key fac-
tors behind ProCredit Bank’s success in retaining 
the trust of our customers.

While ultimate responsibility for risk manage-
ment lies with senior management, it is the Risk 
Management Department which develops and 
implements mechanisms to identify, assess, 
and mitigate the bank’s exposure to risk. This 
department works in tandem with Internal Audit 
and the Anti-Money Laundering (AML) Depart-
ment to monitor the full range of risks to which 
the bank is exposed and the effectiveness of 
the methods used to minimise them. Special-
ised committees convene regularly to further 
monitor and mitigate risk: the Assets and Li-
abilities Committee (ALCO), the Portfolio Credit 
Risk Committee, the Market Risk Committee, the 
Loan Loss Provision Committee and the Opera-
tional Risk Committee.

The risk management policies in effect at 
ProCredit Bank Ukraine are based on the Group 
Handbook on Risk Management and Control, 
which in turn is based on the German Federal 
Financial Supervisory Authority’s policy docu-
ment “Minimum Requirements for Risk Manage-
ment”. ProCredit Bank Ukraine reports its risk 
position to the Group Risk Management Com-
mittee (GRMC) at monthly intervals. The group’s 
risk management departments also monitor the 
bank’s key risk indicators on an ongoing basis, 
providing guidance whenever required. 

Risk management policies throughout the 
ProCredit group are based on the concept of 
“risk-bearing capacity”, i.e. the principle that 
each bank’s aggregated risk exposures must 
not exceed its capacity to bear risk, and that the 
resources available to cover risk are sufficient 
to absorb any losses that may arise and protect 
creditors’ investments. Statistical models and 
other procedures are used to quantify the risks 
incurred, and thresholds and limits are set for 
each risk category and for the aggregate expo-
sure. In general, the bank remained within the 
predefined limits, with the exception of interest 

rate risk, due in part to the term mismatches be-
tween assets and liabilities which is currently a 
common problem in the Ukrainian banking sec-
tor. To reduce interest rate risk, ProCredit Bank 
has encouraged longer-term saving and intro-
duced loans with floating interest rates. 

ProCredit Bank’s culture of internal and external 
transparency is crucial to our risk management 
efforts. Thanks to our clearly defined procedures 
and our encouragement of open communication, 
our well-trained staff are in a strong position 
to detect risks and take the steps necessary to 
mitigate them.
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Credit Risk Management

Given that lending to small businesses is 
ProCredit Bank’s main asset-side operation, it 
is not surprising that classical credit risk, i.e. 
the risk that borrowers will be unable to re-
pay, accounts for the largest share of risk in 
this category.

ProCredit Bank Ukraine has adopted the 
ProCredit Group Credit Risk Management Policy 
and the Group Collateral Valuation Policy, which 
together reflect the experience gained in more 
than two decades of successful lending opera-

tions in developing and transition economies. 
Credit decision-making authority at the bank is 
clearly defined; all decisions to issue a loan, or 
change its terms, are taken by a credit commit-
tee, and all credit risk assessments are carefully 
documented. Above all, the bank seeks to build 
and maintain long-term relationships with its 
customers, thus ensuring that it is fully aware of 
their financial situation, and great care is taken 
to avoid over-indebting them. 

Credit risk is also mitigated by the fact that our 
portfolio is highly diversified. The businesses 
we serve operate in a wide range of sectors, and 
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their exposure to global market fluctuations is 
very limited. Moreover, the vast majority of our 
credit exposures are relatively small. As of end-
2010, loans under USD 30,000 accounted for 
21.6% of the total outstanding portfolio by vol-
ume and for 81.0% in number, and the average 
amount outstanding was USD 14,756, while the 
ten largest exposures accounted for only 9.8% of 
the portfolio.

As the vast majority of the bank’s loans are re-
payable in monthly instalments, a borrower’s 
failure to meet a payment deadline is treated as 
an initial sign of potential default and draws an 
immediate response from the bank. When a pay-
ment of interest or principal is overdue by more 
than 30 days, the loan in question is assigned 
to the portfolio at risk (PAR>30), which serves as 
the key indicator of classical credit risk. 

In 2010 the bank’s overall PAR>30 rose from 
7.0% at the start of the year to 10.8% at year-
end. Economic recession, decreasing GDP and 
slow recovery contributed to this increase, but 
the PAR has stabilised thanks to the bank’s pro-
active approach to maintaining portfolio quality. 
It should be noted that ProCredit Bank’s PAR>90 
is much better than the average for the Ukrain-
ian banking sector as a whole, where according 
to figures published by FitchRatings (FitchRat-
ings Conference, 28/10/2010, Ukraine), 21.0% 
of loans were non-performing at the end of June 
2010, compared with ProCredit Bank’s PAR>90 
of only 9.6%.

One of the ways in which ProCredit Bank has 
met the challenge to portfolio quality posed by 
the financial crisis is to offer loan restructuring 
to those clients that are judged to have the po-
tential to regain stability. Restructurings follow 
a thorough analysis of each client’s changed 
payment capacity. The decision to restructure 
a credit exposure is always taken by a credit 
committee and aims at full recovery. As of end-
2010, the total volume of restructured loans in 
the “watch” category came to USD 41.7 million, 
while USD 30.3 million had migrated to the “im-
paired” category. 

ProCredit Bank Ukraine takes a conservative ap-
proach to loan loss provisioning. Impairment al-

lowances for individually significant exposures 
are calculated on the basis of historical default 
rates. For all unimpaired credit exposures, 
portfolio-based allowances for impairment are 
made. At the end of the year the coverage ratio 
(loan loss provisions as a percentage of PAR>30) 
stood at 80.5%, and as a percentage of the total 
loan portfolio, provisions amounted to 8.4%.

Loans considered to be irrecoverable are consist-
ently written off. Nonetheless, recovery efforts 
continue even after a loan has been written off, 
and collateral collection is rigorously enforced. 
In 2010 net write-offs totalled USD 2.0 million, 
or 0.81% of the gross loan portfolio.

Counterparty and Issuer Risk 
Management

Counterparty and issuer risks evolve especially 
from the bank’s need to invest excess liquidity, 
to conclude foreign exchange transactions, or 
to buy protection on specific risk positions. The 
risk of incurring losses caused by the unwilling-
ness or inability of a financial counterparty or 
issuer to fulfil its obligations is managed accord-
ing to the ProCredit Group Counterparty Risk 
Management Policy, which defines the counter-
party selection process and limits on the size of 
exposures, and according to the Group Treasury 
Policy, which specifies the set of permissible 
transactions and the rules for their processing. 
As a matter of principle, only large international 
banks and local banks with a good reputation 
and financial standing are eligible counterpar-
ties. Exceptions to size limits are conditional on 
approval by the GRMC.

Country Risk Management

Given ProCredit Bank’s focus on lending to busi-
nesses in the local market, it does not normally 
enter into cross-border transactions, and there-
fore its exposure to country risk is limited. How-
ever, the bank sometimes needs to invest excess 
liquidity in bonds issued by highly rated inter-
national institutions, and exchanges currencies 
with other members of the ProCredit group. The 
group as a whole is exposed to country risk in-
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sofar as all ProCredit banks operate in transition 
economies or developing countries. However, 
over the years the ProCredit business model has 
proven to be relatively resistant to macroeco-
nomic and political shocks. 

Liquidity Risk Management

To determine the robustness of the bank’s liquid-
ity in the face of potential shocks, the bank per-
forms regular stress tests based on scenarios 
defined as a group standard by the Group Li-
quidity Risk Management Policy. Whenever nec-
essary to bridge liquidity shortages, ProCredit 
Bank Ukraine, like the other group banks, is able 
to obtain a standby line from ProCredit Holding. 

Several factors inherent to the bank’s business 
model offset liquidity risk. Firstly, the bank’s di-

versified, high quality portfolio of loans means 
that incoming cash flows are highly predictable. 
Secondly, our customer deposits are spread 
across a large number of depositors each hold-
ing relatively small amounts. As of December 
2010 the average balance in deposit accounts of 
all types came to UAH 11,000 (USD 1,367), and 
the ten largest depositors made up only 7.6% of 
total deposit volume. 

Currency Risk Management

ProCredit Bank Ukraine is largely immune to 
market risk because it does not trade in securi-
ties or in commodities, nor does it engage in 
derivative transactions except for hedging pur-
poses. Currency risk is managed in accordance 
with the Group Foreign Currency Risk Manage-
ment Policy. The bank continuously monitors 
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exchange rate movements and foreign currency 
markets, and determines its currency positions 
on a daily basis. Any exceptions to group policy 
or violations on group limits are subject to ap-
proval by the GRMC. Stress tests are regularly 
carried out to assess the impact of exchange rate 
movements on open currency positions (OCP) in 
each operating currency based on two scenarios: 
most probable and worst case. 

Group policy forbids the bank to maintain OCPs 
for speculative purposes. FX derivatives may only 
be used for hedging purposes to close certain 
positions, in which case they are closely moni-
tored at both local and group level. However, the 
National Bank of Ukraine introduced tight OCP 
requirements during the financial crisis in early 
2009 in order to stabilise the local market and 
to prevent speculative transactions with foreign 
currency. These requirements forced the bank 
to keep a short OCP, which amounted to 1.3% of 
the regulatory capital for euros and 10.1% for US 
dollars at year-end.

Interest Rate Risk Management

Following exchange rate stabilisation and the end 
of presidential elections in March, people began 
depositing their money in the banking system 
once again. The fast inflow of customer funds 
caused interest rates on deposits to drop to pre-
crisis levels. At the same time, the banking sec-
tor experienced a decline in the demand for loans, 
leading to a corresponding decrease in interest 
rates on asset-side products. Maturity gap anal-
ysis and stress testing are used to measure and 
analyse the impact of interest rate shifts on inter-
est income. A key policy measure undertaken in 
2010 to mitigate interest rate risk was the intro-
duction of variable interest rates on loans, allow-
ing the bank to raise (or lower) the rates it charges 
in line with shifts in the market interest rates. The 
bank’s floating rate is based on interest rates for 
one-year and six-month deposits. 

Operational Risk Management

The Group Operational Risk Policy is in full com-
pliance with Basel II and German banking legisla-

tion. To minimise operational risk, all processes 
are precisely documented and subject to effec-
tive control mechanisms. Job descriptions are 
comprehensive, duties are strictly segregated, 
and dependency on key individuals is avoided. 
When recruiting, the bank pays close attention 
to personal integrity, a quality which is rein-
forced through the bank’s strictly enforced code 
of conduct and through comprehensive training 
programmes designed to promote a culture of 
transparency and risk-awareness.

The group-wide Risk Event Database (RED) ensures 
that operational risks are addressed in a system-
atic and transparent manner, with all remedial and 
preventive action clearly documented and acces-
sible to management control, both at bank level 
and at group level. Staff are required to report all 
events which represent an actual or potential loss, 
regardless of the amount, using the RED interface. 
The RED system is a very sensitive tool: it helps the 
bank to identify significant discrete events as well 
as suspicious trends over time.

When the RED system was introduced, the Risk 
Management Department organised an exten-
sive training programme for users, providing 
detailed instructions on which kind of informa-
tion should be entered into the database. Fur-
thermore, as part of their initial training, all new 
staff members are taught how to recognise and 
avoid operational risk and how to maintain infor-
mation security. In 2010, ProCredit Bank Ukraine 
reported 261 risk events representing a total net 
risk amount of USD 18,816. The main types of 
reported events included temporary breaches of 
branch cash limits (leading to an increased risk 
of robbery) due to unusually large deposits, as 
well as interruptions in the power supply and 
other technical problems at the branches.  

Every year the bank conducts a risk assessment 
procedure by completing a group-wide question-
naire on fraud risk and operational risk. Each of 
the risks described here must be mitigated by 
appropriate controls, the adequacy of which is 
the subject of the assessment. If the controls are 
judged to be insufficient, an action plan for rem-
edying the situation is drawn up. The completed 
assessment is sent to the Group Operational 
Risk Management Department. 
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In 2010 the bank introduced the group-wide New 
Risk Approval (NRA) process, which is applied to 
all materially new or changed products, services 
or business processes. Only after the elimina-
tion of any obstacles or deficiencies revealed 
by the NRA process does management give its 
approval for the innovation to go ahead. A post-
implementation review is conducted after three 
to six months.

The bank’s Business Continuity Policy ensures 
that the bank can maintain or restore its opera-
tions in a timely manner in the event of a serious 
disruption. As well as defining the steps to be 
taken to restore normal operations, the bank’s 
Business Continuity Plan specifies the procedure 
for moving critical operations to temporary loca-
tions, the resources that need to be mobilised in 
each type of case and the expected cost of dis-
ruptions in specific areas. It also offers guidance 
on avoiding disruption in the first place. Because 
power supply problems are a daily occurrence 
in Ukraine, the bank has an effective electrical 
backup system in place.

Anti-Money Laundering

ProCredit Bank Ukraine fully endorses the fight 
against money laundering and terrorist financ-
ing, and has implemented the Group Anti-Money 
Laundering Policy, which meets the requirements 
of German and EU legislation. No customer is ac-
cepted and no transaction is executed unless the 
bank understands and agrees to the underlying 
purpose of the business relationship. The Group 
Anti-Money Laundering Department (Group AML) 
conducts an annual survey of all ProCredit banks 
and updates the policy accordingly. In addition, 
all ProCredit banks submit quarterly reports on 
their AML activities to Group AML. 

At ProCredit Bank Ukraine, responsibility for AML 
activities is exercised by the AML Department. 
The First Deputy General Manager is in charge of 
this area of the bank’s activity. According to lo-
cal regulations, any transaction exceeding UAH 
150,000 (USD 18,840) must be reported to the 
local authorities if the transaction meets the cri-
teria prescribed by local AML regulations. In ad-
dition, any attempt to execute a transaction that 

arouses suspicion of money laundering, terrorist 
financing or some other criminal activity must 
be reported appropriately. Front-office staff re-
ceive intensive training in how to recognise sus-
picious transactions. An additional automated 
safeguard is provided by the use of the bank’s 
core software, Scrooge II, which is manufactured 
by Lime Systems. In cases of doubt, Group AML 
takes the final decision on how to handle the 
suspicious transactions and suspicious custom-
ers reported by the bank.

Capital Adequacy

The bank’s capital adequacy is calculated on a 
monthly basis and reported both to the manage-
ment and to the Group Risk Management Com-
mittee, together with rolling forecasts to ensure 
future compliance with capital adequacy re-
quirements. Strong support from our sharehold-
ers once again enabled the bank to maintain a 
comfortable capital cushion. In 2010 there was a 
USD 9 million increase in paid-in capital. At year-
end the capital adequacy ratio (Tier 1 and Tier 2 
capital / risk-weighted assets) stood at 14.1%, 
well above the group-wide minimum standard of 
12.0% according to IFRS Standards. The capital 
adequacy ratio (Tier 1 and Tier 2 capital / risk-
weighted assets) according to local standards 
stood at 14.8%, well above the minimum stand-
ard of 10.0%. ProCredit Bank Ukraine’s overall 
risk rating, issued by FitchRatings, was raised 
from B- to B in 2010 in line with the country ceil-
ing. The bank’s local rating, according to Fitch, 
is AAA(ukr).
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Branch Network

At the end of 2010, ProCredit Bank Ukraine had 
a total of 25 branches and 15 service points lo-
cated in 16 different towns and cities across the 
country. In order to ensure efficient communica-
tion between the branches and the bank’s head-
quarters, and among branches in the same part 
of the country, the network is organised into six 
regions, each headed by a regional director. As 
Ukraine has a strong agricultural sector, all of our 
branches offer specialised services to agricultur-
al businesses.

In 2010, as part of our effort to respond in a more 
differentiated manner to our customers’ needs, 
we made improvements to the structure of our 
branch network. Our lending business is now 
concentrated in a smaller number of special-
ised branches, where the majority of our busi-
ness client advisers and credit analysts are now 
based. These branches provide not only credit 
products but also all of the bank’s other serv-
ices for business clients and private individu-
als, including various types of account services, 

foreign exchange, money transfers and utilities 
payments. 

In addition to these full-scale branches, the bank 
now also operates smaller service points in stra-
tegic, often densely populated neighbourhoods. 
The service points are designed to be convenient 
places for both private individuals and enterpris-
es to do their day-to-day retail banking business, 
but do not process loan applications. Based on 
careful analysis of the market potential, our cus-
tomers’ needs and available resources in each lo-
cation, the bank converted a total of 16 branches 
into service points and closed 23 branches in 
2010 in order to concentrate the available re-
sources in locations where they could make the 
greatest impact on service quality.

One major construction project in 2010 was the 
acquisition and renovation of additional premis-
es at 49 Kotelnikova Street in Kiev for our Head 
Office operations. This two-storey building has 
ample space to allow for growth well into the fu-
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ture; remodelling efforts will be completed early 
next year.

In 2010, our continued focus on building long-
term relationships with our clients and providing 
specialised customer service led to difficult deci-
sions in terms of our branch network. However, 
we feel that we are now in a much stronger po-
sition to contribute to the development of small 

businesses in key locations across the country, 
and support private individuals in managing their 
finances effectively. Our efforts to maximise the 
efficiency of our branches and service points will 
continue in 2011.
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Organisation, Staff and Staff Development

In line with the group-wide focus on enhancing 
the quality of the relationship with our customers 
and improving service quality in 2010, the bank 
intensified its efforts to advance the professional 
and personal development of its staff. During the 
year, our employees participated in a total of 191 
internal training days, not including attendance 
at the international ProCredit Academies. 

The bank’s Training Department is part of the HR 
division and focuses on developing, organising 
and conducting our diverse training programme 
for all levels of staff. Our training team consists 
of a Head of Department, two professional train-
ers, one English teacher and a maths teacher. 
In line with our commitment to the continuous 
professional development of our staff, ProCredit 
Bank Ukraine, in co-ordination with the ProCredit 
Language Centre in Germany, opened the doors 

of its own English language school just outside of 
Kiev in early 2010. The language school offered 
22 two-week long courses, in which groups of 
10 were provided with full-day interactive train-
ing conducted by an experienced native English 
speaking teacher. Classes are designed for stu-
dents at pre-intermediate, intermediate and up-
per-intermediate levels. 

In the context of the ProCredit group’s interna-
tional initiative to raise the level of mathemati-
cal knowledge among its staff, ProCredit Bank 
Ukraine hired one full-time and four part-time 
maths teachers in 2010. In order to support staff 
in achieving the group-wide “Maths 1” standard, 
15 seminars with experienced managers and 
maths teachers were organised and an e-learning 
platform was set up to promote individual prepa-
ration for the exams. Based on the overwhelming 
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success achieved in Maths 1 in 2010, preparation 
for level 2 maths training is underway and is set 
for launch in January 2011.

A large proportion of the training provided to 
current and potential middle managers takes 
place outside Ukraine at the international 
ProCredit Academies. In 2010, nine colleagues 
from ProCredit Bank Ukraine completed the first 
year of their two-year course at the ProCredit 
Regional Academy for Eastern Europe in Veles, 
Macedonia. Three of the bank’s staff earned their 
“ProCredit Banker” diploma, marking the suc-
cessful completion of the highly intensive three-
year programme offered at the central ProCredit 
Academy in Fürth, Germany. 

The adoption of a new group-wide business 
strategy in 2010, with its increased emphasis on 
building long-term customer relationships, ne-
cessitated various changes to the bank’s organi-
sational structure. At head office level and in co-
ordination with the Business Department, the HR 
Department organised staff assessment days, 
designed to evaluate staff’s key competences in 
terms of our new client-based approach and iden-
tify areas for improvement and further training. 

The internal organisation of the branches was 
also revised, with separate front office areas for 
business clients and private individuals, respec-
tively. In this context, various assessments were 
undertaken to ensure that staff had the requisite 
skills for their assignments within this modified 
structure. For example, the Business Client Ad-
visers, who are responsible for advising clients 
on all of the bank’s products and services and for 
acquiring new customers, were chosen for this 

new position on the strength of their communi-
cation skills. At the same time, experienced loan 
officers with the strongest analytical expertise 
were appointed to the newly created Credit Ana-
lyst position, whose function is to evaluate ap-
plications for credit services submitted by com-
paratively large, complex business clients. In all 
cases, intensive training was given to reassigned 
staff to prepare them for their new duties.

Given the bank’s focus on consolidation and qual-
ity in 2010, recruitment of new personnel took 
place on a much more limited scale than in previ-
ous years. Nonetheless, our new centralised re-
cruitment process resulted in 115 people joining 
the bank in 2010; at year-end there were a total 
of 1,052 members of staff. In line with the Pro-
Credit group’s new recruitment policy, all short-
listed applicants are now invited to take a “maths 
and logic” test, which is set by ProCredit Holding. 
Successful candidates then take part in group 
discussions and role plays, where among other 
things their interpersonal skills are assessed, 
followed by individual in-depth interviews with 
senior staff of the bank. 

ProCredit Bank Ukraine understands that the key 
to providing high quality service lies in building 
a team of motivated, professionally competent 
staff who are jointly committed to the bank’s mis-
sion and objectives, and who work well together 
on the basis of mutual trust and respect. For this 
reason, in addition to its substantial investment 
in training, the bank sponsored team-building 
summer events again after a long pause due to 
budget restraints. The events allowed employ-
ees to gather and engage in shared activities and 
were highly appreciated by all staff members. 
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Business Ethics and Environmental Standards

Part of the overall mission of the ProCredit group 
is to set standards in the financial sectors in which 
we operate. We want to make a difference not only 
in terms of the target groups we serve and the 
quality of the financial services we provide, but 
also with regard to business ethics. Our strong 
corporate values play a key role in this respect. 
Six essential principles guide the operations of 
the ProCredit institutions:

•  Transparency: We adhere to the principle of 
providing transparent information both to our 
customers and the general public and to our 
employees, and our conduct is straightfor-
ward and open;

• A culture of open communication: We are 
open, fair and constructive in our communica-
tion with each other, and deal with conflicts 
at work in a professional manner, working to-
gether to find solutions;

• Social responsibility and tolerance: We offer 
our clients sound advice and assess their eco-

nomic and financial situation, business poten-
tial and repayment capacity so that they can 
benefit from the most appropriate loan prod-
ucts. Promoting a savings culture is an impor-
tant part of our mission, and we are committed 
to treating all customers and employees with 
fairness and respect, regardless of their ori-
gin, colour, language, gender or religious or 
political beliefs;

• Service orientation: Every client is served in 
a friendly, competent and courteous manner. 
Our employees are committed to providing ex-
cellent service to all customers, regardless of 
their background or the size of their business;

• High professional standards: Our employees 
take personal responsibility for the quality of 
their work and always strive to grow as profes-
sionals;

• A high degree of personal commitment: This 
goes hand-in-hand with integrity and honesty – 
traits which are required of all employees in the 
ProCredit group.
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across the group to ensure compliance with Ger-
man regulatory standards.

We also set standards regarding the impact of our 
lending operations on the environment. 
ProCredit Bank Ukraine has imple-
mented an environmental manage-
ment system based on continuous 
assessment of the loan portfolio 
according to environmental criteria, 
an in-depth analysis of all economic 
activities which potentially involve 
environmental risks, and the re-
jection of loan applications from 
enterprises engaged in activities 
which are deemed environmen-
tally hazardous and appear on 
our institution’s exclusion list. By 
incorporating environmental is-
sues into the loan approval proc-
ess, ProCredit Bank Ukraine is also 
able to raise its clients’ overall level of environ-
mental awareness. We also ensure that requests 
for loans are evaluated in terms of the applicant’s 
compliance with ethical business practices. No 
loans are issued to enterprises or individuals if it 
is suspected that they are making use of unsafe or 
morally objectionable forms of labour, in particu-
lar child labour.

These six values represent the backbone of our 
corporate culture and are discussed and actively 
applied in our day-to-day operations. Moreover, 
they are reflected in the ProCredit Code of Con-
duct, which transforms the group’s ethical princi-
ples into practical guidelines for all staff. To make 
sure that new employees fully understand all of 
the principles that have been defined, induction 
training includes sessions dedicated to the Code 
of Conduct and its significance for all members of 
our team. Regular refresher training sessions help 
to ensure that employees remain committed to 
our high ethical standards and are kept abreast of 
new issues and developments which have an ethi-
cal dimension for our institution. These events al-
low existing staff to analyse recent case studies 
and discuss any grey areas.

Another aspect of ensuring that our institution ad-
heres to the highest ethical standards is our con-
sistent application of best practice systems and 
procedures to protect ourselves from being used 
as a vehicle for money laundering or other illegal 
activities such as the financing of terrorist activi-
ties. An important focus here is to “know your cus-
tomer”, and, in line with this principle, to carry out 
sound reporting and comply with the applicable 
regulations. Updated anti-money laundering and 
fraud prevention policies are being introduced 
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The ProCredit Group: Responsible Neighbourhood Banks for 
Small Businesses and Ordinary People

The ProCredit group comprises 21 financial insti-
tutions providing banking services in transition 
economies and developing countries. ProCredit 
banks are responsible neighbourhood banks. 
This means, in the neighbourhoods in which we 
work, we aim to:

• be the house bank of choice for the very small, 
small and medium-sized enterprises which cre-
ate jobs and drive economic development, and

• provide secure and transparent savings and 
banking services to ordinary people who are 
looking for an affordable bank they can trust. 

At the end of 2010 our 15,600 employees, work-
ing in some 740 branches, were serving 3 mil-
lion customers in Eastern Europe, Latin America 
and Africa.

The history of the ProCredit group is a rich one 
and forms the basis of what we are today. The 
first ProCredit banks were founded more than 
a decade ago with the aim of making a develop-
ment impact by promoting the growth of small 
businesses. We sought to achieve this by pro-
viding loans tailored to their requirements and 
offering deposit facilities that would encourage 
low-income individuals and families to save. The 
group has grown strongly over the years, and to-
day we are one of the leading providers of bank-
ing services to small business clients in most of 
the countries in which we operate. 

Our origins lie in our pioneering microfinance 
positioning. This positioning has developed as 
our markets and our clients have developed so 
our socially responsible approach remains as rel-
evant today as ever. Its importance has been un-
derscored by the financial crisis and subsequent 
significant macroeconomic decline which most 
of our countries of operation experienced over 
the last two years. As enterprises adjust to and 
expand again in their new economic reality and 
ordinary people rebuild their trust in banks, it is 
clear that our customers need a reliable banking 
partner now more than ever. This has also given 
us the impetus to further strengthen our compre-
hensive customer-oriented approach with more 
highly specialised and well trained staff.

Unlike most other banks operating in our mar-
kets, we have always avoided aggressive con-

sumer lending and speculative lines of business. 
Instead, the ProCredit banks work in close con-
tact with their clients to gain a full understand-
ing of the problems small businesses face and 
the opportunities that are available to them. Our 
credit technology, developed over many years 
with the support of the German consulting com-
pany IPC, relies on the careful individual analysis 
of credit risks. By making the effort to know our 
clients well and maintain long-term relationships 
based on trust and understanding, we are well 
positioned to support them not only when the 
economy is buoyant, but also during a downturn 
and recovery. Over the last two years, the ability 
of our loan officers to proactively make appropri-
ate adaptations to payment plans where neces-
sary to reflect clients’ new and more challenging 
sales environments has played an important role 
in maintaining good loan portfolio quality.

We not only extend loans, but also offer our en-
terprise clients a broad range of other banking 
services such as cash management, domestic 
and international money transfers, payroll servic-
es, POS terminals and payment and credit cards. 
These services are geared towards assisting our 
business clients to operate more efficiently and 
more formally and thus help to strengthen the 
real economy and the banking sector as a whole. 
In these terms ProCredit has a “whole customer” 
focus rather than a simple product focus. Our 
staff and our branches are becoming more spe-
cialised and better equipped to cater to the needs 
of different client segments.

Today we have less of a focus on traditional “mi-
crofinance” than we did in the past. At the end of 
2009, we increased the minimum loan size for en-
terprise clients to EUR/USD 2,000 in most coun-
tries since we found that below this limit there 
is such broad access to loans from consumer fi-
nance providers that “excess” had become more 
of a challenge for many clients than “access”. For 
these groups we prefer to offer deposit accounts 
and other banking services rather than credit.

Our targeted efforts to foster a savings culture 
in our countries of operation have enabled us 
to build a stable deposit base. ProCredit de-
posit facilities are appropriate for a broad range 
of lower- and middle-income customers. We 
place particular emphasis on working with the 
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ProCredit Holding Germany

ProCredit Bank Serbia

ProCredit Bank 
Bosnia and Herzegovina

ProCredit Bank Kosovo

ProCredit Bank Albania

ProCredit Bank Macedonia

ProCredit 
Savings and Loans Ghana

ProCredit Bank 
Democratic Republic of Congo

Banco ProCredit Mozambique

ProCredit Bank Ukraine

ProCredit Bank Moldova 

ProCredit Bank Romania

ProCredit Bank Georgia

ProCredit Bank Armenia

ProCredit Bank Bulgaria
ProCredit 
Mexico 

Banco ProCredit 
Honduras 

Banco ProCredit 
El Salvador

Banco ProCredit
Nicaragua

Banco ProCredit
Colombia 

Banco ProCredit 
Ecuador

Banco Los Andes
ProCredit Bolivia

The international group

of ProCredit institutions;

see also

www.procredit-holding.com

owners, employees and families associated with 
our core target group of very small, small and 
medium-sized businesses. ProCredit banks offer 
simple savings products and place great empha-
sis on promoting children’s savings accounts and 
on running financial literacy campaigns in the 
broader community. In addition to deposit facili-
ties, we offer our clients a full range of standard 
retail banking services. Over 2010 ProCredit in-
stitutions managed to maintain a high level of 
liquidity given the stability of their loyal retail 
deposit base.

The ProCredit group has a simple business mod-
el: providing banking services to a diverse range 
of enterprises and the ordinary people who live 
and work around our branches. As a result, our 

banks have a transparent, low-risk profile. We 
do not rely heavily on capital market funding and 
have no exposure to complex financial products. 
Furthermore, our staff are well trained, flexible 
and able to provide competent advice to clients, 
guiding them through difficult times as well as 
good times. Despite the turmoil of the global fi-
nancial markets, the performance of the ProCredit 
group has been remarkably stable: we ended 
2010 with a good liquidity position, comfortable 
capital adequacy, PAR over 30 days of 3.7%, and 
a modest profit. Given the very difficult mac-
roeconomic situation in many of our countries of 
operation, this was a strong performance.

Our shareholders have always taken a conserva-
tive, long-term view of business development, 
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aiming to strike the right balance between a 
shared developmental goal – reaching as many 
small enterprises and small savers as possible – 
and achieving commercial success.

Strong shareholders provide a solid foundation 
for the ProCredit group. It is led by ProCredit 
Holding AG, a German-based company that was 
founded by IPC in 1998. ProCredit Holding is a 
public-private partnership. The private share-
holders include: IPC and IPC Invest, an invest-
ment vehicle set up by IPC and ProCredit staff 
members; the Dutch DOEN Foundation; the US 
pension fund TIAA-CREF; the US Omidyar-Tufts 
Microfinance Fund; and the Swiss investment 
fund responsAbility. The public shareholders 
include the German KfW Bankengruppe (KfW 
banking group); IFC, the private sector arm of the 
World Bank; the Dutch development bank FMO; 
the Belgian Investment Company for Developing 
Countries (BIO) and Proparco, the French Invest-
ment and Promotions Company for Economic 
Co-operation. The group also receives strong 
support from the EBRD and Commerzbank, our 
minority shareholders in Eastern Europe, and 
from the Inter-American Development Bank (IDB) 
in Latin America. With the strong support of its 
shareholders and other partners, the ProCredit 
group ended the year with a total capital adequa-

cy ratio of 16.5% – a figure that reflects their con-
fidence in the group.

ProCredit Holding is not only a source of equity 
for its subsidiaries, but also a guide for the de-
velopment of the ProCredit banks, providing the 
personnel for their senior management and of-
fering support in all key areas of activity. The 
holding company ensures the implementation of 
ProCredit corporate values, best practice bank-
ing operations and Basel II risk management 
principles across the group. The group’s busi-
ness is run in accordance with the rigorous regu-
latory standards imposed by the German banking 
supervisory authority (BaFin).

ProCredit Holding and the ProCredit group place 
a strong emphasis on human resource manage-
ment. Our “neighbourhood bank” concept is not 
limited to our target customers and how we reach 
them; it also concerns the way in which we work 
with our staff and how we encourage them to work 
with their customers. The strength of our rela-
tionships with our customers will continue to be 
central to working with them effectively in 2010 
and achieving steady business results. In 2010 
there was a strong focus on staff quality and ef-
ficiency, which resulted in a 20% reduction in the 
number of staff over the year. This focus has been 
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supported by the introduction of a new group-
wide recruitment policy and a demanding training 
programme for all staff. This is complemented by 
a six month stipend or intern programme provided 
by ProCredit banks for new entrants into the bank-
ing sector which symbolises our commitment to 
skill development in all our countries of operation.

A responsible approach to neighbourhood bank-
ing requires a decentralised decision-making 
process and a high level of judgment and adapt-
ability from all staff members, especially our 
branch managers. Our corporate values embed 
principles such as open communication, trans-
parency and professionalism into our day-to-
day business. Key to our success is therefore 
the recruitment and training of dedicated staff. 
We maintain a corporate culture that promotes 
the professional development of our employees 
while fostering a deep sense of personal and so-
cial responsibility. This entails not only intensive 
training in technical and management skills, but 
also frequent staff exchanges between our mem-
ber institutions. In this way, we take full advan-
tage of the opportunities for staff development 
that are created by the existence of a truly inter-
national group.

A central plank in our approach to training is the 
ProCredit Academy in Germany, which provides a 
part-time “ProCredit Banker” training programme 
over a period of three years for high-potential 
staff from each of the ProCredit institutions. The 
curriculum includes intensive technical training 

and also exposes participants to subjects such 
as anthropology, history, philosophy and ethics 
in an open and multicultural learning environ-
ment. Our goal in covering such varied topics is 
to give our future managers the opportunity to 
develop their knowledge and views of the world. 
At the same time, we aim to improve their commu-
nication and staff management skills. The group 
also operates three Regional Academies in Latin 
America, Africa and Eastern Europe to support 
the professional development of middle manag-
ers at the local level.

The group’s strategy for 2011 focuses on two key 
interrelated themes “high quality customer rela-
tions” and “efficiency”. We will further expand 
our business as the “house bank” of choice for 
small and very small enterprises, offering tai-
lored loans and other banking services. At the 
same time we will continue to improve the speed 
and convenience of our services for all clients.
 
Strong investment in our staff will also remain a 
key priority since it is their skills which enable 
us to build strong, broad-based relationships 
with our clients, which are a particularly impor-
tant factor of success in volatile macroeconomic 
conditions. As a group of responsible banks for 
ordinary people with prudent policies and well-
trained staff to ensure our steady performance, 
we look forward to consolidating our position as a 
“house bank” for small businesses, their employ-
ees, and the ordinary people who live and work in 
the neighbourhoods around our branches.
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ProCredit in Eastern Europe

ProCredit operates in 11 countries across Eastern 
Europe. It is a leading provider of banking serv-
ices to very small, small and medium-sized busi-
nesses in the region. ProCredit banks provide a 
high standard of transparent, professional serv-
ices to all their clients – the ordinary people who 
live and work in the vicinity of the 457 ProCredit 
branches across the region.

2010 proved to be another challenging year for 
the South Eastern and Eastern European coun-
tries in which ProCredit works. Most countries 
in South Eastern Europe experienced no GDP 
growth or GDP decline over the year as they con-
tinued to adjust to the fallout of the financial 
sector crisis. Only Albania and the more east-
ern countries (Armenia, Georgia, Moldova and 
Ukraine) experienced more steady GDP growth 
of 4-5%. The development of banking sectors 
in the region also continued to be depressed as 
non-performing loans (NPLs, i.e. loans more than 
90 days overdue) that were originally disbursed 
in the pre-crisis boom years now work their way 
through the system. In most markets, sector 
NPLs were over 10% at the end of 2010. 

Macroeconomic stability and signs of recovery 
are currently being driven above all by strong 
commodity prices. However, government spend-
ing remained very tight, consumer confidence 
low and activity in the small and medium en-
terprise sector depressed in 2010. Prospects 
for 2011 are somewhat more encouraging and 
ProCredit banks are working closely with their 
enterprise clients to support their ability to re-
spond to gradually emerging opportunities. In-
deed, more widely, the role of ProCredit banks 
against this still vulnerable economic backdrop 
is a valuable one as our clients and the financial 
markets in which we operate adjust to the new 
economic reality in the region. 

For the financial sectors in which we work, 
ProCredit banks have represented consistency, 
good risk management and a high degree of fi-
nancial transparency throughout the past two un-
settled years. ProCredit banks have been notable 
in continuing to lend steadily and responsibly to 
support small businesses whilst banking sectors 
as a whole have tended to be restrictive or erratic. 

For our enterprise clients, ProCredit banks re-
main a reliable and responsible partner. We 
specialise in working with very small, small and 
medium enterprises, because these segments 
are central to developing the economy and em-
ployment opportunities. Our approach is based 
on building strong relationships with our clients 
and a thorough understanding of their business. 

This means we disburse loans which help a busi-
ness to develop and are in line with a company’s 
ability to repay. It also allows us, for example, 
where necessary to appropriately adapt loan re-
payment schedules if the sales pattern of a busi-
ness has changed significantly. This has helped 
some of our clients endure through the crisis and 
has meant that arrears and write-off figures for 
the ProCredit banks in Eastern Europe are rela-
tively low. The combined PAR (Portfolio at Risk 
> 30 days) for the Eastern European institutions 
as a percentage of their loan portfolio was 4.1% 
at the end of 2010 (PAR>90 days stood at 3.0%). 
Write-offs for the group in the region amounted 
to 1.2% of the loan portfolio.  

Asset quality decline amongst the Eastern Eu-
ropean institutions was concentrated in Bosnia, 
Bulgaria, Romania and Ukraine, countries in 
which the pre-crisis boom in consumer lending 
was most extreme and the level of overindebt-
edness in the banking sector as a whole there-
fore most marked. The performance of ProCredit 
banks across the region and in these countries re-
mains very strong when compared to the market 
as a whole. In these terms ProCredit continues to 
demonstrate that with a responsible approach to 
lending, based on a thorough understanding of 
the real situation of an enterprise, a high degree 
of financial stability can be achieved for clients 
and in bank performance.

At the same time our enterprise loan portfolio 
grew over 2010. The outstanding loan portfolio 
of the 11 ProCredit banks in Eastern Europe stood 
at EUR 2.7 billion at the end of 2010 (an increase 
of 6.9% from the end of 2009). In 2010, ProCredit 
staff have been proactive in acquiring new cli-
ents and serving existing clients, especially sup-
porting responsible investment opportunities 
as well as good management of working capital, 
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liquidity and receivables. Our lending activities 
aim in particular to foster local production and 
service industries, and include the provision of 
agricultural loans. We are keen to support a sec-
tor that has been particularly neglected by other 
banks and that is vital for employment and social 
cohesion outside the main urban areas. 

In 2010, in addition to developing their core seg-
ments (very small and small enterprises taking 
loans with a volume of less than EUR 150,000), 
ProCredit banks also grew with clients in the 
“medium enterprise” segment (defined as clients 
taking loans above EUR 150,000) by some 20%, 
illustrating a need from such businesses for capi-
tal which was not being provided by other banks. 
For very small and small businesses in the region, 
ProCredit banks remain the leading bank group 
specialised in meeting their needs. These busi-
nesses are still relatively informal, but are oper-
ating in steadily formalising markets which are 
becoming more competitive. It takes a focused 
bank with well trained staff to work sustainably 
with this segment. In summary, ProCredit banks 
have firmly established themselves as broad-
based enterprise banks able to cover the full 
spectrum of demand.
    

For our private person clients, ProCredit banks 
have also been a symbol of stability and trans-
parency in turbulent years. ProCredit has focused 
for many years on promoting a savings culture be-
cause setting money aside can help clients build 
a buffer against the vagaries of life, and the ratio 
of deposits to GDP in Eastern European countries 
is still well below Western European levels. 

We offer simple and reliable retail banking serv-
ices. Our belief in transparent, direct communica-
tion is particularly important in fostering clients’ 
trust in these difficult times. We understand that 
our clients want to know in simple language how 
to save safely; they also want to access their 
money when they need it and they want access to 
convenient and efficient transaction services. In 
2010, as in 2009, our experience confirmed that 
our clients appreciate the transparent, responsi-
ble approach we take.

ProCredit banks fund most of their lending activi-
ties from local savings. The ratio of deposits to 
loans in the ProCredit banks in the region is close 
to 90%. Not only did we not have to rely on un-
predictable capital markets for funds in 2010, but 
ProCredit banks in the region remained highly 
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liquid throughout the year and our cost of funds 
declined.

Looking forward, in addition to the savings serv-
ices they provide, ProCredit banks will continue 
to be very conservative with consumer loans for 
their private person clients, but will expand their 
provision of convenient banking services, such 
as e-banking and direct debit, and will continue 
to provide responsible housing improvement, en-
ergy efficiency and other loans which help build 
a family’s assets. 

For our staff, ProCredit banks offer unique op-
portunities for professional development and job 
satisfaction given our strong client orientation, 
open communication culture and unusual com-
mitment to staff training. In terms of institution 
building activities, ProCredit banks in Eastern 
Europe were, like the rest of the ProCredit group, 
focused above all on quality and efficiency rath-
er than quantity in 2010. The pre-crisis boom 
years in Eastern Europe encouraged all banks, 
including ProCredit banks, to invest heavily in 
staff numbers and branch infrastructure, which 
needed to be brought back in line with prevail-
ing economic conditions. This has provided the 
context for ProCredit banks to also review staff 
standards and our training efforts as well as bank 

processes and procedures – to ensure our insti-
tutions are ideally aligned with demand and the 
efficient services required by our clients. As a 
result, branch infrastructure has been reviewed, 
staff numbers reduced and greater job speciali-
sation implemented. 

Our staff is the key element in our approach to be-
ing a stable, down-to-earth and personal bank-
ing partner. The ProCredit group invests a lot to 
achieve high standards in staff recruitment and 
development. Staff exchanges, cross-border 
training programmes and regional workshops 
are an important part of our approach. To comple-
ment the international academy in Germany, we 
have an Eastern European Academy, located near 
Skopje in Macedonia, which is dedicated to the 
training of ProCredit middle managers. The re-
gional academy is an important channel for rapid 
and consistent communication region-wide and 
one that helps us adapt quickly to face new chal-
lenges. A language centre at the academy also 
provides residential English courses, maximising 
the potential for international exchange within 
the group. Investment in our staff is an ongoing 
commitment and will remain a central plank in the 
ProCredit Bank approach. A qualified, motivated 
and professional team lies at the root of our last-
ing success across Eastern Europe.
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* The figures in this section have been compiled on the basis of the financial and operational reporting performed in accordance with 
 group-wide standards; they may differ from the figures reported in the bank’s local statements.
** Not including finance company ProCredit Moldova.

Highlights*

Founded in October 1998
40 branches
29,791 loans / EUR 172.1 million in loans
195,053 deposit accounts / EUR 242.0 million
672 employees

Founded in December 2007
9 branches
4,512 loans / EUR 39.0 million in loans
18,116 deposit accounts / EUR 19.4 million
240 employees

Founded in October 1997
26 branches
20,746 loans / EUR 119.2 million in loans
97,249 deposit accounts / EUR 111.7 million
460 employees

Founded in October 2001
75 branches
42,286 loans / EUR 562.5 million in loans
220,971 deposit accounts / EUR 373.5 million
1,268 employees

Founded in May 1999
58 branches
49,060 loans / EUR 250.7 million in loans
436,898 deposit accounts / EUR 202.4 million
1,640 employees

Founded in January 2000
62 branches
93,510 loans / EUR 494.8 million in loans
409,502 deposit accounts / EUR 676.1 million
1,107 employees

Founded in July 2003
30 branches
26,790 loans / EUR 148.5 million in loans
118,067 deposit accounts / EUR 139.2 million
541 employees

Founded in December 2007
23 branches
11,249 loans / EUR 61.4 million in loans
38,802 deposit accounts / EUR 24.7 million
454 employees

Founded in May 2002
37 branches
28,900 loans / EUR 180.8 million in loans
118,147 deposit accounts / EUR 133.5 million
830 employees

Founded in April 2001
57 branches
95,198 loans / EUR 507.2 million in loans
329,216 deposit accounts / EUR 316.2 million
1,299 employees

Founded in January 2001
40 branches
17,089 loans / EUR 190.3 million in loans
125,129 deposit accounts / EUR 130.0 million
1,017 employees

Contact

Legal address: Sami Frashëri St., Tirana
Mailing address: Dritan Hoxha St., Tirana
P.O. Box 2395
Tel./Fax: +355 4 2 389 300 / 22 33 918
info@procreditbank.com.al
www.procreditbank.com.al

105/1 Teryan St., area 11
0009 Yerevan
Tel./Fax: + 374 10 514 860 / 853
info@procreditbank.am
www.procreditbank.am

8 Emerika Bluma
71000 Sarajevo
Tel./Fax: +387 33 250 950 / 971
info@procreditbank.ba
www.procreditbank.ba

26 Todor Aleksandrov Blvd.
1303 Sofia
Tel./Fax: +359 2 813 5100 / 5110
contact@procreditbank.bg
www.procreditbank.bg

154 D. Agmashenebeli Ave.
0112 Tbilisi
Tel./Fax: +995 32 202222 / 202223
info@procreditbank.ge
www.procreditbank.ge

16 “Mother Tereze” Boulevard
10000 Prishtina
Tel./Fax: +381 38 555 777 / 248 777
info@procreditbank-kos.com
www.procreditbank-kos.com

109a Jane Sandanski Blvd.
1000 Skopje
Tel./Fax: +389 2 321 99 00 / 01
info@procreditbank.com.mk
www.procreditbank.com.mk

65 Stefan cel Mare Ave.
office 901, Chisinau
Tel./Fax: +373 22 836555 / 273488
office@procreditbank.md
www.procreditbank.md

62-64 Buzesti St., Sector 1
011017 Bucharest
Tel./Fax: +40 21 201 6000 / 305 5663
headoffice@procreditbank.ro
www.procreditbank.ro

17 Milutina Milankovica
11070 Belgrade
Tel./Fax: +381 11 20 77 906 / 905
info@procreditbank.rs
www.procreditbank.rs

107a Peremohy Ave.
03115 Kyiv
Tel./Fax: +380 44 590 10 17 / 01
info@procreditbank.com.ua
www.procreditbank.com.ua

Name

ProCredit Bank
Albania

ProCredit Bank
Armenia

ProCredit Bank
Bosnia and Herzegovina

ProCredit Bank
Bulgaria

ProCredit Bank 
Georgia

ProCredit Bank
Kosovo

ProCredit Bank
Macedonia

ProCredit Bank
Moldova**

ProCredit Bank
Romania

ProCredit Bank
Serbia

ProCredit Bank
Ukraine
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Our Clients

In the mid-1980s, Oleksiy Tamarya rented a 
building to start his first enterprise after gradu-
ating from university. This became The Main Auto 
Service Station of Moskvich in Dnipropetrovs’k 
and he has since invested in and diversified his 
business over the years. What began as one busi-
ness with four employees has grown into three 
separate family-owned companies employing 
over 150 staff: The Main Auto Service Station of 
Moskvich continues to be a successful enterprise 
to this day, while Sirius produces specialised 
windows and Tamam trades in and works marble. 

The Tamarya family businesses are run by Ole-
ksiy, his wife Natalia and their son Vitaliy, who 
received his university education in the UK. They 
have trusted ProCredit Bank to provide financial 
services to all three businesses for the last seven 
years. They first sought out assistance from Pro-
Credit Bank in 2003 when they applied for their 
first loan in the amount USD 10,000 for working 
capital. Throughout the partnership with Pro-
Credit Bank, the Tamarya family businesses have 
grown substantially and now have a combined 
outstanding loan amount of over USD 600,000.

Sirius develops specialised plastic window com-
ponents. Back in 1999 Oleksiy and his son be-
gan to investigate and advertise an energy-sav-

ing window technology developed by aerospace 
research programmes. Today, the company gen-
erates monthly revenues of roughly USD 75,000 
thanks to sustained hard work and reliable fund-
ing received through ProCredit Bank’s energy ef-
ficiency programme. This market in Ukraine still 
has considerable potential for growth.

Tamam imports marble from Turkey to cut and 
finish in Dnipropetrovs’k, while the construction 
of marble stairways and chimney pieces gener-
ates a monthly turnover of USD 200,000. The 
Main Auto Service Station of Moskvich has sur-
vived tough competition throughout the years by 
identifying and filling market niches, the latest 
one being computerised diagnostics of complex 
electronic systems in luxury vehicles. 

The Tamarya family businesses continue to ex-
pand and currently work with partners from Po-
land, Slovakia, Turkey and China. Investing in 
modern equipment is not the only key to contin-
ued success – as Oleksiy puts it: 

“Our businesses keep growing because of the 
high level of professionalism among our employ-
ees and because of the assistance received from 
our preferred financial partner - ProCredit Bank.”

Oleksiy Ivanovich Tamarya,
Owner of the Tamarya 
Family Businesses
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On a visit to the Netherlands over ten years ago, 
Ivan Hom’yak witnessed the success of agricul-
tural enterprises and modern farming facilities 
and saw potential for development in Ukraine. 
His degree from a technical college in Lviv al-
lowed him to quickly grasp the specialised farm-
ing technologies, which led him to conclude that: 

“It is entirely possible to build up a successful 
agricultural business in Ukraine with solid plan-

ning and the right equipment.”

Ivan Hom’yak then returned home to leverage 
the knowledge of modern agricultural technolo-
gies he had gained, and he has been success-
fully breeding pigs ever since. Ivan began with 
20 pigs, which he kept on his own land, but he 
had little experience running a business and did 
not have all the necessary equipment. Finding 
financing for the equipment proved much more 
challenging than learning the ins and outs of the 
business world: 

“I was told by several banks that agriculture does 
not have high growth potential,”

and accordingly, Ivan could not find a bank to fi-
nance his business. 

Ivan’s first encounter with ProCredit was in 
2005 in Lviv. He was overjoyed to learn from a 

staff member that the bank not only recognises 
Ukraine’s huge potential in the agricultural sec-
tor but has made the development of agricultural 
businesses one of its top priorities.

His first loan application was approved by 
ProCredit Bank for the purchase of a farm where 
Ivan’s grandfather used to work in Soviet times. 
The farm was in need of major renovations, as 
there were no windows and no stables for the 
pigs. With unwavering determination and the re-
liable support of his newfound financial partner, 
Ivan managed to overcome every obstacle in his 
path. He has received seven loans from ProCredit 
Bank in varying amounts and for various pur-
poses over the years. Most recently, he received 
a short-term loan called “For the Season”, which 
is designed to meet the seasonal demands of ag-
ricultural enterprises.

This father of one-year-old twin daughters oper-
ates a farm which now has a modern infrastruc-
ture and buildings. With the support of ProCredit 
Bank, he plans to continue investing in his busi-
ness to ensure that he can provide a secure future 
for his family.

Ivan Hom’yak,
Pig Farmer
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Vasyl Vengerovsky decided to become an entre-
preneur over 20 years ago after serving in the 
merchant marines and on whaling ships in Vladi-
vostok. He started out growing crops and breed-
ing pigs, hens and geese. In 1995 he tried his luck 
in the trade industry and began selling ice cream 
and various other foodstuffs. Vasyl remembers: 

“There was strong competition in trading so I 
decided to diversify my business by producing 

sausages as well. For this purpose, I bought the 
building where we still work to this day in the vil-

lage of Tahtaulove.”

Today, the building complex in Tahtaulove con-
sists of the original building used for the produc-
tion of meat and sausage goods as well as “Vi-
vat Provinciya”, a hotel, restaurant and brewery 
which is a popular site for banquets and social 
gatherings. Vasyl initiated the working relation-
ship with ProCredit Bank in 2004, and in 2008 
he obtained a small loan in the amount of USD 
43,000 to make further improvements to the pro-
duction process by purchasing new equipment. 
Throughout the Poltava region he also owns 11 
small food shops where he sells mostly his own 
products. The equipment in two of his shops 
was financed through a loan of USD 125,000 dis-
bursed by ProCredit Bank in early 2010. 

Vasyl’s family is involved in all aspects of his busi-
ness. His son, Maksym, runs the sausage produc-
tion company and his wife, Galyna, runs the hotel 
and restaurant. His daughter-in-law, Iryna, does 
all the accounting, and a total of 68 employees 
earn their living in these various businesses. Va-
syl Vengerovsky says of ProCredit Bank: 

“I am very satisfied with the service I receive at 
ProCredit Bank. The staff are highly professional 
and really offer me financial advice and products 

that help me achieve my business objectives.”

As the food industry has shown stable growth, 
Vasyl and his family intend to continue investing 
in, and developing the quality of, their products 
and services and hope that ProCredit will remain 
their partner for all their business endeavours. 

Vasyl Vengerovsky,
Entrepreneur

A n n u a l  R e p o r t  2 0104242



Lidiya and Mikhail Sorokiny fell in love as stu-
dents at Zaporizhzhya National University and 
got married two years after graduation. Their 
respective degrees in English translation and 
teaching French led the couple to Kiev in 1998. 
As they knew they wanted to start a family right 
away Mikhail began to explore entrepreneurial 
opportunities in other fields. Seeing a market for 
refined bitumen, a form of petroleum widely used 
in the construction industry, in 2000 he decided 
to start his own company, Neftegroup-Impeks, to 
sell this product. The same year, their daughter 
Sophia was born. 

Luckily for Mikhail and Lidiya, the Ukrainian 
economy grew rapidly from 2002-2007, and the 
demand for refined bitumen increased accord-
ingly. As Mikhail’s business expanded so too did 
his need for sound financial services. In 2006 he 
began to search for a bank that could provide him 
with support in the areas of cash management 
services and international payment transfers. 

“After analysing the banks active on the market, 
we chose ProCredit Bank to be our company’s – 
and our family’s – financial partner. Today we 
use a range of services, including term deposit 

and savings accounts.”

With their business and personal finances under 
the supervision of experienced ProCredit staff, 
the family decided to fulfil a long-term goal to se-
cure their daughter’s financial future. 

“In co-operation with ProCredit Bank, we were 
able to see through one of our most important 

projects – buying an apartment for our 
young daughter,”

says Mikhail. 

The Sorokiny family also actively participates in 
all community events sponsored by their local 
ProCredit branch and appreciates the bank’s kid-
oriented approach to promoting the benefits of 
saving. 

“Even our daughter has her own deposit account! 
Sophia really enjoys all the events. In the last 

contest, she won a prize which made her 
very proud,”

Lidiya remembers. 

Building on their achievements over the past dec-
ade, Mikhail and Lidiya intend to continue seek-
ing the sound support of their ProCredit advisers 
when taking financial decisions. They remain op-
timistic about their future and very satisfied with 
their financial partner.

Lidiya and Mikhail Sorokiny,
Bitumen Company Owner
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Statement of Financial Position     
For the year ended 31 December 2010

The notes set out on pages 50 to 89 form an integral part of these financial statements.
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Income Statement    
For the year ended 31 December 2010

The notes set out on pages 50 to 89 form an integral part of these financial statements.

Statement of Comprehensive Income
For the year ended 31 December 2010

In thousands of US Dollars Note 2010 2009
Loss for the year  (6,054) (7,998)
Exchange differences on translation to foreign currencies  41 (930)
Revaluation reserve of available-for-sale securities 36 85 –
Deferred tax on revaluation reserve of AFS securities  (21) –
Other comprehensive income/(loss) for the year  105 (930)

Total comprehensive loss for the year  (5,949) (8,928)

In thousands of US Dollars Note 2010 2009
Interest income 28 47,304 55,029
Interest expense 28 (21,171) (26,186)
Net interest income  26,133 28,843
   
Allowance for impairment of loans to customers  35 (8,483) (13,766)
Net interest income after allowance for loan impairment   17,650 15,077
   
Fee and commission income 29 7,807 5,789
Fee and commission expense 29 (1,188) (1,144)
Net fee and commission income  6,619 4,645
   
Gains less losses from trading in foreign currencies  1,215 3,180
Foreign exchange translation gains less losses  33 (11)
Trading result  1,248 3,169
   
Other operating income  386 199
Administrative and other operating expenses  30 (32,247) (34,153)
Loss before tax  (6,344) (11,063)
    
Income tax credit 31 290 3,065
Loss for the year  (6,054) (7,998)
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The notes set out on pages 50 to 89 form an integral part of these financial statements.

In thousands of US Dollars Note Share Share  (Deficit) / Currency  Revaluation Other Total  
  capital premium retained translation reserve of AFS reserves equity
    earnings reserve  securities  
Balance at 1 January 2009   19,481 101 7,288 (12,733) – 9,310 23,447
Total comprehensive loss for the year  (942) (4) (7,998) (930) – 946 (8,928)
Capital increase  45 9,889 – – – – – 9,889

Balance at 31 December 2009   28,428 97 (710) (13,663) – 10,256 24,408
Total comprehensive loss for the year  54 1 (6,054) 41 64 (55) (5,949)
Capital increase  45 8,989 – – – – – 8,989
Balance at 31 December 2010   37,471 98 (6,764) (13,622) 64 10,201 27,448

Statement of Changes in Equity
For the year ended 31 December 2010
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The notes set out on pages 50 to 89 form an integral part of these financial statements.

Statement of Cash Flows
For the year ended 31 December 2010

In thousands of US Dollars Note 2010 2009
Cash flows from operating activities   
Interest received   46,594 53,644
Interest paid   (21,452) (28,954)
Fees and commissions received  7,804 5,883
Fees and commissions paid  (1,188) (1,146)
Income received from trading in foreign currencies  1,216 3,180
Other operating income received  167 199
Staff costs paid  (17,868) (16,990)
Administrative and other operating expenses paid  (11,978) (14,390)
Cash flows from operating activities before changes in operating assets and liabilities  3,295 1,426
   
Net changes in operating assets and liabilities   
Mandatory reserve balances  1,571 2,376
Due from other banks  32,181 (37,244)
Loans and advances to customers  14,554 86,994
Other assets  (229) (61)
Due to other banks  – (93)
Customer accounts  25,608 (20,296)
Other liabilities  9 (15)
Net cash from / (used in) in operating activities  76,989 33,087
   
Cash flows from investing activities   
Acquisition of investment securities available-for-sale  (3,033) –
Acquisition of premises and equipment  (1,534) (657)
Proceeds from disposal of premises and equipment  88 –
Acquisition of intangible assets  (84) (326)
Net cash used in investing activities  (4,563) (983)
   
Cash flows from financing activities   
Repayment of debt securities in issue  (4,125) (2,518)
Repayment of other borrowed funds 41 (74,651) (46,618)
Proceeds from subordinated debt 44 – 9,000
Issue of ordinary shares 45 – 9,889
Net cash used in financing activities  (78,776) (30,247)
   
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents  282 (275)
Net changes in cash and cash equivalents  (6,068) 1,582
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year  31,508 29,926
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year 32 25,440 31,508
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A. Basis of Presentation

1. Compliance with International Financial Reporting Standards

ProCredit Bank (“the Bank”) prepares its financial statements ac-
cording to International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”). 
The Bank’s financial statements for the year ended 31 December 
2010 are prepared in accordance with IFRS as issued by the IASB 
and its predecessor body. Additionally, the interpretations issued 
by the International Financial Reporting Interpretations Committee 
(“IFRIC”) and its predecessor body have been applied.
There was no early adoption of any standard which is not yet ef-
fective.

2. Compliance with Local Law

The Bank was incorporated and is domiciled in Ukraine. As of today, 
the Bank is a public joint stock company according to the Ukrain-
ian legislative requirements. The Bank was initially founded as a 
closed joint stock company called Microfinance Bank and was reg-
istered by the National Bank of Ukraine (the “NBU”) on 28 Decem-
ber 2000 registration number 276. On 30 September 2003, by the 
resolution of its shareholders, the Bank changed its name from Mi-
crofinance Bank to ProCredit Bank. This change was implemented 
in recognition of the full-service bank strategy and emphasises 
the fact that the Bank belongs to the network of ProCredit Banks 
in Eastern Europe, Latin America and Africa. In September 2009, 
following the requirements of the new Joint Stock Company Law of 
Ukraine and amendments to the Law on Banks and Banking provid-
ing that banks in Ukraine may only exist in the form of public joint 
stock companies or cooperative banks, the Bank changed its cor-
porate form to a public joint stock company, retaining all rights and 
obligations of the former closed joint stock company without any 
limitation. The Bank’s immediate parent and ultimate controlling 
party is ProCredit Holding AG (2009: ProCredit Holding AG).

Principal activity
The Bank’s principal business activity is rendering a full range of 
commercial banking and corporate finance services with the focus 
being on the provision of financial services to very small, small 
and medium-sized economic entities in Ukraine for the purpose of 
making a profit and supporting the social and economic develop-
ment of Ukraine. The Bank operates under a full banking licence 
issued by the National Bank of Ukraine since 29 January 2001, li-
cence number 195.
The Bank has 40 (2009: 64) branches throughout Ukraine.

Registered address and place of business
The Bank’s registered address and place of business is:
107-A, Peremohy Avenue, 
Kyiv, 03115,
Ukraine

3. Operating Environment of the Bank

Ukraine continues economic reforms and development of its legal, 
tax and regulatory frameworks as required by a market economy. 
The future stability of the Ukrainian economy is largely depend-
ent upon these reforms and developments and the effectiveness 

of economic, financial and monetary measures undertaken by the 
government.
The Ukrainian economy is vulnerable to market downturns and eco-
nomic slowdowns elsewhere in the world. In 2010, the Ukrainian 
Government continued to take measures to support the economy in 
order to overcome the consequences of the global financial crisis. 
As a result of such efforts some indications of recovery can be ob-
served though there continues to be uncertainty regarding further 
economic growth, access to capital and cost of capital.
Also, factors including reduced corporate liquidity and profitability 
and increased corporate and personal insolvencies, have affected 
the Bank’s borrowers’ ability to repay the amounts due to the Bank. 
To the extent that information is available, the Bank has reflected 
revised estimates of expected future cash flows in its impairment 
assessment.
While management believes it is taking appropriate measures to 
support the sustainability of the Bank’s business in the current 
circumstances, unexpected further deterioration in the areas de-
scribed above could negatively affect the Bank’s results and finan-
cial position in a manner not currently determinable.

4. Use of Assumptions and Estimates

The Bank’s financial reporting and its financial result are influenced 
by accounting policies, assumptions, estimates, and management 
judgement, which necessarily have to be made in the course of 
preparation of the financial statements. 
All estimates and assumptions required in conformity with IFRS 
are best estimates undertaken in accordance with the applicable 
standard. Estimates and judgements are evaluated on a continuous 
basis, and are based on past experience and other factors, includ-
ing expectations with regard to future events and are considered 
appropriate under the given circumstances.
Accounting policies and management’s judgements for certain 
items are especially critical for the Bank’s results and financial 
situation due to their materiality in amount. This applies to the fol-
lowing positions:

Allowances for impairment of loans
The Bank regularly reviews its loans and receivables to assess im-
pairment. The Bank uses its judgement to estimate the amount of 
any impairment loss in cases where a borrower is in financial dif-
ficulties and there are few available sources of historical data re-
lating to similar borrowers. The Bank estimates changes in future 
cash flows for an asset based on the observable data indicating 
that there has been an adverse change in the payment discipline 
of borrowers or in local economic conditions that would cause the 
possible default on the assets. Management uses estimates based 
on historical loss experience for assets with credit risk character-
istics and objective evidence of impairment similar to those in the 
group of loans and receivables. The Bank uses its experienced 
judgement to adjust observable data for a group of loans or receiva-
bles to reflect current circumstances.
Further information on the Bank’s accounting policy on loan loss 
provisioning can be found in Note 13 and Note 35.

Tax legislation
Ukrainian tax, currency and customs legislation is subject to vary-
ing interpretations. The fiscal year of the Bank is the calendar year. 
Refer to Note 18.

Deferred tax assets
Deferred tax assets are recognised in respect of tax losses to 
the extent that it is probable that taxable profit will be available 
against which the losses can be utilised. Judgement is required 
to determine the amount of deferred tax assets that can be 

Notes to the Financial Statements
31 December 2010
(in thousands of US dollars unless otherwise indicated)
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recognised, based upon the likely timing and level of future taxable 
profits, together with future tax planning strategies.

Initial recognition of related party transactions
In the normal course of business, the Bank enters into transactions 
with its related parties. IAS 39 requires initial recognition of finan-
cial instruments based on their fair values. Judgement is applied 
in determining if transactions are priced at market or non-market 
interest rates, where there is no active market for such transac-
tions. The basis for judgement is pricing for similar types of trans-
actions with unrelated parties and effective interest rate analysis. 
Particularly, the related parties of the Bank include such entities as 
international financial institutions. Facilities provided by these en-
tities in developing countries are at rates lower than those provided 
by commercial organisations. On the other hand, lending by these 
entities can be considered as a specific market as such rates are 
applied to all entities receiving facilities from international finan-
cial institutions. Based on this no gain on initial recognition of such 
facilities was recognised. Terms and conditions of related party 
balances are disclosed in Note 53.

Going concern
The Bank’s management has made an assessment of the Bank’s 
ability to continue as a going concern and is satisfied that the Bank 
has the resources to continue in business for the foreseeable fu-
ture. Furthermore, the management is not aware of any material un-
certainties that may cast significant doubt upon the Bank’s ability 
to continue as a going concern. 

Presentation currency
These financial statements are presented in thousands of United 
States dollars (“USD thousands”). For computational reasons, the 
figures in the tables may exhibit rounding differences of ± one unit 
(USD, %, etc).
The principal accounting policies applied in the preparation of 
these financial statements are set out below. These policies have 
been consistently applied to all the years presented, unless oth-
erwise stated.

5. Accounting Developments

Standards, amendments and interpretations effective on or after 
1 January 2010
The following amendments to standards or interpretations were al-
ready issued by the IASB in 2009 or before and become effective for 
annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2010: IFRIC 12 “Serv-
ice Concession Arrangements“, IFRIC 16 “Hedges of a Net Invest-
ment in a Foreign Operation”, amendments to IAS 27 “Consolidated 
and separate financial statements” and a revised IFRS 3 “Business 
Combinations”, IFRIC 15 “Agreements for the Construction of Real 
Estate”, amendments to IAS 39 “Recognition and Measurement: 
Eligible Hedged Items”, amendments to IAS 39 and IFRS 7 “Reclas-
sification of Financial Assets – Effective Date and Transition”, re-
vised IFRS 1 “First Time Adoption of IFRS”, IFRIC 17 “Distributions 
of Non-Cash Assets to Owners”, IFRIC 18 “Transfers of Assets from 
Customers”, Amendments to IFRIC 9 and IAS 39 “Embedded Deriva-
tives”. None of the above mentioned amendments or interpreta-
tions has any effect on the Bank’s financial statements.
In April 2009, the IASB published “Improvements to International 
Financial Reporting Standards”. The improvements are partly ap-
plicable starting from July 2009 and partly starting from January 
2010. Most of the improvements deal with matters of detail and are 
not expected to have an impact on the financial statements of the 
Bank.
On 18 June 2009, the amendments to IFRS 2 “Group Cash-settled 
Share-based Payment Transactions” were issued. These are appli-

cable for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2010. The 
amendments will have no impact on the financial statements of the 
Bank.
On 23 July 2010, the IASB issued amendments to IFRS 1 “Additional 
Exemptions for First-time Adopters”. These are applicable for an-
nual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2010. Adoptions of the 
amendments will have no impact on the financial statements of the 
Bank.

Standards and interpretations issued but not yet effective

Amendments to IAS 32 “Financial instruments: Presentation”: Clas-
sification of Rights Issues”
In October 2009, the IASB issued an amendment to IAS 32. Enti-
ties shall apply that amendment for annual periods beginning on or 
after 1 February 2010. Earlier application is permitted. The amend-
ment alters the definition of a financial liability in IAS 32 to clas-
sify rights issues and certain options or warrants as equity instru-
ments. This is applicable if the rights are given pro rata to all of 
the existing owners of the same class of an entity’s non-derivative 
equity instruments, in order to acquire a fixed number of the en-
tity’s own equity instruments for a fixed amount in any currency. 
The Bank expects that this amendment will have no impact on the 
Bank’s financial statements.

Amendments to IFRIC 14 “Prepayment of a Minimum Funding Re-
quirement”
The amendment to IFRIC 14 was issued by IASB in November 2009 
and is effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 
2011 with retrospective application. The amendment provides guid-
ance on assessing the recoverable amount of a net pension asset. 
The amendment permits an entity to treat the prepayment of a mini-
mum funding requirement as an asset. The amendment is expected 
to have no impact on the financial statements of the Bank.

Amendments to IAS 24 “Related Party Disclosures”
The revised version of IAS 24 “Related Party Disclosures” issued by 
the IASB in November 2009 replaces the existing IAS 24 in order to 
simplify the requirements for disclosure of related party transac-
tions. The revised standard is effective starting from 1 January 2011 
and clarified the definition of a related party to simplify the identi-
fication of such relationships and to eliminate inconsistencies in its 
application. The revised standard introduces a partial exemption 
of disclosure requirements for government-related entities. The 
amendment is expected to have no impact on the financial state-
ments of the Bank.

IFRIC 19 “Extinguishing Financial Liabilities with Equity Instru-
ments”
IFRIC Interpretation 19 was issued in November 2009 which is ef-
fective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 July 2010. The 
interpretation clarifies the accounting when the terms of a finan-
cial liability are renegotiated and result in the entity issuing equity 
instruments to a creditor to extinguish all or part of the financial 
liability. IFRIC 19 is not expected to have any material impact on the 
Bank’s financial statements.

IFRS 9 “Financial Instruments”
In November 2009, the IASB issued the first phase of IFRS 9 Fi-
nancial instruments. This Standard will eventually replace IAS 39 
Financial Instrument: Recognition and Measurement. IFRS 9 be-
comes effective for financial years beginning on or after 1 January 
2013. The first phase of IFRS 9 introduces new requirements on 
classification and measurement of financial assets. In particular, 
for subsequent measurement all financial assets are to be classi-
fied at amortised cost or at fair value through profit or loss with the 
irrevocable option for equity instruments not held for trading to be 
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measured at fair value through other comprehensive income. The 
Bank is currently assessing the impact of adopting IFRS 9 and is 
considering the initial application date. However its application is 
only mandatory as of 1 January 2013. Early adoption of the standard 
is not planned. The impact of adoption depends on the assets held 
by the Bank at the date of adoption and it is not practical to quantify 
the effect.

“Improvements to International Financial Reporting Standards”
In May 2010, the IASB published Improvements to IFRS. Most of the 
amendments are effective for annual periods beginning on or after 
1 January 2011. The improvements deal with matters of detail and 
will have no impact on the Bank’s financial statements.

Further standards, amendments or interpretations are approved by 
the IASB/IFRIC (in order of their issuance):
• Amendments to IFRS 7 “Financial Instruments: Disclosures”
• Amendments to IFRS 1 “Severe Hyperinflation and Removal of 
 Fixed Dates for First-Time Adopters”
• Amendments to IAS 12 “Deferred Tax: Recovery of Underlying 

Assets”.

The amendments, revision and interpretation are unlikely to have 
any impact on the Bank’s financial statements. There was no early 
adoption of any standards, amendments and interpretations not 
yet effective.

6. Reclassification

No reclassifications of the financial statement as of 31 December 
2009 and during the reporting year 2010 were made.

B. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

7. Measurement Basis

These financial statements have been prepared under the histori-
cal cost convention, unless IFRS requires recognition at fair value. 
Fair value is defined as the amount at which a transaction could be 
concluded between two knowledgeable, willing parties at arm’s 
length. IFRS define a so-called hierarchy of fair value determina-
tion which reflects the relative reliability of the different ways of 
obtaining a fair value: 

(a)  Active market: Quoted price (Level 1)
Use quoted prices for identical financial instruments in active mar-
kets.

(b)  Valuation technique using observable inputs (Level 2)
Use quoted prices for similar instruments in active markets or quot-
ed prices for identical or similar instruments in inactive markets or 
use valuation models where all significant inputs are observable.

(c)  Valuation technique with significant non-observable inputs 
 (Level 3)
Use valuation models where one or more significant inputs are not 
observable.
Only if the first best way of determining the fair value is not avail-
able may the next best determination method be applied. If pos-
sible, the Bank obtains fair values from quoted market prices; oth-
erwise, the next best available measurement technique is applied.
Financial instruments measured at fair value for accounting pur-
poses on an ongoing basis include all instruments at fair value 
through profit or loss and financial instruments classified as avail-

able-for-sale. Details on the applied measurement techniques for 
the statement of financial position items are part of the accounting 
policies listed below. 
Reporting and valuation are made on the going concern assump-
tion. 

8. Financial Assets

The Bank classifies its financial assets in the following categories: 
financial assets at fair value through profit or loss, loans and re-
ceivables, and available-for-sale financial assets. There is no held-
to-maturity category. Management determines the classification of 
financial assets at initial recognition.

(a) Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
This category has two sub-categories: financial assets held for 
trading (“trading assets”), i.e. the derivatives held, and financial 
assets designated at fair value through profit or loss at inception. 
The Bank does not apply hedge accounting.
Financial assets are designated at fair value through profit or loss 
when they are part of a separate portfolio that is managed and eval-
uated on a fair value basis in accordance with a documented risk 
management or investment strategy. The fair value of this portfolio 
and outstanding assets are reported monthly to key management 
personnel. The fair values reported are usually observable mar-
ket prices; as a guideline, the Bank prefers to invest in securities 
for which market prices in active markets can be observed. Only 
in rare circumstances is the fair value calculated based on current 
observable market data by using a valuation technique. The valua-
tion techniques applied are references to the current fair value of 
other instruments that are substantially the same, and discounted 
cash flow analysis using observable market parameters, e.g. inter-
est rates and foreign exchange rates.
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are initially rec-
ognised at fair value, and transaction costs are expensed in the in-
come statement. Subsequently, they are carried at fair value. Gains 
and losses arising from changes in their fair value are immediately 
recognised in the income statement of the period. Together with in-
terest earned on financial instruments designated as at fair value 
through profit and loss they are shown as “net result from financial 
assets at fair value through profit or loss”.
Purchases and sales of financial assets at fair value through profit 
or loss are recognised on the trade date – the date on which the 
Bank commits to purchase or sell the asset. Financial assets at fair 
value through profit or loss are derecognised when the rights to re-
ceive cash flows from the financial assets have expired or where 
the Bank has transferred substantially all risks and rewards of own-
ership.

(b)  Loans and receivables
Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with 
fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in an active 
market. They arise when the Bank provides money, goods or serv-
ices directly to a debtor with no intention of trading the receivable.
Loans and receivables are initially recognised at fair value plus 
transaction costs; subsequently they are measured at amortised 
cost using the effective interest method. At each statement of fi-
nancial position date and whenever there is evidence of potential 
impairment, the Bank assesses the value of its loans and receiva-
bles. Their carrying amount may be reduced, as a consequence, 
through the use of an allowance account (see Note 13 for the ac-
counting policy for impairment of loans, and Note 35 for details 
on impairment of loans). If the amount of the impairment loss de-
creases, the impairment allowance is reduced accordingly, and the 
amount of the reduction is recognised in the income statement. The 
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upper limit on the reduction of the impairment is equal to the amor-
tised costs which would have been incurred as of the valuation date 
if there had not been any impairment.
Loans are recognised when the principal is advanced to the bor-
rowers. Loans and receivables are derecognised when the rights to 
receive cash flows from the financial assets have expired or where 
the Bank has transferred substantially all risks and rewards of own-
ership.

Loss on initial recognition
When the transaction price differs from the fair value from other 
observable current market transactions in the same instrument or 
based on a valuation technique whose variables include only data 
from observable markets, the Bank immediately recognises the 
difference between the transaction price and fair value (a ‘Day 1’ 
profit or loss) in the income statement. The amount of difference is 
amortised over the life-time of the financial instrument using the 
effective interest method and profit or loss is recognised in the in-
come statement.

(c) Available-for-sale financial investments
Available-for-sale investments are those intended to be held for an 
indefinite amount of time, which may be sold in response to needs 
for liquidity or changes in interest rates, exchange rates or equity 
prices.
At initial recognition, available-for-sale financial investments are 
recorded at fair value plus transaction costs. Subsequently they 
are carried at fair value. The fair values reported are either observ-
able market prices or values calculated with a valuation technique 
based on currently observable market data. For very short-term 
financial investments it is assumed that the fair value is best re-
flected by the transaction price itself. Gains and losses arising from 
changes in fair value of available-for-sale financial investments are 
recognised directly in other comprehensive income, until the finan-
cial investments is derecognised or impaired. At this time, the cu-
mulative gain or loss previously recognised in other comprehensive 
income is reclassified to profit or loss as “gains and losses from 
available-for-sale financial investments”. Interest calculated us-
ing the effective interest rate method and foreign currency gains 
and losses on investments classified as available-for-sale are rec-
ognised in the income statement. Dividends on available-for-sale 
equity instruments are recognised in the income statement when 
the entity’s right to receive the payment is established. 
Purchases and sales of available-for-sale financial investments 
are recorded on their settlement date. The available-for-sale finan-
cial investments are derecognised when the rights to receive cash 
flows from the investments have expired or where the Bank has 
transferred substantially all risks and rewards of ownership. 

9. Foreign Currency Translation

(a) Functional and presentation currency
The Bank’s functional currency is the national currency of Ukraine, 
the Ukrainian hryvnia (“UAH”). Monetary assets and liabilities 
are translated into functional currency at the official exchange 
rate of the NBU at the respective statement of financial position 
dates. Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting from the set-
tlement of such transactions and from the translation at year-end 
exchange rates of monetary assets and liabilities denominated in 
foreign currencies are recognised in the income statement (trading 
result). Translation at year-end rates does not apply to non-mone-
tary items, including equity investments. Effects of exchange rate 
changes on their fair value of equity securities are recorded as part 
of the fair value gain or loss.

The Bank uses the US dollar (“USD”) as the currency in which it 
presents its financial statements. The USD has been selected as 
the presentation currency for convenience and for the benefit of 
the shareholders of the Bank. The USD is the currency in which 
Management of the Bank monitors business risks and exposures, 
and measures the performance of its business and reports to the 
shareholders.

(b) Transactions and balances
Foreign currency transactions are translated into the functional 
currency using the exchange rates prevailing at the dates of the 
transactions.

The results and financial position of the Bank are translated from 
the functional currency (UAH) into the presentation currency (USD) 
as follows:
(i) assets and liability items other than the net profit or loss for 

the period that is included in the balance of deficit/retained 
earnings for each statement of financial position presented are 
translated at the closing rate at the date of that statement of 
financial position; 

(ii) income and expenses for each income statement are translated 
at average monthly exchange rates (unless this average is not 
a reasonable approximation of the cumulative effect of the 
rates prevailing on the transaction dates, in which case income 
and expenses are translated at the dates of the transactions); 
and

(iii) all resulting exchange differences are recognised directly in 
other comprehensive income.

Monetary items denominated in foreign currency are translated 
with the closing rate as of the reporting date. In the case of changes 
in the fair value of monetary assets denominated in foreign curren-
cy classified as available-for-sale, a distinction is made between 
translation differences resulting from changes in amortised cost of 
the security and other changes in the carrying amount of the securi-
ty. Translation differences related to changes in the amortised cost 
are recognised in the income statement, while other changes in the 
carrying amount are recognised in other comprehensive income.
Non-monetary items measured at historical cost denominated in 
foreign currency are translated at the exchange rate as of the date 
of initial recognition. Equity items other than the net profit or loss 
for the period that is included in the balance of retained earnings 
are translated at the closing rate ruling at the date of each state-
ment of financial position presented. All exchange differences 
resulting from translation of statement of financial position items 
and income statement items are recognised in other comprehen-
sive income.

The principal UAH rates of exchange used in the preparation of 
these financial statements are as follows:

Currency 31 Dec 2010 31 Dec 2009
 UAH UAH
1 US dollar (USD) 7.9617 7.985000
1 euro (EUR) 11.573138 11.448893
1 Russian ruble (RUB) 0.261240 0.264020

The annual average UAH rate of exchange to US dollar (USD) equals 
7.935641 UAH for 1 USD (2009: 7.791238 UAH for 1 USD).
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10. Comparatives

In order to comply with the requirements of international account-
ing standards and to meet the objective of providing information 
that is useful in making economic decisions the corresponding 
figures have been adjusted to conform to the presentation of the 
current year amounts.
Following the compatibility and comparability principles and to 
improve the quality of the disclosure of loans and advances to cus-
tomers, the Bank amended the presentation of analysis by credit 
quality of loans outstanding at 31 December 2009 (Note 48).

11. Cash and Cash Equivalents and Mandatory Reserves

For the purposes of the statement of financial position, cash and 
cash equivalents comprise cash on hand, cash balances with the 
National Bank of Ukraine (other than restricted balances – man-
datory reserve deposits), corresponding accounts and overnight 
placements with other Banks and other money market instruments 
that are highly liquid and readily convertible to known amounts of 
cash with insignificant risk of changes in value – deposit certifi-
cates of the National Bank of Ukraine.
For the purposes of the cash flow statement, cash and cash equiva-
lents comprise: cash on hand and non-restricted balances with the 
central bank, deposit certificates of the NBU, correspondent ac-
counts and overnight placements with other banks.

12. Loans and Receivables

The amounts reported under receivables from customers consist 
mainly of loans and advances issued.
In addition to overnight and term deposits, the amounts reported 
under receivables from banks include current account balances.
All loans and receivables due from banks as well as loans and ad-
vances to customers fall under the category “loans and receiva-
bles” and are carried at amortised cost, using the effective interest 
method. Amortised premiums and discounts are accounted for over 
the respective terms in the income statement under net interest 
income. Impairment of loans is recognised through separate allow-
ance accounts (see Note 13).

13. Allowance for Impairment of financial assets

(a) Assets carried at amortised cost – loans and advances

Impairment of loans and advances
The Bank assesses at each statement of financial position date 
whether there is objective evidence that a financial asset or group 
of financial assets is impaired. If there is objective evidence that 
impairment of a credit exposure or a portfolio of credit exposures 
has occurred which influences the future cash flow of the financial 
asset(s), the respective losses are immediately recognised. De-
pending on the size of the credit exposure, such losses are either 
calculated on an individual loan basis or are collectively assessed 
for a portfolio of credit exposures. The carrying amount of the loan 
is reduced through the use of an allowance account and the amount 
of the loss is recognised in the income statement. The Bank does 
not recognise losses from expected future events.

• Individually assessed loans and advances
Credit exposures are considered individually significant if they 
have a certain size. For the Bank all credit exposures over USD 
10 thousand are individually assessed for impairment. For such 
credit exposures, a determination is made as to whether objective 

evidence of impairment exists, i.e. any factors that might influence 
the customer’s ability to fulfil his contractual payment obligations 
towards the Bank:
· delinquencies in contractual payments of interest or principal
· breach of covenants or conditions
· initiation of bankruptcy proceedings
· any specific information on the customer’s business (e.g. re-

flected by cash flow difficulties experienced by the client);
· changes in the customer’s market environment;
· the general economic situation.

Additionally, the aggregate exposure to the client and the realis-
able value of collateral held are taken into account when deciding 
on the allowance for impairment.
If there is objective evidence that an impairment loss has been in-
curred, the amount of the loss is measured as the difference between 
the carrying amount of asset and the present value of its estimated 
future cash flows discounted at the financial asset’s original effec-
tive interest rate (specific impairment). If a loan has a variable inter-
est rate, the discount rate for measuring any impairment loss is the 
current effective interest rate determined under the contract. 
The calculation of the present value of the estimated future cash 
flows of a collateralised financial asset reflects the cash flows that 
may result from foreclosure less costs for obtaining and selling the 
collateral.

• Collectively assessed loans and advances
There are two cases in which credit exposures are collectively as-
sessed for impairment:
· individually insignificant credit exposures that show objective 

evidence of impairment;
· a group of credit exposures which do not show signs of impair-

ment, in order to cover all losses which have already been in-
curred but not detected on an individual credit exposure basis.

For the purposes of the evaluation of impairment of individually 
insignificant credit exposures, the credit exposures are grouped 
on the basis of similar credit risk characteristics, i.e. according to 
the number of days they are in arrears. Arrears of 30 or more days 
are considered to be a sign of impairment. This characteristic is rel-
evant for the estimation of future cash flows for the defined groups 
of such assets, based on historical loss experiences with loans that 
showed similar characteristics.
The collective assessment of impairment for individually insignifi-
cant credit exposures (lump-sum impairment) and for unimpaired 
credit exposures (portfolio-based impairment) belonging to a 
group of financial assets is based on a quantitative analysis of his-
torical default rates for loan portfolios with similar risk characteris-
tics (migration analysis).
Future cash flows in a group of financial assets that are collectively 
evaluated for impairment are estimated on the basis of the contrac-
tual cash flows of the assets in the group and historical loss experi-
ence for assets with credit risk characteristics similar to those in 
the group. Historical loss experience is adjusted on the basis of cur-
rent observable data to reflect the effects of current conditions that 
did not affect the period on which the historical loss experience is 
based and to remove the effects of conditions in the historical pe-
riod that do not exist currently. The methodology and assumptions 
used for estimating future cash flows are reviewed regularly by the 
Bank to reduce any differences between loss estimates and actual 
loss experience.
If the Bank determines that no objective evidence of impairment ex-
ists for an individually assessed financial asset, whether individu-
ally significant or not, it includes the asset in a group of financial 
assets with similar credit risk characteristics and collectively as-
sesses them for impairment (impairment for collectively assessed 
credit exposures).
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Reversal of impairment
If, in a subsequent period, the amount of the impairment loss de-
creases and the decrease can be related objectively to an event 
occurring after the impairment was recognised, the previously 
recognised impairment loss is reversed by adjusting the allowance 
account. The amount of the reversal is recognised in the income 
statement.

Writing off loans and advances
When a loan is uncollectible, it is written off against the related al-
lowance for loan impairment. Such loans are written off after all the 
necessary procedures have been completed and the amount of the 
loss has been determined. Subsequent recoveries of amounts pre-
viously written off decrease the amount of the allowance for loan 
impairment in the income statement.

Restructured credit exposures
Restructured credit exposures which are considered to be individu-
ally significant are provisioned on an individual basis. The amount 
of the loss is measured as the difference between the restructured 
loan’s carrying amount and the present value of its estimated fu-
ture cash flows discounted at the loan’s original effective interest 
rate (specific impairment). Restructured credit exposures which are 
individually insignificant are collectively assessed for impairment.

Assets acquired in exchange for loans (repossessed property) 
Non-financial assets acquired in exchange for loans as part of an 
orderly realisation are reported in “other assets”. The asset ac-
quired is recorded at the lower of its fair value less costs to sell 
and the carrying amount of the loan at the date of exchange. No 
depreciation is charged for assets held for sale. Any subsequent 
write-down of the acquired asset to fair value less costs to sell is 
recognised in the income statement in “other operating income”. 
Any subsequent increase in the fair value less costs to sell, to the 
extent this does not exceed the cumulative write-down, is also rec-
ognised in “other operating income”, together with any realised 
gains or losses on disposal.

(b)  Assets classified as available-for-sale
The Bank assesses at each statement of financial position date 
whether there is objective evidence that a financial asset or group 
of financial assets is impaired. In determining whether an availa-
ble-for-sale financial asset is impaired the following criteria are 
considered:
• deterioration of the ability or willingness of the debtor to serv-

ice the obligation;
• a political situation which may significantly impact the debt-

or’s ability to repay;
• additional events that make it unlikely that the carrying amount 

may be recovered.

The bank primarily invests in government securities with fixed or 
variable interest rates. Impairments on these investments are rec-
ognised when objective evidence exists that the government is un-
able or unwilling to service these obligations. 
In the case of equity investments classified as available-for-sale, a 
significant or prolonged decline in the fair value of the security be-
low its cost is considered in determining whether the assets are im-
paired. If any such evidence exists, the cumulative loss – measured 
as the difference between the acquisition cost and the current fair 
value, less any impairment loss on that financial asset previously 
recognised in profit or loss – is reclassified from “Other compre-
hensive income” to the income statement. 
Impairment losses recognised in the income statement on equity 
instruments are not reversed through the income statement at 
any point thereafter. If, in a subsequent period, the fair value of a 
debt instrument classified as available-for-sale increases and the 

increase can be objectively related to an event occurring after the 
impairment loss was recognised in the income statement, the im-
pairment loss is reversed.

14. Derivative Financial Instruments

Derivatives are initially recognised at the fair value of the consid-
eration given (when acquiring financial assets) or received (when 
undertaking financial liabilities). Subsequently, derivatives are 
measured at fair value. If possible, fair values are obtained from 
quoted markets or from recent market transactions. Otherwise, 
they are appraised via discounted cash flow models or option pric-
ing models, as appropriate (see Note 7). Derivatives with a positive 
fair value are carried as financial assets and reported under “Finan-
cial assets at fair value through profit or loss”. Derivatives with a 
negative fair value are carried as financial liabilities and are report-
ed under “Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss”.
The resulting fair value gain or loss is recognised immediately in 
the income statement. 

15. Intangible Assets

Acquired computer software licences are capitalised on the basis of 
the costs incurred to acquire and bring to use the specific software. 
These costs are amortised on the basis of the expected useful lives. 
Software has a maximum expected useful life of 5 years.

16.  Premises, Leasehold Improvements and Equipment

Premises, leasehold improvements and equipment are stated at 
cost, less accumulated depreciation and provision for impairment, 
where required.
Construction in progress is carried at cost, less provision for im-
pairment where required. Upon completion, assets are transferred 
to premises and leasehold improvements at their carrying amount. 
Construction in progress is not depreciated until the asset is avail-
able for use. 
Costs of minor repairs and maintenance are expensed when in-
curred. Cost of replacing major parts or components of premises and 
equipment items are capitalised and the replaced part is retired.  
At each reporting date, management assesses whether there is any 
indication of impairment of premises and equipment. If any such 
indication exists, management estimates the recoverable amount, 
which is determined as the higher of an asset’s fair value less costs 
to sell and its value in use. The carrying amount is reduced to the 
recoverable amount and the impairment loss is recognised in the in-
come statement. An impairment loss recognised for an asset in prior 
years is reversed if there has been a change in the estimates used 
to determine the asset’s value in use or fair value less costs to sell.
Gains and losses on disposals determined by comparing proceeds 
with carrying amount are recognised in the income statement. 
Depreciation of premises, leasehold improvements and equipment 
is calculated using the straight-line method to allocate their cost to 
their residual values over their estimated useful lives on the follow-
ing basis (in years): 

Premises  20;
Computers and equipment  3–5;
Furniture and fittings              5–7; and
Leasehold 
improvements  over the term of the underlying lease.

The residual value of an asset is the estimated amount that the 
Bank would currently obtain from disposal of the asset less the 

F i n a n c i a l  S tat e m e n t s 55



estimated costs of disposal, if the asset were already of the age and 
in the condition expected at the end of its useful life. The assets’ 
residual values and useful lives are reviewed, and adjusted if ap-
propriate, at each statement of financial position date.
The Bank does not hold investment property.

17. Leases

Finance leases – the Bank as lessor
When assets are held subject to a finance lease, the present value 
of the minimum lease payments is recognised as a receivable from 
customers under “loans and advances to customers”. Payments 
received under leases are divided into an amortisation component 
which is not recognised in the income statement and an income 
component. The income component is recognised under “interest 
income”. Premiums received are recognised over the term of the 
lease using the effective interest rate method under “interest in-
come”.

Operating lease – the Bank as lessee
Leases of assets under which the risks and rewards of ownership 
are effectively retained by the lessor are classified as operating 
leases. Lease payments under an operating lease are recognised in 
the income statement under administrative expenses on a straight-
line basis over the lease.

18. Income Tax

Income taxes have been provided for in the financial statements 
in accordance with Ukrainian legislation enacted or substantively 
enacted by the statement of financial position date. The income tax 
charge comprises current tax and deferred tax and is recognised 
in the income statement except if it is recognised directly in other 
comprehensive income because it relates to transactions that are 
also recognised, in the same or a different period, directly in other 
comprehensive income. 

Current tax
Current tax is the amount expected to be paid to or recovered from 
the taxation authorities in respect of taxable profits or losses for 
the current and prior periods. Taxes, other than on income, are re-
corded within administrative and other operating expenses.

Deffered tax
Deferred income tax is provided using liability method for tax loss 
carry forwards and temporary differences arising between the tax 
bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts for finan-
cial reporting purposes. In accordance with the initial recognition 
exemption, deferred taxes are not recorded for temporary differ-
ences on initial recognition of an asset or a liability in a transaction 
other than a business combination if the transaction, when initially 
recorded, affects neither accounting nor taxable profit. Deferred 
tax liabilities are not recorded for temporary differences on initial 
recognition of goodwill and subsequently for goodwill which is not 
deductible for tax purposes.  Deferred tax balances are measured 
at tax rates enacted or substantively enacted at the statement of 
financial position date which are expected to apply to the period 
when the temporary differences will reverse or the tax loss carry 
forwards will be utilised. Deferred tax assets for deductible tempo-
rary differences and tax loss carry forwards are recorded only to the 
extent that it is probable that future taxable profit will be available 
against which the deductions can be utilised.

Uncertain tax positions
The Bank’s uncertain tax positions are reassessed by Management 
at every statement of financial position date. Liabilities are record-
ed for income tax positions that are determined by Management 
as more likely than not to result in additional taxes being levied if 
the positions were to be challenged by the tax authorities. The as-
sessment is based on the interpretation of tax laws that have been 
enacted or substantively enacted by the statement of financial po-
sition date and any known Court or other rulings on such issues. 
Liabilities for penalties, interest and taxes other than on income are 
recognised based on Management’s best estimate of the expendi-
ture required to settle the obligations at the statement of financial 
position date. 

19. Borrowings

The borrowings which include liabilities to banks and customers, 
debt securities in issue, other borrowed funds from international 
financial institutions and subordinated debt are recognised ini-
tially at fair value net of transaction costs incurred. Borrowings are 
subsequently stated at amortised cost; any difference between 
proceeds net of transaction costs and the redemption value is rec-
ognised in the income statement over the period of the borrowings 
using the effective interest rate method.
If the Bank purchases its own debt securities in issue, they are re-
moved from the statement of financial position and the difference 
between the carrying amount of the liability and the consideration 
paid is included in gains arising from early retirement of debt.
Subordinated debt consists mainly of liabilities to shareholders 
and other international financial institutions which in the event of 
insolvency or liquidation are not repaid until all non-subordinated 
creditors have been satisfied. 
All financial liabilities are derecognised when they are extin-
guished – that is, when the obligation is discharged, cancelled or 
expires.

20. Provisions for Liabilities and Charges

Provisions for liabilities and charges are non-financial liabilities of 
uncertain timing or amount. They are accrued when the Bank has a 
present legal or constructive obligation as a result of past events, 
it is probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic 
benefits will be required to settle the obligation, and a reliable es-
timate of the amount of the obligation can be made.

21. Financial Guarantee Contracts

Financial guarantee contracts are contracts that require the issu-
er to make specified payments to reimburse the holder for a loss 
which he incurs because a specified debtor fails to make payments 
when due, in accordance with the terms of a debt instrument. Such 
financial guarantees are given to banks, financial institutions and 
other bodies on behalf of customers to secure loans, overdrafts and 
other banking facilities.
Financial guarantees are initially recognised in the financial state-
ments at fair value on the date the guarantee was given. Subse-
quent to initial recognition, the Bank’s liabilities under such guar-
antees are measured at the higher of the initial measurement, less 
amortisation calculated to recognise in the income statement the 
fee income earned on a straight-line basis over the life of the guar-
antee and the best estimate of the expenditure required to settle 

A n n u a l  R e p o r t  2 01056



any financial obligation arising at the statement of financial posi-
tion date. These estimates are determined based on experience of 
similar transactions and history of past losses, supplemented by 
the judgement of management. 

22. Share Capital

Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of new shares 
are shown in equity as a deduction, net of tax, from the proceeds.
Dividends on ordinary shares are recognised in equity in the period 
in which they are approved by the Bank’s shareholders.

23. Interest Income and Expense

Interest income and expenses for all interest-bearing financial 
instruments, except for those classified as at fair value through 
profit or loss, are recognised within “interest income” and “inter-
est expense” in the income statement using the effective interest 
rate method. 
Interest income and expense are recognised in the income state-
ment in the period in which they arise.
Payments received in respect of written-off loans are not recog-
nised in net interest income and reduce the allowance for impair-
ment of loans and advances accordingly.   

24. Fee and Commission Income and Expenses

Fee and commission income and expenses are recognised on an ac-
crual basis when the service has been provided.
Loan commitment fees for loans that are likely to be drawn down 
are deferred (together with related direct costs) and recognised as 
an adjustment to the effective interest rate of the loan.

25. Dividend Income

Dividends are recognised in the income statement when the en-
tity’s right to receive payment is established.
The statutory accounting reports of the Bank are the basis for profit 
distribution and other appropriations. Retained earnings are de-
fined by Ukrainian legislation as the basis for distribution.

26. Amendments of the Financial Statements after Issue

 Any changes to these financial statements require approval of the 
Bank’s management who authorised these financial statements for 
issue.

27. Staff Costs and Related Contributions

Wages, salaries, contributions to Ukraine’s state pension and so-
cial insurance funds, annual leave and sick leave, and non-mone-
tary benefits are accrued in the year in which the associated serv-
ices are rendered by the employees of the Bank.

 C. Notes to the Income Statement 

28. Interest Income and Expense

  2010 2009
Interest income  
Loans and advances to customers 46,572 54,412
Due from other banks 330 331
Deposit certificates 
of the National Bank of Ukraine 306 286
Investment securities 
available-for-sale 96 – 
Total interest income 47,304 55,029
  
Interest expense  
Customer accounts (12,436) (13,074)
Other borrowed funds (6,306) (10,289)
Subordinated debt (1,696) (1,501)
Debt securities in issue (551) (1,086)
Loss on initial loan recognition (178) –
Due to other banks (4) (236)
Total interest expense (21,171) (26,186)
  
Net interest income 26,133 28,843

Interest income and expense arising from transactions with related 
parties are disclosed in Note 53.

29. Fee and Commission Income and Expense

  2010 2009
Fee and commission income  
Settlement and cash transactions 3,711 2,978
Plastic cards 2,511 1,743
Foreign exchange operations 1,270 882
Other 315 186
Total fee and commission income 7,807 5,789
  
Fee and commission expense  
Settlement and cash transactions (400) (582)
Plastic cards (788) (562)
Total fee and commission expense (1,188) (1,144)
  
Net fee and commission income (6,619) 4,645

Fee and commission expense arising from transactions with related 
parties are disclosed in Note 53.
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30. Administrative and Other Operating Expenses

 Note 2010 2009
Staff costs  (17,612) (17,057)
Operating lease expense 
for premises  (3,280) (4,973)
Management fee  (1,860) (1,268)
Office expenses  (745) (1,035)
Mail and telecommunications  (1,030) (1,068)
Repair and maintenance  (1,285) (1,747)
Security services  (248) (283)
Amortisation of computer 
software licences 38 (306) (322)
Depreciation of premises, 
leasehold improvements 
and equipment 37 (2,031) (2,760)
Impairment of fixed assets 37 (241) –
Business travel, training expenses  (1,102) (1,109)
Advertising, marketing and 
representation services  (896) (766)
Taxes other than on income  (779) (850)
Professional services  (611) (682)
Other  (221) (233)
Total administrative and 
other operating expenses  (32,247) (34,153)

Included in staff costs are statutory social security and pension 
contributions of USD 4,457 thousand (2009: USD 4,241 thousand). 
Information on administrative and other expenses from transac-
tions with related parties is disclosed in Note 53.

31. Income Taxes

Income tax expense comprises the following:

  2010 2009
Current tax charge – 10
Deferred tax credit (290) (3,075)
Income tax credit for the year (290) (3,065)

The income tax rate applicable to the Bank’s income is 25% (2009: 
25%). Reconciliation between the expected and the actual taxation 
charge is provided below.

  2010 2009
 Loss before tax (6,344) (11,063)
 Theoretical tax credit 
 at the statutory rate 
 (2010: 25%; 2009: 25%) (1,586) (2,766)
  
 Tax effect of items which 
 are not deductible or assessable 
 for taxation purposes:  
 Non-deductible expenses 272 257
 Reassessment of 
 temporary difference – (556)
 Effect of tax rate change 1,024 –
    
 Income tax credit for the year (290) (3,065)

On 2 December 2010, the Ukrainian Parliament adopted the new 
Tax Code of Ukraine, which became effective on 1 January 2011, 
while corporate income tax provisions take effect from 1 April 2011. 
In accordance with the new Tax Code, the tax rate will be 23% in 
2-4 Quarters 2011 and will gradually decrease further to 21% and 
19% in 2012 and 2013 respectively. From 2014 onwards, the tax rate 
should be 16%. At the same time the new Tax Code changed the 
rules for calculation of corporate income tax.
Differences between IFRS and Ukrainian statutory taxation regu-
lations give rise to temporary differences between the carrying 
amount of assets and liabilities for financial reporting purposes 
and their tax bases. The tax effect of the movements in these tem-
porary differences is detailed below and is recorded at the antici-
pated rates mentioned above (2009: 25%).

 31 December Translation to Income Comprehensive 31 December 
 2009 presentation statement Income  2010
  currency  
Tax effect of deductible/(taxable) 
temporary differences     
Loan impairment provision 1,986 4 (611) – 1,379
Accrued interest income (474) (1) 369 – (106)
Origination fees on loans to customers 388 1 9 – 398
Premises, leasehold improvements and equipment 319 1 750 – 1,070
Other accrued income and other assets 9 – 10 – 19
Accrued interest expense 45 – (45) – –
Origination fees on other borrowed funds  84 – (84) – –
Unamortised premium and origination 
fees on securities issued (2) – 2 – –
Other accrued expenses 292 1 (60) – 233
Unamortised premium on subordinated debt 52 – (52) – –
Revaluation reserve of AFS securities – – – (21) (21)
Tax loss carried forward 2,358 5 2 – 2,365
Net deferred tax asset 5,057 11 290 (21) 5,337
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D. Notes to the Statement of Financial Position 

32.  Cash and Cash Equivalents and Mandatory Reserves

 2010 2009
Cash on hand  9,764 10,192
Cash balances with the 
National Bank of Ukraine (other
than mandatory reserve deposit) 3,686 526
Mandatory reserve with NBU  – 2,547
Correspondent accounts and 
overnight placements 
with other banks  
     Ukraine 399 569
     Other countries 11,591 19,470
Deposit certificates of 
the National Bank of Ukraine – 751
Total cash and cash equivalents 
and mandatory reserves 25,440 34,055

As at 31 December 2010, the mandatory reserve balance is calcu-
lated on the basis of a simple average over a monthly period (2009: 
monthly period) and should be maintained at the level of 0 to 7 per 
cent (31 December 2009: 0 to 7 per cent) of certain obligations of 
the Bank. As such, the balance can vary from day-to-day. The man-
datory reserve balance that the Bank has to keep with the NBU as 
at 31 December 2010 was USD 5,846 thousand (2009: USD 5,267 
thousand).
As at 31 December 2010, in accordance with the National Bank of 
Ukraine (“NBU”) regulations the Bank is required to maintain 100% 
of the mandatory reserve balance for the preceding month on the 
restricted account with the National Bank of Ukraine (31 December 
2009: not less than 90% of the mandatory reserve balance for the 
preceding month, following the next order: 50% of the mandatory 
reserve balance for the preceding month on a separate restricted 
account with the NBU and the rest of the amount - on a non-restrict-
ed account with the NBU).

According to the NBU rules effective as of the reporting date, if the 
Bank has in its portfolio T-bills of the Ministry of Finance issued 
with the special purpose of financing “Euro-2012”, it is allowed to 
offset the notional amount of special purpose T-bills as a part of the 
mandatory reserve balance. As at 31 December 2010, the notional 
amount of T-bills of USD 2,512 thousand is offset as a part of the 
mandatory reserve balance (2009: no offsetting). 
The mandatory reserve balance which is fully restricted as of 31 De-
cember 2010 is presented under “Due from Other Banks”, Note 33 
(31 December 2009: part of the amount under “Mandatory reserve 
with NBU” is included in “Cash and Cash Equivalents and Mandato-
ry Reserves” (Note 32) and the restricted amount under “Due from 
Other Banks” (Note 33). 
For the purposes of the statement of cash flows the mandatory re-
serve balance is excluded from cash and cash equivalents. As at 
31 December 2010, the Bank’s cash and cash equivalents for the 
purposes of the statement of cash flows amounted to USD 25,440 
thousand (31 December 2009: USD 31,508 thousand).
The credit quality of cash and cash equivalents and mandatory re-
serves except cash on hand balances as at 31 December 2010 may 
be summarised based on the lowest out of the ratings assigned to 
the counterparties by the international rating agencies (Fitch, IBCA 
and Moody’s) as follows:

 31 December Translation to Income Comprehensive 31 December 
 2008 presentation statement Income  2009
  currency  
Tax effect of deductible/(taxable) 
temporary differences     
Loan impairment provision 1,215 (75) 846 – 1,986
Accrued interest income (556) 24 58 – (474)
Origination fees on loans to customers 693 (25) (280) – 388
Premises, leasehold improvements and equipment 212 (13) 120 – 319
Other accrued income and other assets – – 9 – 9
Accrued interest expense 76 (3) (28) – 45
Origination fees on other borrowed funds  106 (5) (17) – 84
Unamortised premium and origination 
fees on securities issued (6) – 4 – (2)
Other accrued expenses 412 (17) (103) – 292
Unamortised premium on subordinated debt – – 52 – 52
Revaluation reserve of AFS securities – – – – –
Tax loss carried forward – (56) 2,414 – 2,358
 Net deferred tax asset 2,152 (170) 3,075 – 5,057
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The credit quality of cash and cash equivalents and mandatory 
reserves, excluding cash on hand, balances as at 31 December 
2009 may be summarised based on the lowest out of the ratings 
assigned to the counterparties by the international rating agencies 
(Fitch, IBCA and Moody’s) as follows:

Currency and maturity analyses of cash and cash equivalents and 
mandatory reserves are disclosed in Note 49. Refer to Note 51 for 
the estimated fair value of each class of cash and cash equivalents 
and mandatory reserves.

33.  Due from Other Banks

  2010 2009
 Restricted balances with the 
 National Bank of Ukraine 
 (mandatory reserve deposit) 3,717 2,720
 Short-term placements 
 with other banks 2,513 34,524
 Total due from other banks 6,230 37,244

The mandatory reserve placed in a restricted account with the NBU 
carries an interest rate which is defined at the level of 30% of the 
discount rate set by the NBU (as at 31 December 2010: 2.330%, 
2009: 3.075%). Restricted balances with the NBU comprise a man-
datory reserve balance which should cover certain obligations of 
the Bank (Refer to Note 32), amount of interest accrued on this bal-
ance and the amount of reserves that the Bank has to keep with the 
NBU according to the rules effective as of end of the respective year 
(covering non-resident funds deposited and other).

Cash balances with the NBU, 
including mandatory reserves

Correspondent 
accounts and overnight 

placements with other banks

Deposit certificates
 of National Bank of 

Ukraine
 

Total

Neither past due nor impaired    
National Bank of Ukraine 3,686 – – 3,686
AA- rated – 3,927 – 3,927
A+ rated – 7,100 – 7,100
BBB rated – 550 – 550
B- rated – 399 – 399
Unrated – 14 – 14
Total cash and cash equivalents 
and mandatory reserves, excluding cash on hand 3,686 11,990 – 15,676

Cash balances with the NBU, 
including mandatory reserves

Correspondent 
accounts and overnight 

placements with other banks

Deposit certificates
 of National Bank of 

Ukraine
 

Total

Neither past due nor impaired    
National Bank of Ukraine 3,073 – 751 3,824
AA- rated – 5,793 – 5,793
A+ rated – 13,453 – 13,453
BBB rated – 167 – 167
B- rated – 569 – 569
Unrated – 57 – 57
Total cash and cash equivalents 
and mandatory reserves, excluding cash on hand 3,073 20,039 751 23,863
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Analysis by credit quality of amounts due from other banks out-
standing as at 31 December 2009 is as follows:

Amounts due from other banks as at 31 December 2010 are not se-
cured (31 December 2009: are not secured).  
Refer to Note 51 for the estimated fair value of each class of due 
from other banks.
Geographical, currency and maturity analyses of due from other 
banks are disclosed in Note 49.

 Mandatory reserve  Short-term placements Total
 deposits with other banks 
Neither past due nor impaired   
National Bank of Ukraine 3,717 – 3,717
B- rated – 2,513 2,513
Unrated – – –
Total due from other banks 3.717 2,513 6,230

 Mandatory reserve  Short-term placements Total
 deposits with other banks 
Neither past due nor impaired   
National Bank of Ukraine 2,720 – 2,720
B- rated – 10,010 10,010
Unrated – 24,514 24,514
Total due from other banks 2,720 34,524 37,244

34. Loans and Advances to Customers

The breakdown of loans and advances to customers is presented 
by categories representing the original loan amounts at the origi-
nation date. Loans and advances to customers as at 31 December 
2010 are as follows:

 Gross Allowance Net  Share of Number of Share 
 amount for impairment amount total  outstanding of total  
    portfolio  loans number 
Business loans 224,212 (20,414) 203,798 87.3% 12,936 75.8%
Loan size up to USD 10 thousand 14,582 (965) 13,617 5.8% 6,250 36.7%
Loan size from USD 10 to USD 30 thousand 32,639 (2,407) 30,232 13.0% 3,708 21.7%
Loan size from USD 30 to USD 150 thousand 99,747 (9,566) 90,181 38.6% 2,616 15.3%
Loan size more than USD 150 thousand 77,244 (7,476) 69,768 29.9% 362 2.1%
      
Agricultural loans 20,471 469 20,002 8.6% 501 2.9%
Loan size up to USD 10 thousand 342 (13) 329 0.1% 172 1.0%
Loan size from USD 10 to USD 30 thousand 1,721 (56) 1,665 0.7% 145 0.9%
Loan size from USD 30 to USD 150 thousand 9,141 (212) 8,929 3.8% 159 0.9%
Loan size more than USD 150 thousand 9,267 (188) 9,079 3.9% 25 0.1%
      
Housing improvement loans 2,611 95 2,516 1.1% 2,190 12.8%
Loan size up to USD 10 thousand 2,517 (91) 2,426 1.0% 2,172 12.7%
Loan size from USD 10 to USD 30 thousand 94 (4) 90 0.0% 18 0.1%
      
Finance leases 1,269 118 1,151 0.5% 7 0.0%
Loan size from USD 30 to USD 150 thousand 245 (23) 222 0.1% 3 0.0%
Loan size more than USD 150 thousand 1,024 (95) 929 0.4% 4 0.0%
      
Consumer loans* 2,015 117 1,898 0.8% 826 4.8%
Loan size up to USD 10 thousand 652 (41) 611 0.3% 774 4.5%
Loan size from USD 10 to USD 30 thousand 354 (22) 332 0.1% 27 0.2%
Loan size from USD 30 to USD 150 thousand 1,009 (54) 955 0.4% 25 0.1%
      
Other loans 4,100 127 3,973 1.7% 629 3.7%
Loan size up to USD 10 thousand 516 (20) 496 0.2% 480 2.8%
Loan size from USD 10 to USD 30 thousand 1,115 (38) 1,077 0.5% 98 0.6%
Loan size from USD 30 to USD 150 thousand 2,391 (67) 2,324 1.0% 50 0.3%
Loan size more than USD 150 thousand 78 (2) 76 0.0% 1 0.0%
      
Total 254,678 (21,340) 233,338 100.0% 17,089 100.0%

Analysis by credit quality of amounts due from other banks out-
standing as at 31 December 2010 is as follows:

* Consumer loans also include overdrafts to private individuals.
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Loans and advances to customers as at 31 December, 2009 are as 
follows:

At 31 December 2010, the Bank had 22 borrowers (2009: 18 borrow-
ers) with aggregated loan amounts above USD 1,000 thousand. The 
total aggregate amount of these loans was USD 34,836 thousand 
(2009: USD 28,864 thousand) or 13.7% of the gross loan portfolio 
(2009: 10.7%).

Information about collateral that covers the risk relevant to the loan 
portfolio as at 31 December 2010 is as follows:

 Gross Allowance Net  Share of Number of Share 
 amount for impairment amount total  outstanding of total  
    portfolio  loans number
Business loans  252,273 (13,556) 238,717 93.5% 20,268 79.5%
Loan size up to USD 10 thousand 23,955 (1,526) 22,429 8.8% 12,199 47.8%
Loan size from USD 10 to USD 30 thousand 39,813 (2,901) 36,912 14.5% 4,894 19.2%
Loan size from USD 30 to USD 150 thousand 112,030 (5,763) 106,267 41.6% 2,821 11.1%
Loan size more than USD 150 thousand 76,475 (3,366) 73,109 28.6% 354 1.4%
      
Agricultural loans  6,075 (141) 5,934 2.3% 711 2.8%
Loan size up to USD 10 thousand 713 (29) 684 0.3% 556 2.2%
Loan size from USD 10 to USD 30 thousand 899 (18) 881 0.3% 103 0.4%
Loan size from USD 30 to USD 150 thousand 1,845 (40) 1,805 0.7% 45 0.2%
Loan size more than USD 150 thousand 2,618 (54) 2,564 1.0% 7 0.0%
      
Housing improvement loans  3,110 (155) 2,955 1.2% 3,224 12.6%
Loan size up to USD 10 thousand 2,959 (137) 2,822 1.1% 3,200 12.5%
Loan size from USD 10 to USD 30 thousand 151 (18) 133 0.1% 24 0.1%
      
Finance leases  1,467 (103) 1,364 0.5% 7 0.0%
Loan size from USD 30 to USD 150 thousand 283 (20) 263 0.1% 3 0.0%
Loan size more than USD 150 thousand 1,184 (83) 1,101 0.4% 4 0.0%
      
Consumer loans*  756 (38) 718 0.3% 638 2.5%
Loan size up to USD 10 thousand 730 (38) 692 0.3% 636 2.5%
Loan size from USD 10 to USD 30 thousand 3 – 3 0.0% 1 0.0%
Loan size from USD 30 to USD 150 thousand 23 – 23 0.0% 1 0.0%
      
Other loans  6,446 (892) 5,554 2.2% 662 2.6%
Loan size up to USD 10 thousand 815 (87) 728 0.3% 449 1.8%
Loan size from USD 10 to USD 30 thousand 1,796 (374) 1,422 0.6% 136 0.5%
Loan size from USD 30 to USD 150 thousand 3,749 (424) 3,325 1.3% 76 0.3%
Loan size more than USD 150 thousand 86 (7) 79 0.0% 1 0.0%
      
Total  270,127 (14,885) 255,242 100.0% 25,510 100.0%

*Consumer loans also include overdrafts to private individuals.

Economic sector risk concentrations with the customer loan portfolio are as follows:

   2010  2009
 Amount % Amount %
Trade 145,276 57 160,947 60
Services 34,651 14 45,644 17
Manufacturing 27,363 11 26,178 10
Agriculture and food industry 20,472 8 6,079 2
Transport and communication 16,141 6 18,493 7
Individuals 8,669 3 10,236 4
Other 2,106 1 2,550 1
Total loans and advances to customers (before impairment) 254,678 100 270,127 100
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Information about collateral that covers the risk relevant to the loan 
portfolio as at 31 December 2009 is as follows:

Refer to Note 48 for the estimated fair value of the collateral at 31 
December 2010.
Refer to Note 51 for the estimated fair value of each class of loans 
and advances to customers.
Currency and maturity analyses of loans and advances to custom-
ers are disclosed in Note 49. The information on related party bal-
ances is disclosed in Note 53. 

  Businesss  Agricultural  Housing Finance Consumer Other loans Total
  loans loans  improvement leases loans 
    loans
Unsecured loans 16,830 133 2,454 – 595 353 20,365
Loans collateralized by:       
 residential real estate 51,355 570 89 594 1,106 2,996 56,710
 other real estate 96,948 7,561 – 675 89 199 105,472
 cash deposits 1,190 15 – – 55 1 1,261
 transport 35,672 9,443 67 – 168 551 45,901
 other assets 22,217 2,749 1 – 2 – 24,969
Total loans and advances to
customers (before impairment) 224,212 20,471 2,611 1,269 2,015 4,100 254,678

  Businesss  Agricultural  Housing Finance Consumer Other loans Total
  loans loans  improvement leases loans 
    loans
Unsecured loans 23,205 240 2,832 – 704 550 27,531
Loans collateralized by:       
 residential real estate 58,569 252 173 686 – 4,650 64,330
 other real estate 101,386 2,334 2 781 – 313 104,816
 cash deposits 1,226 – – – 48 – 1,274
 transport 41,858 2,005 100 – 4 930 44,897
 other assets 26,029 1,244 3 – – 3 27,279
Total loans and advances to 
customers (before impairment) 252,273 6,075 3,110 1,467 756 6,446 270,127

35. Allowance for Impairment on Loans and Advances to Custom-
ers

Allowance for impairment on loans and advances to customers as at 
31 December, 2010 are as follows:

 Gross Allowance Net outstanding
 outstanding amount for impairment amount 
Individually significant impaired loans 51,718 (12,834) 38,884
Business 45,436 (12,504) 32,932
Agricultural 520 (41) 479
Housing improvement 18 (2) 16
Finance leases 1,269 (118) 1,151
Consumer 1,153 (84) 1,069
Other 3,322 (85) 3,237

Individually insignificant impaired loans 1,797 (758) 1,039
Business 1,420 (676) 744
Agricultural 9 (5) 4
Housing improvement 47 (32) 15
Consumer 81 (15) 66
Other 240 (30) 210

Collectively assessed loans 201,163 (7,748) 193,415
Business 177,356 (7,234) 170,122
Agricultural 19,942 (423) 19,519
Housing improvement 2,546 (61) 2,485
Consumer 781 (18) 763
Other 538 (12) 526

Total 254,678 (21,340) 233,338
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Allowance for impairment on loans and advances to customers as at 
31 December, 2009 are as follows:

Movements in the allowance for impairment on loans and advances 
to customers during 2010 are as follows:

  Businesss  Agricultural  Housing Finance Consumer Other Total
  loans loans  improvement leases loans loans
    loans
As at 1 January 2010 13,556 141 155 103 38 892 14,885
Allowances for impairment 
during the year 11,244 351 56 15 146 (750) 11,062
Translation to presentation currency (7) – 1 – – 1 (5)
Amounts written off during 
the year as uncollectible (4,379) (23) (117) – (67) (16) (4,602)
Recovery of loans and advances to 
customers previously written 
off as uncollectible 2,344 17 167 – 42 9 2,579
As at 31 December 2010 20,414 469 95 118 117 127 21,340

  Businesss  Agricultural  Housing Finance Consumer Other Total
  loans loans  improvement leases loans loans
    loans
As at 1 January 2009 12,249 223 541 – 107 144 13,264
Allowances for impairment 
during the year 12,963 (63) 337 103 21 805 14,166
Translation to presentation currency        (276)           7                 (9) –  –   (19)    (297)
Amounts written off during
the year as uncollectible (11,380)       (26)  (714) –      (90)     (38)  (12,248)
Recovery of loans and 
advances to customers 
previously written off as uncollectible 368 – 28 – 2 2 400
As at 31 December 2009 13,556 141 155 103 38 892 14,885

 Gross Allowance Net outstanding
 outstanding amount for impairment amount 
Individually significant impaired loans 31,293 (5,862) 25,431
Business 27,236 (5,454) 21,782
Agricultural 289 (9) 280
Housing improvement – – –
Consumer 22 (8) 14
Other 3,746 (391) 3,355

Individually insignificant impaired loans 6,149 (3,933) 2,216
Business 4,119 (3,326) 793
Agricultural 22 (14) 8
Housing improvement 127 (93) 34
Consumer 28 (16) 12
Other 1,853 (484) 1,369

Collectively assessed loans 232,685 (5,090) 227,595
Business 220,918 (4,776) 216,142
Agricultural 5,764 (118) 5,646
Housing improvement 2,983 (62) 2,921
Finance leases 1,467 (103) 1,364
Consumer 706 (14) 692
Other 847 (17) 830

Total 270,127 (14,885) 255,242

Movements in the allowance for impairment on loans and advances 
to customers during 2009 are as follows:
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36.  Financial investments available for sale

   2010 2009
Treasury bills of the 
Ministry of Finance  3 077 –
Investments available-for-sale 127 127
Total financial investments 
available for sale  3 204 127

The movement in financial investments available for sale is as fol-
lows:

   2010 2009
 Gross amount as at 1 January 2010 127 131
 Additions 3 032 –
 Redemption – –
 Interest income accrual 148 –
 Interest income received (126) –
 Amortization of premium (52) –
 Revaluation reserve 85 –
 Effect of translation to 
 presentation currency (10) (4)
  Gross amount as 
 at 31 December 2010 3 204 127

As at 31 December 2010 all financial investments available for sale 
were neither past due nor impaired.
Currency and maturity analyses of financial investments available 
for sale as at 31 December 2010 are disclosed in Note 49.

37. Premises, Leasehold Improvements and Equipment

The changes in property, plant and equipment are as follows:

  Note Land and  Leasehold Assets under Furniture IT and other Total
   buildings improvements construction and fixtures equipment  
Cost at 1 January 2009   8,033 2,494 607 6,065 5,207 22,406
Accumulated depreciation    (829) (1,095) – (3,357) (3,584) (8,865)
Net book value as at 1 January 2009  7,204 1,399 607 2,708 1,623 13,541
       
Additions   – – 333 323 353 1,009
Transfers   226 234 (460) – – –
Disposals   – (292) – (40) (10) (342)
Depreciation and amortisation charge   (410) (478) – (966) (906) (2,760)
Translation to presentation currency  (253) (35) (19) (78) (45) (430)
Net book value as at 31 December 2009  6,767 828 461 1,947 1,015 11,018
             
Cost at 31 December 2009   7,967 1,966 461 5,999 5,191 21,584
Accumulated depreciation    (1,200) (1,138) – (4,052) (4,176) (10,566)
Net book value as at 31 December 2009  6,767 828 461 1,947 1,015 11,018
       
Additions   708 – 1,064 81 53 1,906
Transfers   – – – – – –
Disposals   (37) (185) – (122) (36) (380)
Depreciation and amortisation charge  30 (409) (312) – (743) (567) (2,031)
Impairment  30 – – (241) – – (241)
Translation to presentation currency  19 4 (2) 8 5 34
Net book value as at 31 December 2010  7,048 335 1,282 1,171 470 10,306
       
Cost at 31 December 2010   8,646 1,489 1,282 5,554 4,845 21,816
Accumulated depreciation    (1,598) (1,154) – (4,383) (4,375) (11,510)
Net book value as at 31 December 2010  7,048 335 1,282 1,171 470 10,306

Assets under construction consist mainly of construction and re-
furbishment of branch premises. Upon completion when assets are 
available for use they are transferred to premises.
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38. Intangible Assets 

The changes in the intangible assets are as follows: 

Computer software licences Note 2010 2009
Cost as at 1 January   1,886 1,542
Accumulated amortisation  (963) (549)
Net book value as at 1 January  923 993
     
Additions  89 286
Disposal  (4) –
Amortisation charge  30 (306) (322)
Translation to presentation currency  3 (34)
Net book value as at 31 December  705 923
     
Cost as at 31 December  1,924 1,886
Accumulated amortisation   (1,219) (963)
Net book value as at 31 December  705 923

39. Other Financial and Non-financial Assets

 Note 2010 2009
Other financial assets   
Derivative financial assets 55 1 –
Guarantee deposits  1,634 1,165
Other financial assets  – 316
Total other financial assets  1,635 1,481
     
Other non-financial assets   
Prepayments for tangible 
and intangible assets  102 43
Other prepaid expenses  257 230
Repossessed property  433 264
Other non-financial assets  124 6
Total other non-financial assets  916 543
     
Total other financial and 
non-financial assets  2,551 2,024

During the year 2010, the Bank took possession of buildings and 
equipment with carrying value of USD 290 thousand (2009: USD 
264 thousand) which the Bank is in the process of selling. The car-
rying amount of buildings and equipment that were taken into pos-
session in 2009 and sold during the year 2010 was USD 121 thou-
sand.
The credit quality of other financial assets as at 31 December 2010 
based on the lowest out of the ratings assigned to the counterpar-
ties by the international rating agencies (Fitch, IBCA and Moody’s) 
may be summarised as follows:

  Derivative financial Guarantee Other financial  Total
 assets deposits assets 
Neither past due nor impaired     
A+ rated – 901 – 901
B rated 1 – – 1
B- rated – 733 – 733
Total other financial assets 1 1,634 – 1,635

  Derivative financial Guarantee Other financial  Total
 assets deposits assets 
Neither past due nor impaired     
AAA rated – 720 – 720
BB+ rated – – 6 6
B- rated – 445 – 445
Unrated – – 310 310
Total other financial assets – 1,165 316 1,481

The credit quality of other financial assets as at 31 December 2009 
based on the lowest out of the ratings assigned to the counterpar-
ties by the international rating agencies (Fitch, IBCA and Moody’s) 
may be summarised as follows:

Currency and maturity analyses of other financial assets are dis-
closed in Note 49. Refer to Note 51 for the estimated fair value of 
each class of other financial assets. The information on related 
party balances is disclosed in Note 53.
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40. Customer Accounts

Liabilities to customers consist of deposits due on demand, sav-
ings deposits and term deposits, The following table shows a 
breakdown by customer groups:

   2010 2009
 Current accounts 56,387 37,857
  private individuals 17,436 13,471
  legal entities 38,951 24,386
  
 Savings accounts 41,016 33,031
  private individuals 39,952 31,931
  legal entities 1,064 1,100
  
 Term deposit accounts 76,523 78,862
  private individuals 75,511 76,127
  legal entities 1,012 2,735
  
 Other liabilities to customers 72 396
 
 Total  173,998 150,146

Savings accounts are interest bearing accounts. Customers can 
deposit to and withdraw from such accounts at any time. Interest 
is accrued over daily outstanding balances on such accounts. The 
interest rate can be unilaterally changed by the Bank based on mar-
ket interest rates once a year only. Transactions on these accounts 
are limited to cash depositing and withdrawals, as well as transfers 
to/from accounts of the same holder.
Economic sector concentrations within customer accounts are as 
follows:

  2010  2009
 Amount % Amount %
Individuals 132,899 77 121,529 81
Services 11,061 6 12,170 8
Trade 10,316 6 7,109 4
Activities of membership 
organisations 4,062 2 531 –
Industry and 
other production 3,436 2 2,486 2
Construction 2,816 2 1,017 1
Transport and 
communication 2,309 1 1,168 1
Agriculture and 
food processing 1,899 1 256 –
Other 5,200 3 3,880 3
Total customer accounts 173,998 100 150,146 100

At 31 December 2010, the Bank had 14 customers (2009: 13 cus-
tomers) with balances above USD 500 thousand. The aggregate 
balance of these customers was USD 15,441 thousand (2009: USD 
10,414 thousand) or 9% (2009: 7%) of total customer accounts.
At 31 December 2010, included in customer accounts are deposits 
of USD 2,250 thousand (2009: USD 2,054 thousand) held as col-
lateral for irrevocable commitments under guarantees issued, cov-
ered letters of credit and loans. Refer to Note 52.
Refer to Note 51 for the estimated fair value of each class of custom-
er accounts. Currency and maturity analyses of customer accounts 
are disclosed in Note 49. The information on related party balances 
is disclosed in Note 53.

41. Other Borrowed Funds

Liabilities to international financial institutions are an important 
source of financing for the Bank. Long-term loans from internation-
al financial institutions are reported under this item.  

  
 Balance outstanding
Counterparty Currency Date of contract Maturity date 2010 2009 
ProCredit Holding AG USD 28.09.2005 15.06.2012 5,019 5,020
ProCredit Holding AG USD 07.10.2005 15.12.2010 – 1,434
ProCredit Holding AG USD 20.12.2007 15.12.2010 – 5,019
ProCredit Holding AG USD 17.09.2007 22.09.2010 – 10,237
ProCredit Holding AG USD 17.09.2007 22.09.2010 – 10,176
ProCredit Holding AG UAH 30.11.2010 30.11.2012 2,697 –
ProCredit Holding AG 
(accrued interest on unused amount of credit line) USD 11.05.2009 11.05.2011 – 44
ProCredit Holding AG 
(accrued interest on unused amount of credit line) USD 12.04.2010 30.09.2011 52 –
European Bank for Reconstruction and Development (“EBRD”) USD 20.12.2006 09.12.2011 – 19,940
European Bank for Reconstruction and Development (“EBRD”) USD 24.09.2004 20.03.2011 – 11,105
European Bank for Reconstruction and Development (“EBRD”) USD 22.08.2008 18.08.2011 10,108 10,031
Black Sea Trade and Development Bank (“BSTDB”) USD 23.01.2008 24.01.2011 – 10,116
International Finance Corporation (“IFC”) USD 21.05.2008 15.05.2015 19,973 19,930
Kreditanstalt für Wiederaufbau (“KfW”)  USD 12.12.2007 30.12.2014 17,685 19,866
Kreditanstalt für Wiederaufbau (“KfW”)  USD 12.08.2008 30.12.2015 4,960 4,947
Kreditanstalt für Wiederaufbau (“KfW”)  USD 12.08.2008 30.12.2015 5,952 5,936
Kreditanstalt für Wiederaufbau (“KfW”)  USD 12.08.2008 30.12.2015 4,000 4,001
Kreditanstalt für Wiederaufbau (“KfW”)  USD 17.10.2009 06.10.2014 611 –
Credit Suisse Microfinance Fund USD 18.07.2008 30.07.2011 – 4,093
responsAbility SICAV (Lux) USD 18.07.2008 30.07.2011 – 1,023
Total other borrowed funds    71,057 142,918
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During 2010 the Bank repaid:
• a loan of USD 10,000 thousand to Black Sea Trade and Develop-

ment Bank (“BSTDB”) before the maturity date
• a loan of USD 4,000 thousand to Credit Suisse Microfinance 

Fund prematurely
• a loan of USD 1,000 thousand to responsAbility SICAV (Lux) 

prematurely
• a loan of USD 3,667 thousand and prematurely two loans in the 

amount of USD 27,333 thousand to European Bank for Recon-
struction and Development (“EBRD”) 

• a loan of USD 2,222 thousand partially to Kreditanstalt für 
Wiederaufbau (“KfW”)

• three loans of USD 26,429 thousand to ProCredit Holding AG 
(“PCH”).

Total amount of repayments during the year 2010 was USD 74,651 
thousand (2009: USD 46,618 thousand).

The following table gives a breakdown of liabilities to international 
financial institutions grouped by the type of interest rate under the 
respective loan agreements and by the term over which the relevant 
liabilities are due.

 Due 2010 2009
Liabilities with fixed interest rates   30,064         55,797      
  up to 1 year 52          26,866      
  up to 2 years 7,716                 44      
  up to 3 years –            5,020      
  up to 4 years 18,296                 –  
  more than 4 years 4,000          23,867      
   
Liabilities with variable interest rates   40,993         87,121      
  up to 1 year 10,108 - 
  up to 2 years –          56,308      
  up to 3 years – –
  up to 4 years – – 
  later than 4 years 30,885          30,813      
   
Total   71,057      142,918      

Refer to Note 52 for the information on the fulfilling of the commit-
ments on covenants (if any) according to the respective loan agree-
ments with international financial institutions.
Refer to Note 51 for the estimated fair value of other borrowed 
funds. 
Currency and maturity analyses of other borrowed funds are dis-
closed in Note 49. The information on related party balances is dis-
closed in Note 53.

42. Debt Securities in Issue

As at 31 December 2010, the Bank has no debt securities in issue 
(31 December 2009: total nominal value of USD 4,008 thousand 
and carrying value of USD 4,263 thousand). Bonds denominated in 
Ukrainian hryvnia matured at September 2010 and were repaid in 
full and on time. 

43. Other Financial and Non-financial Liabilities

   2010 2009
 Other financial liabilities   
 Derivative financial instruments –  –
 Amount payable and other accruals 539 547
 Accrual for unused vacation 674 923
  Total other financial liabilities 1,213 1,470
     
 Other non-financial liabilities   
 Provisions for off-balance
 sheet credit risk 16  –
 Other 124 22
  Total other non-financial liabilities 140 22
     
 Total other financial 
 and non-financial liabilities 1,353 1,492

Currency and maturity analyses of other financial liabilities are 
disclosed in Note 49. The information on related party balances is 
disclosed in Note 53.
  
 
44. Subordinated Debt

Subordinated debt represents a long term borrowing agreement, 
which, in the case of the Bank’s default, would be secondary to 
the Bank’s other obligations, including deposits and other debt 
instruments. In accordance with the Law of Ukraine on Banks and 
Banking Activities and NBU regulations, subordinated debt cannot 
be withdrawn from the Bank for at least five years from the date of 
receipt.
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  Number of  Ordinary Preference Total
  outstanding shares registered shares  registered shares 
  in thousands (carrying value) (carrying value)  
 At 1 January 2009 314,604 19,481 – 19,481
 Capital increase  161,497 9,889 – 9,889
 Currency revaluation effect – (942) – (942)
 
 At 31 December 2009 476,101 28,428 – 28,428
 Capital increase  149,611 – 8,989 8,989
 Currency revaluation effect – 84 (30) 54
        
 As at 31 December 2010 625,712 28,512 8,959 37,471

The subordinated debt can be broken down as follows:

Shareholder Number of shares owned % in share capital  Nominal value
Voting shares:   
European Bank for Reconstruction and Development 95,214 20.00% 5,702
ProCredit Holding AG 285,667 60.00% 17,108
Kreditanstalt für Wiederaufbau (KfW) 95,220 20.00% 5,702
Total voting capital 476,101 100.00% 28,512
   
Non-voting preference shares:   
Kreditanstalt für Wiederaufbau (KfW) 149,611 100.00% 8,959
   
Total non-voting capital 149,611 100.00% 8,959
    
Total capital  625,712  37,471

     Balance outstanding
Counterparty Currency Date of contract Maturity date 2010 2009
ProCredit Holding AG USD 23.05.2005 22.05.2015 8,000 8,000
ProCredit Holding AG USD 28.09.2006 3.10.2016 2,801 2,801
ProCredit Holding AG USD 17.12.2008 21.12.2018 3,247 3,247
Kreditanstalt für Wiederaufbau (“KfW”)  USD 25.09.2009 06.10.2014 – 9,206
 Total Subordinated Debt    14,048 23,254

On 7 October 2009, the Bank received subordinated debt from 
Kreditanstalt für Wiederaufbau amounting to USD 9,000 thousand 
with maturity in October 2014. However, upon the respective per-
mission of the National Bank of Ukraine as of 28 May 2010, the sub-
ordinated debt has been repaid prior to its maturity and the funds 
were directed by KfW according to the initial intention to the share 
capital of the Bank by purchasing an additional 149,611 preference 
shares of the new issue during the share capital increase in 2010 
(Note 45).
Refer to Note 51 for the estimated fair value of subordinated debt.
The currency and maturity analyses of subordinated debt are dis-
closed in Note 49. The information on related party balances is dis-
closed in Note 53.

45. Share Capital

At 31 December 2010, all of the Bank’s outstanding shares were au-
thorised, issued and fully paid up.
All shares have a nominal value of UAH 476.79 per share or an 
equivalent of USD 59.88 per share (2009: UAH 476.79 per share or 
equivalent of USD 59.71 per share; 2008: UAH 476.79 per share or 
equivalent of USD 61.92 per share) and are divided into ordinary 
and preference shares. Each ordinary share carries one vote. The 

preference shares carry no voting rights except for the cases explic-
itly provided by Ukrainian laws, but are granted a preferred right to 
receive dividends as well as a priority participation in the distribu-
tion of assets in the event of liquidation.
 
The shareholding structure of the Bank as at 31 December 2010 was 
as follows based on different types of shares:
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E. Risk Management

46.  Management of the overall bank risk profile – capital manage-
ment

Capital management – objectives
At all times the Bank is not allowed to take on more risk than it is 
capable of bearing. This rule is put into operation using specified 
limits for all types of risks and a risk bearing capacity model, which 
stipulates that at all times the predefined economic Tier I + II capi-
tal has to be available to cover potential losses. Therefore, the capi-
tal management of the Bank has the following objectives:

• Ensuring that the Bank is equipped with a sufficient volume 
and quality of capital at all times to cope with (potential) losses 
arising from different risks even under extreme circumstances.

• Full compliance with external capital requirements set by the 
regulator.

• Meeting the internally defined minimum capital adequacy re-
quirements.

• Enabling the Bank to implement its plans for continued growth 
while following its business strategy.

Capital management – processes and procedures
The capital management of the Bank is governed by the Group 
Policy on Capital Management and the Group Policy on Risk Bear-
ing Capacity. To ensure that the above stated objectives are met at 
all times, the Bank uses four indicators. Aside from regulatory and 
Basel II capital ratios, the leverage ratio and risk bearing capacity 
are monitored on a monthly basis by the Bank through the Market 
Risk Management Committee and the ProCredit Group Risk Man-
agement Committee. 

Capital management – compliance with external and internal capi-
tal requirements
External minimum capital requirements are imposed and moni-
tored by the National Bank of Ukraine. Capital adequacy is calcu-
lated and reported to the respective risk committee at the Bank on 
a monthly basis. These reports include rolling forecasts to ensure 
not only current but also future compliance.
Under the current capital requirements set by the National Bank 
of Ukraine banks have to maintain a ratio of regulatory capital to 
risk weighted assets (“statutory capital ratio”) above a prescribed 
minimum level (at 31 December 2010 at the level at least 10 %). 
Regulatory capital is based on the Bank’s reports prepared under 
Ukrainian accounting standards and comprises:

   2010 2009
 Statutory capital ratio (N2)  14.8% 14.2%

Additionally, capital adequacy is monitored by using a uniform 
capital adequacy calculation method across the ProCredit Group in 
accordance with the guidelines of the Basel Committee (Basel II). 
The calculation of the capital adequacy ratio is based on the Bank’s 
IFRS financial statements and as of the statement of financial posi-
tion dates comprises:

   2010 2009
 Tier 1 capital 27,384 24,408
 Tier 2 capital  12,504 12,204
 Total regulatory capital 39,888 36,612
  
 Risk Weighted Assets 283,516 283,630
  
 Tier I capital ratio 9.7% 8.6%
 Total capital ratio 14.1% 12.9%

The ratio of total liabilities to total equity (leverage ratio) of the 
Bank is monitored on a monthly basis so as not to exceed an upper 
limit of 15. The Bank was in compliance with the level set at all times 
and at the end of 2010 it was well below this limit at 10.0 (2009: 
13.0).

Risk bearing capacity
In addition to regulatory capital ratios the Bank assesses its capital 
adequacy by using the concept of risk bearing capacity to reflect 
the specific risk profile of the Bank, i.e. comparing the potential 
losses arising from its operation with the Bank’s capacity to bear 
such losses.
The risk bearing capacity of the Bank is defined as the Bank’s equi-
ty (net of intangibles) plus subordinated debt. The Resources Avail-
able to Cover Risk (RAtCR, the “Risikodeckungsmasse” referred to 
in the MaRisk standards established for German banks) were set 
at 60% of the risk-taking potential. For calculating potential losses 
in the different risk categories the following concepts were used:

• Credit risk (clients):
Based on a regularly updated migration analysis on the loan port-
folio, the historical loss rates and their statistical distribution are 
calculated. The historical loss rates in different arrears categories 
(at a 99.75% confidence level) are applied to current loan portfolio 
to calculate potential loan losses.

• Counterparty risk:
The calculation of potential losses due to counterparty risk is based 
on the probability of default arising from the respective interna-
tional rating of the counterparty or its respective country of opera-
tion (after adjustment).

• Market risks:
Whereas historical currency fluctuations are statistically analysed 
and highest variances (99% confidence level) are applied to cur-
rent currency positions, interest rate risk is calculated by determin-
ing the economic value impact of a standard interest rate shocks 
for EUR/USD (2 percentage points, Basel interest rate shock) and 
higher (historical) shock levels for other currencies.

• Operational risk:
The Basel II Standard approach is used to calculate the respective 
value.

Other risks have been assessed as not sufficiently relevant for the 
Bank or as relevant, but not quantifiable, e.g. liquidity risk. 
As of 31 December 2010, whilst still operating in a difficult eco-
nomic environment, the Bank utilised  RAtCR in compliance with the 
conservative limit of 60% set at the ProCredit Group level.

47. Management of individual risks

In order to further enhance the risk management of the Bank in ac-
cordance with the German MaRisk regulations and Basel II require-
ments, new specifications were introduced in the year 2010 at the 
level of ProCredit Group and accordingly in the Bank. In particular, 
additional processes were introduced for the management of: 
• credit risk
• counterparty risk
• interest rate risk
• foreign currency risk
• liquidity risk
• operational risk and fraud risk
• anti-money laundering activities.
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The Bank places special emphasis on a general understanding of the 
factors driving risk and an ongoing analysis and company-wide dis-
cussion of possible developments/scenarios and their potential ad-
verse impacts. The objectives of risk management include ensuring 
that all material risks are recognised in a timely manner, understood 
completely, and described appropriately. This includes, for example, 
ensuring that no products or services are offered unless they are 
thoroughly understood by all parties and can be handled. 
All limits for individual risks within which the Bank positions its 
own risk strategy are consistent and monitored by ProCredit Group. 
Limit deviations are only allowed for stricter limits (e.g. in cases 
where such limits are stipulated by local law) or if approved by the 
Group Risk Management Committee.

48. Credit Risk

Credit risk is defined as the danger that the party to a credit 
transaction will not be able or will only partially be able to meet 
its contractually agreed obligations towards the Bank. Credit risk 
arises from customer credit exposures (classic credit risk), credit 
exposure from interbank placements and issuer risk. It is further 
divided into credit default risk and credit portfolio risk in order to 
facilitate focused risk management. Credit risk is the single largest 
risk faced by the Bank. 

Credit default risk from customer credit exposures 
Credit default risk from customer credit exposures is defined as the 
risk of losses due to a potential non-fulfilment of the contractual 
payment obligations associated with a customer credit exposure.

The management of credit default risk from customer credit expo-
sures is based on a thorough implementation of the Bank’s lending 
principles:
• intensive analysis of the debt capacity of the Banks’ clients
• careful documentation of the credit risk assessments, assur-

ing that the analysis performed can be understood by knowl-
edgeable third parties

• rigorous avoidance of over indebting the Bank’s clients
• building a personal and long-term relationship with the client 

and maintaining regular contact
• strict monitoring of loan repayment
• practising tight arrears management
• exercising strict collateral collection in the event of default
• investing in well-trained and highly motivated staff
• implementing carefully designed and well-documented proc-

esses
• rigorous application of the “four-eyes principle”

The differentiation between individually significant and insignifi-
cant credit exposures leads to distinct processes in lending for the 
different types of credit exposures – processes that have been 
demonstrated in the past to ensure an effective management of 
credit default risk. The processes are distinguished mainly in terms 
of segregation of duties which is fully implemented for individually 
significant credit exposures that are risk-relevant. The information 
collected from the clients range from audited financial statements 
to self-declarations. The key criteria for credit exposure decision 
are based on the financial situation of the client in particular for 
individually insignificant credit exposures - the liquid funds and 
creditworthiness of the client and the collateral requirements.
As a general rule, the lower the amount of the credit exposure, the 
stronger the documentation provided by the client, the shorter the 
term of the credit exposure, the longer the client’s history with the 
Bank and the higher the turnover of the client with the Bank, the 
lower will be the collateral requirements. 
The decision-making process ensures that all credit decisions on 

individually significant exposures, and all decisions on individually 
insignificant exposures, are taken by a credit committee. As a gen-
eral principle, the Bank considers it very important to ensure that 
its lending business is conducted on the basis of organisational 
guidelines that provide for appropriate rules governing organisa-
tional structures and operating procedures; job descriptions that 
define the respective tasks; a clear allocation of decision-making 
authority; and a clear definition of responsibilities.
Credit exposures in arrears are defined as credit exposures for 
which contractual interest and/or principal payments are overdue. 
The higher quality of the loan portfolio than an average one in a 
banking sector reflects the application of the above lending prin-
ciples and the results of the application of early warning indica-
tors and appropriate monitoring, in particular of the individually 
significant credit exposures. This is a crucial element of the Bank’s 
strategy for managing arrears in the current economic crisis that 
is affecting a large number of its clients. Once arrears occur, the 
Bank rigorously follows up on the non-repayment of the credit 
exposures, and by so doing typically identifies any potential for 
default on a credit exposure. Strict rules are applied (see Note 13) 
regarding credit exposures for which, in the Bank’s view, there is no 
realistic prospect that the credit exposure will be repaid and where 
typically the realisation of collateral has either been completed or 
the outcome of the realisation process is uncertain. The Bank’s re-
covery and collection efforts are performed by specialised employ-
ees, typically with either a lending or legal background.
The effectiveness of this tight credit risk management is reflected 
in the comparably low arrears rate exhibited by the loan portfolio. 
The quality of the loan portfolio is monitored on an ongoing basis. 
The measure for loan portfolio quality is the portfolio at risk (PAR), 
which the Bank defines as all credit exposures outstanding with 
one or more payments of interest and/or principal in delay by more 
than 30 days. This measure was chosen because the vast majority 
of all credit exposures have fixed instalments with monthly pay-
ment of principal and interest. Exceptions are seasonal agricultural 
loans and investment loans, which typically have a grace period of 
up to six months. No collateral is deducted and no other exposure-
reducing measures are applied when determining PAR.
Additionally, the quality of credit operations is assured by the cred-
it controlling department which is responsible for monitoring the 
Bank’s credit operations and compliance with its procedures. This 
unit, made up of experienced lending staff, ensure compliance, 
in form and substance, with the lending policy and procedures 
through on-site checks and system screening.
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The analysis by credit quality of loans outstanding at 31 December 
2010 is as follows:

The analysis by credit quality of loans outstanding at 31 December 
2009 is as follows:

  Businesss  Agricultural  Housing improve- Finance Consumer Other Total
  loans loans  ment loans leases loans loans
Neither past due 
nor impaired loans 170,742 19,883 2,510 – 740 538 194,413

Past due but not impaired loans 6,614 59 36 – 41 – 6,750
1 to 7 days 2,449 58 13 – 1 – 2,521
8 to 30 days 4,165 1 23 – 40 – 4,229

Collectively impaired loans 1,420 9 47 – 81 240 1,797
0 days 530 2 3 – 70 238 843
1 to 7 days 25 – – – 1 – 26
8 to 30 days 19 – – – – – 19
31 to 60 days 224 3 7 – 2 2 238
61 to 90 days 143 1 5 – 6 – 155
91 to 180 days 479 3 32 – 2 – 516
       
Individually impaired loans 45,436 520 18 1,269 1,153 3,322 51,718
0 days 15,948 416 18 1,269 1,033 3,306 21,990
1 to 7 days 602 – – – – – 602
8 to 30 days 373 – – – – 16 389
31 to 60 days 1,704 – – – 18 – 1,722
61 to 90 days 1,142 20 – – – – 1,162
91 to 180 days 7,272 14 – – – – 7,286
> 180 days 18,395 70 – – 102 – 18,567
       
Total 224,212 20,471 2,611 1,269 2,015 4,100 254,678

  Businesss  Agricultural  Housing improve- Finance Consumer Other Total
  loans loans  ment loans leases loans loans
Neither past due 
nor impaired loans 215,007 5,751 2,932 1,467 696 847 226,700
       
Past due but not impaired loans 5,911 13 51 – 10 – 5,985
1 to 7 days 1,959 – 17 – 6 – 1,982
8 to 30 days 3,952 13 34 – 4 – 4,003
       
Collectively impaired loans 4,119 22 127 – 28 1,853 6,149
0 days 186 4 14 – 8 1,817 2,029
1 to 7 days 2 – – – – – 2
8 to 30 days – 1 – – – – 1
31 to 60 days 611 – 13 – 4 9 637
61 to 90 days 490 2 14 – 7 6 519
91 to 180 days 1,334 15 71 – 9 6 1,435
> 180 days 1,496 – 15 – – 15 1,526
       
Individually impaired loans 27,236 289 – – 22 3,746 31,293
0 days 10,766 95 – – 5 3,696 14,562
8 to 30 days 565 194 – – – – 759
31 to 60 days 867 – – – – – 867
61 to 90 days 566 – – – – – 566
91 to 180 days 2,922 – – – – 7 2,929
> 180 days 11,550 – – – 17 43 11,610
       
Total 252,273 6,075 3,110 1,467 756 6,446 270,127
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Restructuring of a credit exposure is generally necessitated by 
economic problems encountered by the client that adversely affect 
the payment capacity, mostly caused by the significantly changed 
macro-economic environment in which the Bank’s clients currently 
operate. Restructuring follows a thorough, careful and individual 
analysis of the client’s changed payment capacity. The decision to 
restructure a credit exposure is always taken by a credit committee 
and aims at full recovery of the credit exposure. If a credit exposure 
is restructured, amendments are made to the parameters of the 
loan. Otherwise, these credit exposures for which the terms have 
been renegotiated would be past due or impaired.
The level of credit exposure defaults to be expected within a given 
year is analysed regularly, based on past experience in this area. 
Incurred losses are fully covered with loan loss provisions. Indi-
vidually significant credit exposures are reviewed for impairment 
on an individual basis (= specific impairment). Impairment for in-
dividually insignificant credit exposures in arrears is calculated on 
a portfolio basis at historical default rates (see Note 13 for further 
explanation); 30 or more days in arrears is considered as objec-

tive evidence of impairment. For all unimpaired credit exposures, 
portfolio-based allowances for impairment are made, again based 
on historical loss experience.
For the purpose of the data comparability in the disclosure of the 
quality of loans and advances to customers, the Bank amended the 
presentation of analysis by credit quality of loans outstanding at 31 
December 2009.
The respective changes on allocation of the loans to a certain qual-
ity group are caused by switching to the more conservative ap-
proach of defining the arrears group during the year 2010, namely: 
applying the contamination principle for all on balance-sheet credit 
exposure of the client (including related parties). Additionally, the 
restructured impaired loans that had arrears less than 30 days as of 
31 December 2009 are being transferred to the group of collectively 
impaired loans.

The following table shows the changes in the disclosure of the 
analysis by credit quality of loans outstanding at 31 December 2009 
through the quality groups as described above:

  2009 as Businesss  Agri- Housing Finance Consumer Other 2009 as 
  previously loans cultural  improve- leases loans loans adjusted
  reported  loans ments loans 
Neither past due 
nor impaired loans 229,187 (641) (5) (14) – (10) (1 817) 226,700
        
Past due but not impaired loans 5,562 422 – – – 1 – 5,985
1 to 7 days 1,951 30 – – – 1 – 1,982
8 to 30 days 3,611 392 – – – – – 4,003
        
Collectively impaired loans 4,085 219 5 14 – 9 1 817 6,149
0 days – 186 4 14 – 8 1 817 2,029
1 to 7 days – 2 – – – – – 2
8 to 30 days – – 1 – – – – 1
31 to 60 days 622 15 – – – – – 637
61 to 90 days 520 (1) – – – – – 519
91 to 180 days 1,418 16 – – – 1 – 1,435
> 180 days 1,525 1 – – – – – 1,526
        
Individually impaired loans 31,293 – – – – – – 31,293
0 days 15,149 (386) (194) – – – (7) 14,562
1 to 7 days 15 (15) – – – – – –
8 to 30 days 398 167 194 – – – – 759
31 to 60 days 867 – – – – – – 867
61 to 90 days 590 (24) – – – – – 566
91 to 180 days 2,914 8 – – – – 7 2,929
> 180 days 11,360 250 – – – – – 11,610
        
Total 270,127 – – – – – – 270,127

The table below presents the customer loan exposures which were 
restructured and otherwise would be past due or impaired as at 31 
December 2010:

  Loan portfolio Restructured financial assets  Restructured loans 
   that would otherwise in % of loan portfolio
   be past due or impaired
Loans to customers      
Business 224,212 32,270 14.39%
Agricultural 20,471 180 0.88%
Housing improvement 2,611 69 2.64%
Finance leases 1,269 – –
Consumer 2,015 9 0.45%
Other 4,100 – –
Total 254,678 32,528 12.77%
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The table below presents the exposures which were restructured 
and otherwise would be past due or impaired as at 31 December 
2009:

  Loan portfolio Restructured financial assets  Restructured loans 
   that would otherwise in % of loan portfolio
   be past due or impaired
Loans to customers      
Business 252,273 7,163 2.84%
Agricultural            6,075                        28       0.46%
Housing improvement            3,110                        45       1.45%
Finance leases 1,467 1,467 100.00%
Consumer               756                        10       1.30%
Other            6,446                          2       0.03%
Total      270,127                 8,715       3.23%

According to group policy, only very small credit exposures and/or 
short-term credit exposures may be issued without being fully col-
lateralised. Credit exposures with a higher risk profile are always 
covered with solid collateral, typically through mortgages. 
The fair value of collateral is taken into consideration and the sig-
nificant amount of collateral gives the Bank confidence in sufficien-
cy of credit risk covering that is taking into account when determin-
ing the allowance for impairment on loans.

The fair value of collateral covering the total loan portfolio at 31 
December 2010 is set out below:

  Businesss  Agricultural  Housing improve- Finance Consumer Other Total
  loans loans  ment loans leases loans loans
Fair value of collateral              
 residential real estate 108,797 1,345 828 688 1,255 4,190 117,103
 other real estate 211,862 19,684 6 782 133 208 232,675
 cash deposits 1,630 28 1 – 265 6 1,930
 transport 80,624 23,206 248 – 179 826 105,083
 other assets 17,231 6,131 – – – – 23,362
Total 420,144 50,394 1,083 1,470 1,832 5,230 480,153

At 31 December 2010, the fair value of collateral covering individu-
ally impaired loans was USD 62,875 thousand and included resi-
dential real estate (USD 20,141 thousand), other real estate (USD 
30,313 thousand), transport (USD 8,757 thousand) and other as-
sets (USD 3,664 thousand).

The fair value of collateral covering the total loan portfolio at 31 
December 2009 is set out below:

  Businesss  Agricultural  Housing improve- Finance Consumer Other Total
  loans loans  ment loans leases loans loans
Fair value of collateral              
 residential real estate 113,311 641 1,556 686 – 5,591 121,785
 other real estate 205,471 5,887 6 781 – 340 212,485
 cash deposits 1,361 – – – 392 – 1,753
 transport 87,247 5,563 252 – 6 1,125 94,193
 other assets 19,875 1,728 – – – – 21,603
Total 427,265 13,819 1,814 1,467 398 7,056 451,819
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At 31 December 2009, the fair value of collateral covering individu-
ally impaired loans was USD 40,748 thousand and included resi-
dential real estate (USD 12,479 thousand), other real estate (USD 
19,174 thousand), cash deposits (USD 64 thousand), transport 
(USD 6,173 thousand) and other assets (USD 2,858 thousand).
The group policy on the treatment of repossessed property re-
quires that all goods obtained due to customers’ defaults be sold 
to third parties in order to avoid any conflict of interest arising from 
the below-market valuation of collateral. In addition, repossessed 
property is sold at the highest possible price, typically via public 
auction, and any remaining balance after the payment of principal, 
interest and penalty is credited to the customer’s account. Most re-
possessed property consists of buildings and a small part is com-
posed of equipment and vehicles.
 
Credit portfolio risk from customer lending
The granularity of the credit exposure portfolio is a highly effective 
credit risk mitigating factor. The core business of the Bank, lend-
ing to very small and small enterprises, necessitated a high degree 
of standardisation in lending processes and ultimately leads to a 
high degree of diversification of these exposures in terms of geo-
graphic distribution and economic sectors. Nevertheless, lending 
to medium-sized enterprises, i.e. larger credit exposures exceed-
ing the threshold of USD 150 thousand constitutes a supplemen-
tary area of the Bank’s business in terms of its overall strategic 
focus. Most of these clients are dynamically growing enterprises 
that have been working with the Bank for many years. Nonetheless, 
the higher complexity of these businesses requires an appropriate 
analysis of the business, the project that is to be financed and any 
connected entities. A strict division of front and back office func-
tions is applied and requirements for both documentation and col-
lateral are typically more stringent. 
The structure of the loan portfolio is regularly reviewed by Credit 
Portfolio Risk Committee in order to identify potential events which 
could have an impact on large areas of the loan portfolio (common 
risk factors) and, if necessary, limit the exposure towards certain 
sectors of the economy.
The Bank follows a guideline that limits concentration risk in its 
loan portfolio by ensuring that large credit exposures (those ex-
ceeding 10% of regulatory capital) require the approval by the 
Group Risk Management Committee. No single large credit expo-
sure may exceed 25% of the Bank’s regulatory capital. 

Individually significant credit exposures are closely monitored by 
the Credit Risk Management Committee and Monitoring and Provi-
sioning Committee. For such credit exposures, the committee as-
sesses whether objective evidence of impairment exists, i.e.:
• more than 30 days in arrears
• delinquencies in contractual payments of interest or principal
• breach of covenants or conditions
• initiation of bankruptcy proceedings
• any specific information on the customer’s business (e.g. re-

flected by cash flow difficulties experienced by the client)
• changes in the customer’s market environment
• the general economic situation

Additionally, the realisable net value of collateral held is taken 
into account when deciding on the allowance for impairment. For 
the calculation of individual impairment, a discounted cash flow 
approach is applied. Refer to Note 35 for the amount of individual 
impairment of credit exposures to customers.
Individually significant credit exposures for which there is no need 
for an individual impairment allowance are covered by portfolio-
based impairment allowances. 
For individually insignificant credit exposures which show objec-
tive evidence of impairment, i.e. which are in arrears for more than 
30 days, apply a lump-sum approach is applied; the impairment is 

determined depending on the number of days in arrears. In addi-
tion, individual credit exposures which are regarded as insignifi-
cant, or groups of individually insignificant credit exposures, may 
be classified as impaired if events, such as political unrest, a sig-
nificant economic downturn, a natural disaster or other external 
events occur in the country. For all unimpaired credit exposures a 
portfolio-based impairment is calculated.

49. Financial risks

Counterparty and issuer risk
The objective of counterparty and issuer risk management is to pre-
vent the Bank from incurring losses caused by the unwillingness 
or inability of a financial counterparty (e.g. a commercial bank) or 
issuer to fulfil its obligations towards the Bank. This type of risk is 
further divided into:
• principal risk: the risk of losing the amount issued due to the 

counterparty’s failure to repay the principal in full on time 
• replacement risk: the risk of loss of an amount equal to the in-

curred cost of replacing an outstanding deal with an equivalent 
one on the market

• settlement risk: the risk of loss due to the failure of a counter-
party to honour its obligation to deliver assets as contractually 
agreed

• issuer risk: the probability of loss resulting from the default 
and insolvency of the issuer of a security

Counterparty and issuer risks evolve especially from the Bank’s 
need to invest excess liquidity, to conclude foreign exchange trans-
actions, or to buy protection on specific risk positions. Excess li-
quidity is placed in the interbank market with short maturities, typ-
ically up to three months. Foreign exchange transactions are also 
concluded with short maturities, typically up to two days.
Furthermore, the Bank also has an exposure towards the central 
bank. This is because of two reasons. The first one is the central 
bank requires banks operating in its territory to hold a mandatory 
reserve in a central bank account, the size of which depends on the 
amount of deposits taken from customers or other funds used to 
fund the bank’s operations (Refer to Note 32). The second one is 
the deposit certificates with short maturities which were more ac-
cessible and reliable on the over liquid market. However, the Bank 
was very rigorous with exposure volume placed in the central bank.
The counterparty and issuer risks are managed according to the 
ProCredit Group Counterparty Risk Management Policy (incl. Issuer 
Risk), which describes the counterparty/issuer selection and the 
limit setting process, as well as by the ProCredit Group Treasury 
Policy, which specifies the set of permissible transactions and 
rules for their processing. As a matter of principle, only large in-
ternational banks of systemic importance and, for local currency 
business, local banks with a good reputation and financial stand-
ing are eligible counterparties. As a general rule, the Bank applies 
limits of up to 10% of its regulatory capital on exposures to bank-
ing groups in non-OECD countries and up to 25% on those in OECD 
countries. Higher limits are subject to approval by the Group Risk 
Management Committee.  
The Bank ensures through its ALCO and Market Risk Management 
Committee that every counterpart is approved, including a limit for 
the maximum exposure, based on a thorough analysis, performed 
by the risk management department in collaboration with the 
treasury department. 
Group policy forbids the Bank to conduct any speculative trading 
activities. However, for the purpose of investing surplus liquidity, 
the Bank is allowed to buy and hold securities (T-bonds provided 
by the government (limit is up to EUR 2.3 million, maximum matu-
rity of 3 years) and Deposit Certificates provided by National Bank 
of Ukraine (limit is up to EUR 15 million, maximum maturity of 3 
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months). The inherent issuer risk is managed by the provisions of 
the Bank’s conservative Treasury Policy, which is compliant with 
the ProCredit Group Treasury Policy. Among other requirements, 
the policy stipulates that the investments should preferably be is-
sued by the central government of the country or by international 
and/or multinational institutions with very high credit ratings (in-
ternational rating of AA- or better). 

The following table provides an overview of the types of counter-
parts and issuers with whom the Bank concludes transactions:

  Note 2010 in % to Regulatory 2009 in % to Regulatory
    Capital  Capital
 Banking groups  14,503 36.3 54,563 149.0
    Ukraine 32,33 2,912 7.3 35,093 95.8
    OECD banks 32 11,027 27.6 19,246 52.6
    Non-OECD banks 32 564 1.4 224 0.6
 Central bank  7,403 18.5 6,544 17.9
    Mandatory reserves 33 3,717 9.3 2,720 7.4
    Other exposures 32 3,686 9.2 3,824 10.5
 Government 36 3,077 7.7 – –
 Total  24,983               62.5  61,107  166.9 

Interbank placements, interbank loans, FX transactions and deriva-
tive transactions are transactions with banks which are subdivided 
into those based in OECD countries and those in non-OECD coun-
tries. The exposure is distributed across two OECD and four non-
OECD banking groups. The Bank has mitigated counterparty risk 

  UAH USD EUR Total
 Central bank 7,046  307  50            7,403 
    Mandatory reserves 3,360  307  50            3,717 
    Other exposures 3,686  – –           3,686 
 Government 3,077  – –           3,077 
 Total 10,123  307  50          10,480 
 

The following table provides an overview of how the Bank’s coun-
terparty and issuer risk is broken down by product.

  2010 in % 2009 in %
 Nostro accounts 11,990  56% 20,039  35%
 Interbank placements 2,513  12% 34,524  60%
 Securities 3,077  14% – –
 Mandatory reserves 3,717  17% 2,720  5%
 Derivatives: 1  – –  –
     Depo swap 1  – –  –
 Total 21,298  100% 57,283  100%
 
 
As the Bank adheres to a conservative approach with counterpar-
ties, maturity of the Bank’s counterparty and issuer risks is quite 
low (no longer than 3 months), and even the longest maturity of the 
central bank’s securities are also 3 months. The longest maturity 
for a product type is 36 months and relates to government securi-
ties, which is limited in amount and freely sold on the market. As a 
result, the Bank considers its counterparty and issuer risk as low.

Currency risk
The assets and liabilities of the Bank are denominated in more 
than one currency. If the assets and liabilities in one currency do 
not match, the Bank has an open currency position (OCP) and is ex-
posed to potentially unfavourable changes in exchange rates. 
Due to the still developing financial market, a history of high infla-
tion of local currency and exchange rate fluctuations a considerable 
part of private savings in Ukraine is held in EUR or USD. Although 

lending in foreign currency was forbidden for some categories of 
customers in 2010, loans in foreign currency are still available at 
(nominally) lower interest rates and with longer maturities. As a re-
sult, foreign currencies play a major role for the Bank.
Currency risk management is guided by the Group Foreign Currency 
Risk Management Policy. This policy was first implemented at the 
Bank in 2009. Its adherence to this policy is constantly monitored 
by a market risk unit at group level, and amendments as well as ex-
ceptions to this policy are decided by the Group Risk Management 
Committee and by the Group ALCO.
The Bank’s treasury department is responsible for continuously 
monitoring the developments of exchange rates and foreign cur-
rency markets. The treasury department also determines the cur-
rency positions of the Bank on a daily basis. As a general princi-
ple, all currency positions should be closed at the end of the day; 
long or short positions for speculative purposes are not permitted. 

in 2010 through the significant reduction of exposures with non-
OECD banking groups.

The distribution of the central bank and government exposures 
across currencies can be seen from following table:
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According to group-wide policy, derivatives may only be used for 
hedging purposes to close positions of the Bank (though they are 
sometimes provided as a service for customers and used for liquid-
ity purposes). Approved FX derivatives are currency forwards (in-
cluding non-deliverable forwards) and currency swaps. The treas-
ury department’s activities are monitored by the Bank’s back office 
and risk management functions.
Developments in the foreign exchange markets and the currency 
positions are regularly reported to the Bank’s ALCO, which is au-
thorised to take strategic decisions with regard to treasury activi-
ties. In cases where exceptions to group policy may be needed or 
violations to group limits may have occurred, the Bank’s risk man-
agement department reports to the Group Risk Management Com-
mittee and proposes appropriate measures. 
For the purpose of currency risk management, the Bank has estab-
lished three levels of control:

The first level states that in general all currency positions shall be 
closed, but that a small short or long position of 0.5% of regulatory 
capital would be considered acceptable.
The next level defines reporting triggers which imply that the 
Group ALCO must be notified in cases where the positions cannot 
be brought back below 3% of the regulatory capital for a single cur-
rency, or 7.5% for the aggregate of all currencies. 
Finally, the third level defines limits, and requires that the Bank 
must be neither short nor long by more than 5% of regulatory capi-
tal for a single currency, and by more than 10% for the aggregate of 
all currencies. Exemptions from these limits are subject to approval 
by the Group Risk Management Committee or by the Group ALCO.

The following table shows the distribution of the Bank’s balance 
sheet items across its material operating foreign currencies, which 
are USD and EUR at 31 December 2010:

    EUR USD Other
      currencies
 Assets   
 Cash and cash equivalents and mandatory reserves   11,126 4,063 645
 Due from other banks    –  –  –
 Loans and advances to customers   12,125 143,207  – 
 Investment securities avaliable-for-sale   96  –  –
 Other financial assets   901 734  –
 Total assets   24,248 148,004 645
   
 Open forward position (assets)   – – –

 Liabilities   
 Customer accounts   24,674 72,220 553
 Other borrowed funds   – 63,621 –
 Other financial liabilities   73 132 11 
 Subordinated debt   – 14,048 –
 Total liabilities   24,747 150,021 564
 
 Open forward position (liabilities)    – 2,000 –
 Net position   (499) (4,017) 81
 Credit commitments   3,536 1,525 – 
 

    EUR USD Other
      currencies
 Assets   
 Cash and cash equivalents and mandatory reserves   19,513 3,707 482
 Due from other banks   – 32,018 –
 Loans and advances to customers   6,928 192,116 –
 Investment securities avaliable-for-sale   96  –
 Other financial assets   748 628 –
 Total assets   27,285 228,469 482
        
 Open forward position (assets)   – – –
   
   Liabilities      
 Customer accounts   27,309 93,904 213
 Other borrowed funds   – 111,721 –
 Other financial liabilities   24 118 10
 Subordinated debt     23,253  
 Total liabilities   27,333 228,996 223
   
  Open forward position (liabilities)   – – –
 Net position   (48) (527) 259
 Credit commitments   2,946 1,820 33
 

The following table shows the distribution of the Bank’s balance sheet items across its material operating foreign currencies, which are USD 
and EUR at 31 December 2009:
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To assess the Bank’s currency risk, a Value at Risk (VaR) analysis is 
performed on a quarterly basis. The holding period is determined 
to be one year and the look-back period is three years. Correlation 
effects are included in the analysis by taking into account the com-
plete portfolio of the equity investments, i.e. the analysis is based 
on daily changes in this portfolio. The results are shown in the fol-
lowing table:

   95%  99% 
    confidence confidence  
Maximum loss (VaR) (2,907) (2,960)
Average loss in case confidence
interval is exceeded (2,942) (2,965)

Overall, in 2010 currency risk was managed by Bank and kept as 
low as possible.

Interest rate risk
Interest rate risk arises from structural differences between the 
maturities of assets and those of liabilities, e.g. if a four-year 
fixed interest rate loan is funded with a six-month term deposit. 
This would expose the Bank to the risk that the funding costs will 
increase before the maturity date of the loan, thus reducing the 
Bank’s margin on the loan. 
Most of the Bank’s outstanding loans have fixed interest rates. 
The average maturity of loans typically exceeds that of customer 
deposits, thus exposing the Bank to interest rate risk as described 
above. Given that financial instruments to mitigate interest rate 
risks (hedges) are only available for hard currencies such as EUR 
and USD, this requires the Bank to closely monitor interest rate 
risks.  The Bank has implemented loans with variable interest rates 
that are tied to 6-months and 1-year term deposits. This measure 
has made it possible to reduce interest rate risk in 2010.
The Bank’s approach to measuring and managing interest rate risk 
is guided by the Group Interest Rate Risk Policy. 
The main indicator for managing interest rate risk measures the po-
tential impact on the economic value of all assets and liabilities. 
The indicator analyses the potential loss that the Bank would incur 
in the event of very unfavourable movements (shocks) of interest 
rates on assets and liabilities. For EUR or USD, a parallel shift of 
the interest rate curve by +/- 200 bps is assumed. For the local cur-
rency, the definition of a shock is derived from historic interest rate 
volatilities over the last five years. The potential economic impact 
on the Bank’s balance sheet must not exceed 10% of its regulatory 
capital per currency. A reporting trigger is set at 5%, providing an 
early warning signal. In order to further analyse the Bank’s sensi-
tivity to interest rate risk, an additional stress scenario is calculat-
ed by increasing the interest shock by 50% in all currencies. 
Also regularly analysed is the potential impact of interest rate 
risk on the Bank’s expected earnings over the next three and six 
months. This measure indicates how the income statement may be 
influenced by interest rate risk under a short-term perspective.
Deviations from the Group Interest Rate Risk Policy and violations 
of interest rate limits are subject to approval by the Group Risk 
Management Committee.
Interest rate risk is regularly discussed by the Bank’s Market Risk 
Management Committee. The indicators are also reported to the 
Group Risk Management Committee.
Beyond monitoring and limiting interest rate risk in the sense of 
re-pricing risk, the Bank also aims to align the maturities of its bal-
ance sheet items which generate interest earnings and interest ex-
penses. This is done by increasingly offering variable interest rate 
loans. 

Liquidity risk
The Bank’s liquidity risk management (“LRM”) system is tailored to 
the specific characteristics of the Bank. On the one hand, the Bank 
was founded as a lending institution and financial intermediary for 
ordinary people. Consequently, its loan portfolio is the largest sin-
gle component on the asset side, and is primarily funded through 
locally mobilised deposits. On the other hand, the loan portfolio 
is characterised by a large number of exposures to small busi-
nesses and is therefore highly diversified. The majority of loans 
are disbursed as instalment term loans, and the default rate is low. 
Therefore cash flows are highly predictable. Since deposits are the 
primary source of financing for loan portfolio growth, the Bank’s 
dependency on capital market instruments is low. All of these fac-
tors justify the use of a relatively simple and straightforward LRM 
system.
Liquidity risk in the narrowest sense (risk of insolvency) is the dan-
ger that the Bank will no longer be able to meet its current and fu-
ture payment obligations in full, or in a timely manner. Liquidity risk 
in a broader sense (funding risk) is the danger that additional fund-
ing can no longer be obtained, or can only be obtained at increased 
market interest rates.
The Bank’s ALCO determines the liquidity strategy of the Bank and 
sets the liquidity risk limits. The treasury department manages the 
Bank’s liquidity on a daily basis and is responsible for the execu-
tion of the ALCO’s decisions. Compliance with strategies, policies 
and limits are constantly monitored by the back office and risk man-
agement departments. 
The Bank’s risk management department is responsible for con-
trolling and monitoring regularly that the liquidity risk manage-
ment is in line with the LRM policy and its limits. In addition, the 
department controls liquidity limits according to the requirements 
of the National Bank of Ukraine. Moreover, the Bank’s risk manage-
ment department is responsible for monitoring that the measures 
defined in the ALCO are being put into practice. It also conducts 
appropriate local stress tests based on the 3-month cash-flow fore-
cast.
In addition to the requirements set by the local regulatory authori-
ties, the standards that the Bank applies in this area are guided by 
the Group Liquidity Risk Management Policy and the Group Treas-
ury Policy. Both policies were implemented by the Bank in 2009. 
These policies are also in line with the Principles for Sound Liquid-
ity Risk Management defined by the Basel Committee on Banking 
Supervision. Limit breaches and exceptions to these group policies 
are subject to decisions of the Group Risk Management Committee.
The key tools for measuring liquidity risks are a liquidity gap analy-
sis, which estimates future funding needs or the levels of excess 
liquidity, applying different assumptions. Starting with the estima-
tion of the future liquidity in a normal financial environment, the as-
sumptions are increasingly tightened in order to analyse the Bank’s 
liquidity situation in a worst-case scenario (stress test). Based on 
the maturity gap analyses, certain key liquidity indicators are cal-
culated on at least a monthly basis and are closely monitored. One 
important indicator of short-term liquidity is the sufficient liquidity 
indicator (SLI), which compares the amounts of assets and liabili-
ties available within the next 30 days, and must not fall below 1 for 
each material currency. This implies that the Bank always has suf-
ficient funds to be able to repay the liabilities expected to be due 
within the next 30 days and as of 31 December 2010 the level of the  
Sufficient liquidity indicator is 1.4.
Another short-term key indicator is the highly liquid assets indica-
tor, which relates highly liquid assets to customer deposits. The 
indicator must always exceed 20%, which implies that the Bank al-
ways holds funds which can quickly be converted into cash in order 
to repay 20% of all customer deposits. 
The Bank also analyses its liquidity situation from a more structural 
perspective, taking into account the liquidity gaps of the different 
time buckets and additional sources of potential liquidity. This 

A n n u a l  R e p o r t  2 01078



analysis also takes into account credit lines which can be drawn 
by the Bank with some lead time, potential outflows due to margin 
calls, and other assets which take some time to liquidate. 
Depositor concentrations are monitored in order to avoid depend-
encies on a few large depositors. According to the Bank’s internal 
guidelines a significant depositor concentration exists if the 10 
largest deposits exceed 20% of total customer deposits.  
The sufficient liquidity indicator is a limit and must not be exceed-
ed. The highly liquid assets indicator, the liquidity position and the 
depositor concentration measures are reporting triggers, which 
may be exceeded but require that the reasons and mitigating meas-
ures be reported to the Bank’s ALCO and the Group ALCO. 
As well as prescribing the close monitoring of these indicators, the 
Group Liquidity Risk Management Policy also defines reporting 
triggers. If the highly liquid asset indicator drops below 20%, if the 
short-term liquidity position becomes negative, or if the depositor 
concentration rises above 20%, the Bank’s ALCO and the Group 
ALCO or Group Risk Management Committee must be involved in 
decisions on appropriate measures.
In order to safeguard the liquidity of the Bank even in stress situa-
tions, the potential liquidity needs in different scenarios are deter-
mined. The result is analysed and on this basis the Bank’s liquid-
ity reserve target is determined by the ALCO. The results of these 
stress tests are also used to determine liquidity standby lines pro-
vided by ProCredit Holding AG to the Bank if necessary. 
Funding risk became a more prominent issue due to the financial 
crisis. However, in 2010, the Bank experienced a period of excess 
liquidity rather than a shortage of funds. This was especially at-
tributable to the fact that the loan portfolio started 2010 with a 
negative growth rate, and subsequently grew rather slowly com-
pared to previous years, while deposits continued to grow at a high 

and increasing rate. The Bank regards the increase in the deposit 
base as evidence of customers’ confidence in ProCredit Bank. The 
Bank still considers its liquidity risk to be medium because of the 
large percentage of the loan portfolio that is funded with customer 
deposits and because the Bank also continues to have access to 
funding from various international sources. In fact, due to the com-
fortable liquidity situation of the Bank, exposures to banks and IFIs 
were reduced, partially through early repayment of funds drawn on 
credit lines.
In the interests of diversifying its funding sources, the Bank seeks 
to minimise its dependency on the interbank market. The ProCredit 
group’s policies stipulate that the total amount of interbank liabili-
ties may not exceed 40% and overnight funding may not exceed 4% 
of total liabilities. Violations of these limits need to be approved 
by Group ALCO.
In order to manage liquidity risk on a daily level, the Bank works 
with a cash flow analysis tool. This tool is designed to provide a 
realistic picture of the future liquidity situation. It includes assump-
tions about deposit and loan developments and helps to forecast 
highly liquid assets (as described below) in the future. 
In addition, liquidity risk is measured and limited, based on a for-
ward-looking liquidity gap analysis showing the contractual matu-
rity structure of the assets and liabilities. 

The following table shows the undiscounted cash flows of the fi-
nancial assets and financial liabilities of the Bank according to 
their remaining contractual maturities at 31 December 2010. The 
remaining contractual maturity is defined as the period between 
the balance sheet date and the contractually agreed due date of the 
asset or liability, or the due date of a partial payment under the con-
tract for an asset or liability.

  Up to 1 – 3 3 – 12 1 – 2 2 – 5 More than Total
 1 month months months years  years 5 years

 Assets       
 Cash and cash equivalents 
 and mandatory reserves 25,440 – – – – – 25,440
 Due from other banks 3,717 2,513 – – –  6,230
 Loans and advances to customers 8,515 17,726 72,395 45,639 43,996 45,067 233,338
 Investment securities available-for-sale – – 3,077 – – 127 3,204
 Other financial assets – 267 635 – – 733 1,635
 Total assets 37,672 20,506 76,107 45,639 43,996 45,927 269,847
       
  Liabilities          
 Customer accounts 109,580 17,882 44,698 1,466 78 294 173,998
 Other borrowed funds – 5,143 15,645 19,919 30,350 – 71,057
 Subordinated debt – – 7 – 8,000 6,040 14,047
 Total liabilities 109,580 23,025 60,350 21,385 38,428 6,334 259,102
       
 Open position (71,908) (2,519) 15,757 24,254 5,568 39,593 
 Cash and cash equivalents
 and mandatory reserves 25,440 – – – – – 25,440
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The following table shows the undiscounted cash flows of the fi-
nancial assets and financial liabilities of the Bank according to their 
remaining contractual maturities at 31 December 2009.

  Up to 1 – 3 3 – 12 1 – 2 2 – 5 More than Total
 1 month months months years  years 5 years

 Assets       
 Cash and cash equivalents 
 and mandatory reserves 34,055 – – – – – 34,055
 Due from other banks 37,244 – – – –  37,244
 Loans and advances to customers 10,134 17,149 73,274 53,281 65,700 35,704 255,242
 Investment securities available-for-sale – – – – – 127 127
 Other financial assets – – 721 – – 760 1,481
 Total assets 81,433 17,149 73,995 53,281 65,700 36,591 328,149
           
 Liabilities          
 Customer accounts 88,713 20,356 38,609 1,422 262 784 150,146
 Other borrowed funds 10,034 8,696 39,118 37,685 41,810 5,575 142,918
 Debt securities in issue 181 –  4,082 –  –  –  4,263
 Subordinated debt  – –  8 –  9,206 14,040 23,254
 Total liabilities 98,928 29,052 81,817 39,107 51,278 20,399 320,581
       
 Open position (17,495) (11,903) (7,822) 14,174 14,422 16,192 

However, as not all cash flows will occur in the future as specified 
within the contracts, the Bank applies certain assumptions, espe-
cially regarding deposit withdrawals. These assumptions are very 
conservative.

The core assumptions used for the purposes of calculating the li-
quidity indicator are as follows:
• 50% of interbank liabilities contractually due at sight will be 

withdrawn in the next month, another 50% will be withdrawn 
within the following three months

• 20% of customer deposits contractually due at sight will be 
withdrawn within the next month, 80% will be withdrawn later

• 10% of exposures guaranteed by the Bank will require a pay-
ment within the next month

• 30% of credit lines which the Bank has committed to its cus-
tomers, but which are currently undrawn, will be drawn within 
the next month

• 20% of all term deposits, but at least all term deposits contrac-
tually due within the next month, will be withdrawn within the 
next month

The goal is to always have sufficient liquidity in order to serve all 
expected liabilities within the next month. From a technical point 
of view this implies that the Bank’s available assets should always 
exceed the expected liabilities, as calculated by applying the above 
assumptions. 
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The following table summarises the results of this approach to 
measuring liquidity risk and shows the distribution of liquidity-
relevant positions across certain time buckets.

   Up to 1 – 3 3 – 6 7 – 12 More than Total
  1 month months months months 1 year

 Assets       
 Cash  10,264 – – – – 10,264
 Mandatory reserves with central bank  3,708 – – – – 3,708
 Other central bank balances (excl. MR)  3,723 – – – – 3,723
 Nostro accounts  12,078 – – – – 12,078
 Unused irrevocable and unconditional 
 credit commitments  11,000 – – – – 11,000
 T-bills & marketable securities  2,512 – – – – 2,512
 Placements with external banks  – 2,512 – – – 2,512
 Loans and advances to customers  6,944 18,411 26,271 48,282 126,431 226,339
 Currency derivatives (asset side)  – 2,000 – – – 2,000
 Total Assets  50,229 22,923 26,271 48,282 126,431 274,136
      
 Liabilities      
 Current liabilities to customers (due daily)  19,410 4,853 4,853 4,853 63,085 97,054
 Contingent liabilities from guarantees  193 – – – – 193
 Unused irrevocable credit commitments  1,892 – – – – 1,892
 Liabilities to PC banks (incl. PCH)  – – – – 7,666 7,666
 Liabilities to IFIs  – 5,000 2,222 9,444 46,112 62,778
 Liabilities to customers (TDAs)  14,794 17,898 23,747 17,529 – 73,968
 Subordinated debt  – – – – 14,040 14,040
 Currency derivatives (liability side)  – 2,000 – – – 2,000
 Total Liabilities  36,289 29,751 30,822 31,826 130,903 259,591
      
 Expected liquidity gap  13,940 7,112 2,561 19,017 14,545 
 Excess from previous band  n/a 13,940 7,112 2,561 19,017 
 Sufficient Liquidity Indicator  1.4 

The expected liquidity gap quantifies the potential liquidity needs 
within a time bucket if it has a negative value, and it shows a poten-
tial liquidity excess if it has a positive one. This calculation includes 
positive excess values from the previous time buckets. On an oper-
ational level, the gap report is broken down into the most important 
currencies (EUR, USD and the local currency UAH). 
Overall the Bank considers its funding sources to be sufficiently 
diversified, especially given that the bulk of the Bank’s funds are 
provided by a large number of customer deposits. The figures also 
reveal that because of the excess liquidity in 2010, exposures to 
IFIs and banks have been reduced during the year. 
The information related to the borrowings from international finan-
cial institutions as of 31 December 2010 is disclosed in Note 43.

50. Operational Risk

Operational risk is recognised as an important risk factor for the 
Bank, given that it relies on decentralised processing and decision-
making. In line with Basel II, the Bank defines operational risks as 
the risk of loss resulting from inadequate or failed internal proc-
esses, people and systems and/or external events. This category 
includes all “risk events” in the areas of personnel, processes, 
and information technology. To further expand the processes for 
managing operational risks, a new Operational Risk Policy was im-
plemented in the Bank in 2009; this policy was updated in 2010. 
The principles outlined in this document have been designed to 
effectively manage the Bank’s operational risk exposure. They are 

in compliance with the Basel II requirements for the “standard ap-
proach” (as outlined in Section 276 of the German Ordinance on 
Solvency (SolvV)). 

The overall framework for managing operational risks is best de-
scribed as a complementary and balanced system comprising the 
following key components: Corporate Culture, Governance Frame-
work, Policies and Procedures, Risk Assessments, New Risk Ap-
provals (NRAs), Key Risk Indicators and the Risk Event Database. 
While the Corporate Culture, the Governance Framework, and Poli-
cies and Procedures define the basic cultural and organisational 
parameters, Risk Assessments, New Risk Approvals (NRAs), Key 
Risk Indicators and the Risk Event Database form the key instru-
ments with which the risk management process is executed.

The overall objectives of the Bank’s (and the group) approach to the 
management of operational risks are: to understand the drivers of 
the group’s operational risks
• to be able to identify critical issues as early as possible
• to avoid losses caused by operational risks; and
• to ensure efficient use of the group’s capital.

To deliver on these goals the following tools and processes have 
been implemented within the framework outlined above. They are 
presented in the sequence in which they are used within the op-
erational risk management process. This process is subdivided into 
the following phases: identification, evaluation, treatment, moni-
toring, documentation and communication, and follow up.
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Identification 
• Annual operational risk assessments
• Detailed process reviews as appropriate
• New risk approval (NRA) process
• Risk identification and documentation in the Risk Event 
 Database (RED)
• Ad hoc identification of potential risks

Evaluation / quantification
• Agreed standards to quantify risks 

Mitigation and treatment
• Implementation of measures to avoid, reduce or mitigate the 
 risks depending on priorities, efficiency considerations and 
 regulations
• Transfer of risk to an insurer or other party

Monitoring and control
• Process owners’ responsibility to monitor risks
• Key risk indicators (KRIs) and operational risk reports, risk 
 bearing capacity calculation and monitoring

Communication, escalation, documentation
• Escalation levels to management bodies, regular reporting, 
 risk committees
• RED, management summary documents for risk events

Issue tracking / follow-up tables for material action plans
• Follow-up tools used in Banks

To constantly enhance the professional standards of the Bank, it 
has continued in 2010 to make use of local training facilities, and 
also regional academies and the international ProCredit Academy 
in Fürth, Germany. Training programmes for candidates for man-
agement positions include various sessions focusing explicitly on 
risk management, and these elements of the curriculum have been 
expanded during 2010. Risk awareness training is being delivered 
annually to all staff as well as to all newly hired employees. 

The following categories of operational risk are monitored specifi-
cally:

People risks
• Each bank seeks to avoid key person dependencies and enforc-

es a two-week consecutive leave policy.
• Staff training has a very high priority in the group and ensures 

continuous development of staff members’ personal attitude 
and commitment and their professional skills.

IT risks: 
• Group-wide standards have been implemented for the Banks’ 

business continuity plans. These will be fully implemented in 
2011.

• Similar standards have been implemented to ensure informa-
tion security throughout the group. Full execution of these 
standards is scheduled for the next 18 months.

Legal risks:
• Suitable legal resources are employed to deal with legal mat-

ters (internal legal staff and/or external legal counsel).
• The legal function is involved whenever required and appropri-

ate (e.g. NRA process, all legal issues).

Compliance and regulatory risk
• All banks ensure the identification of new regulations or up-

dates on the interpretation of regulations and covenants 
agreed with financing institutions in a timely manner. This 
function is typically hosted in the legal or the compliance de-
partment.

Anti-money laundering (AML) risk
• Based on the Group AML Policy the Bank has introduced a new 

AML policy in 2010. 

Fraud risk
• The Bank manages fraud risk as part of the operational risk 

area. Risk assessments for operational risk and fraud risk 
based on German standards have been executed in 2010.

Reputational risk
• Any extraordinary mentions (whether positive or negative) are 

reported to the Management Board and to the risk manage-
ment department to decide on possible responses.

External risk factors
• The likelihood and impact of external risk events such as a 

natural disaster that damages a firm’s physical assets as well 
as electrical or telecommunications failures that disrupt busi-
ness are considered by risk managers within the described 
framework. 

As of December 2010, no significant legal proceedings were pend-
ing.

Organisation of the risk management function
Responsibility for risk management at the Bank lies with the Man-
agement Board. The risk management function comprises various 
organisational units, including the credit risk department and the 
risk management department, which include the market risk unit, 
operational risk unit and credit portfolio risk unit. Responsibility 
for capital management and for controlling risk bearing capacity 
lies with the risk management department as well. These four or-
ganisational units report to the Management Board of the Bank, to 
the Bank’s Market Risk Management and Credit Portfolio Risk Com-
mittees, which meet monthly and to Operational Risk Management 
Committee, which meets quarterly. The units reports to the Assets 
and Liabilities Committee (ALCO), which meets weekly, as well. 
Committees are specialised with the aim to consider individual 
risks carefully such as market risks (ALCO, Market Risk Manage-
ment Committee), credit risks (Credit Portfolio Risk Committee) and 
operational risks (Operational Risk Committee). 
At the Bank, risk management is implemented and developed, in 
operational terms, by a risk management department which is an 
autonomous department within the Bank’s organisation and which 
is not involved in any way with the Bank’s customer service opera-
tions (credit or deposit business) or trading operations. The risk de-
partments report regularly to the corresponding risk departments 
at ProCredit Holding. 
The Bank’s risk policies address all risk categories and set stand-
ards that enable risks to be identified early and to be managed ap-
propriately. The risk management department carries out regular 
monitoring to ensure that the total volume of all risks incurred does 
not exceed the limits agreed, i.e., that the risk bearing capacity of 
the Bank is not exceeded, so that sufficient capital is available to 
cover even unlikely potential losses.
The respective risk positions of the individual banks are described 
in a standard General Risk Report which is generated on at least 
quarterly basis. This risk report is provided to the local risk commit-
tees and to ProCredit Holding AG.
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F. Additional Notes

51. Fair Value of Financial Instruments

The Bank uses the following hierarchy for determining and disclos-
ing the fair value of financial instruments by valuation technique 
(Refer to Note 7):
• Level 1: quoted (unadjusted) prices in active markets for identi-

cal assets or liabilities;
• Level 2: techniques for which all inputs which have a signifi-

cant effect on the recorded fair value are observable, either 
directly or indirectly; and

• Level 3: techniques which use inputs which have a significant 
effect on the recorded fair value that are not based on observ-
able market data.

The following table shows an analysis of financial instruments 
recorded at fair value by level of the fair value hierarchy as of 31 
December 2010:

     Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
 Financial assets    
 Derivative financial instruments    1 – – 1
 Investment securities available-for-sale    3,077 – – 3,077
 Total financial assets    3,078 – – 3,078
    
 Financial liabilities    
 Derivative financial instruments    – – – –
 Total financial liabilities    – – – –
 

The following table shows an analysis of financial instruments re-
corded at fair value by level of the fair value hierarchy as of 31 De-
cember 2009:

     Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
 Financial assets    
 Derivative financial instruments    – – – –
 Investment securities available-for-sale    – – – –
 Total financial assets    – – – –
    
 Financial liabilities    
 Derivative financial instruments    59 – – 59
 Total financial liabilities    59 – – 59

The Bank has in its portfolio available-for-sale investments which 
are carried in the balance sheet at cost (2010: USD 127 thousand 
(2009: USD 127 thousand). The fair value of the investments in 
the shares of First Ukrainian Credit Bureau and ProCredit Regional 
Academy Eastern Europe, LLC in Skopje could not be reliably esti-
mated because these shares are not quoted and recent trade prices 
are not publicly accessible. The Bank has no intention of selling its 
investments.
Please refer to Note 4.
Set out below is a comparison, by class, of the carrying amounts 
and fair values of the Bank’s financial instruments that are not car-
ried at fair value in the financial statements. This table does not 
include the fair values of non-financial assets and non-financial li-
abilities.
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   2010  2009
  Carrying value Fair value Carrying value Fair value
 Financial assets    
 Cash and cash equivalents and mandatory reserves 25,440 25,440 34,055 34,055
 Due from other banks 6,230 6,230 37,244 37,244
 Loans and advances to customers 233,338 235,173 255,242 253,768
    Business loans 203,798 205,317 238,717 238,207
    Agricultural loans 20,002 20,623 5,934 5,997
    Housing improvement loans 2,516 2,548 2,955 3,026
    Finance leases 1,151 801 1,364 270
    Consumer loans 1,898 1,895 718 718
    Other loans 3,973 3,989 5,554 5,550
 Other financial assets 1,634 1,634 1,481 1,481
 Total financial assets 266,642 268,477 328,022 326,548
    
 Financial liabilities        
 Customer accounts 173,998 175,366 150,146 150,412
    Current accounts of individuals 17,436 17,436 13,471 13,471
    Current accounts of legal entities 38,951 38,951 24,386 24,386
    Savings accounts of individuals 39,952 39,952 31,931 31,931
    Savings accounts of legal entities 1,064 1,064 1,100 1,100
    Term deposits of individuals 75,511 76,873 76,127 76,392
    Term deposits of legal entities 1,012 1,018 2,735 2,736
    Other liabilities to customers 72 72 396 396
 Other borrowed funds 71,057 66,311 142,918 127,238
 Debt securities in issue – – 4,263 4,095
 Other financial liabilities 1,213 1,213 1,411 1,411
 Subordinated debt 14,048 15,463 23,254 27,236
 Total financial liabilities 260,316 258,353 321,992 310,392

Fair value is the amount at which a financial instrument could be 
exchanged in a current transaction between willing parties, other 
than in a forced sale or liquidation, and is best evidenced by an ac-
tive quoted market price. Where quoted market prices are not avail-
able, the Bank used valuation techniques. As disclosed in Note 7, 
generally valuation techniques used by the Bank do not require sig-
nificant assumptions that would not be supported by observable 
market data. 

The fair value of floating rate instruments that are not quoted in an 
active market was estimated to be equal to their carrying amount. 
The fair value of unquoted fixed interest rate instruments was es-
timated based on estimated future cash flows expected to be re-
ceived discounted at current interest rates for new instruments 
with similar credit risk and remaining maturity. 

Discount rates used depend on currency, maturity of the instru-
ment, credit risk of the counterparty and were as follows:

  2010 2009
 Due from other banks 0.01% to 7% p.a. 0.01% to 18% p.a.
 Loans and advances to customers  
   Business loans 0.5% to 28.5% p.a. 8.5% to 40% p.a.
   Agricultural loans 12% to 21% p.a. 12.5% to 40% p.a.
   Housing improvement loans 0.5% to 33% p.a. 15% to 35% p.a.
   Finance leases 20% p.a. 0.1% to 13% p.a.
   Consumer loans 0.5% to 50% p.a. 13% to 35% p.a.
   Other loans 0.5% to 50% p.a. 8% to 24% p.a.
 Investment securities available-for-sale n/a n/a
 Other financial assets n/a n/a
  
 Customer accounts  
   Current accounts of private individuals n/a n/a
   Current accounts of legal entities n/a n/a
   Savings accounts of private individuals n/a n/a
   Savings accounts of legal entities n/a n/a
   Term deposits of private individuals 1.5% to 13% p.a. 5% to 22% p.a.
   Term deposits of legal entities 0.1% to 12% p.a. 0.1% to 21% p.a.
   Other liabilities to customers n/a n/a
 Other borrowed funds 4.78% to 14.76% p.a. 2.5% to 8.55% p.a.
 Debt securities in issue n/a 17.75% p.a.
 Subordinated debt 6.72% p.a. 7.1% to 13.0% p.a.
 Other financial liabilities  n/a  n/a

A n n u a l  R e p o r t  2 01084



52. Contingencies and Commitments

Legal proceedings
From time to time and in the normal course of business, claims 
against the Bank may be received. On the basis of its own estimates 
and internal professional advice, Management is of the opinion 
that no material losses will be incurred in respect of these claims 
and accordingly no provision has been made in these financial 
statements. 

Tax legislation
Ukrainian tax and customs legislation is subject to varying interpre-
tations, and changes, which can occur frequently. Management’s 
interpretation of such legislation as applied to the transactions and 
activity of the Bank may be challenged by the relevant authorities.
The Ukrainian tax authorities may be taking a more assertive posi-
tion in their interpretation of the legislation and assessments, and 
it is possible that transactions and activities that have not been 
challenged in the past may be challenged.
As a result, significant additional taxes, penalties and interest may 
be assessed. Fiscal periods remain open to review by the authori-
ties in respect of taxes for three calendar years preceding the year 
of review. Under certain circumstances reviews may cover longer 
periods.

Capital expenditure commitments
At 31 December 2010, the Bank has contractual capital expenditure 
commitments in respect of computer software of USD 175 thousand 
(2009: USD 189 thousand).
The Bank has already allocated the necessary resources in respect 
of these commitments. The Bank believes that future net income 
and funding will be sufficient to cover this and any similar such 
commitments.

Compliance with covenants
The Bank is subject to certain covenants relating primarily to its 
other borrowed funds. Non-compliance with such covenants may 
result in negative consequences for the Bank including increase in 
the cost of borrowing and declaration of default.

There are financial covenants under agreements with European 
Bank for Reconstruction and Development (EBRD), International Fi-
nancial Corporation (IFC). Kreditanstalt für Wiederaufbau (KfW). In 
particular, the Bank is required to maintain a certain level of:
• risk weighted capital adequacy ratio
• liquid assets to short-term liabilities ratio
• fixed assets to capital ratio
• maximum exposure to a single party to capital ratio
• open credit exposure ratio
• portfolio at risk
• related party exposure ratio
• maturity gap to capital ratio
• maturity gap ratio
• group exposure ratio
• interest rate risk ratio
• foreign currency open position.

As at 31 December 2010, the Bank was in breach of some of the 
financial covenants on the borrowings from EBRD, IFC and KfW, giv-
ing them the right to demand premature repayment of credit facili-
ties booked as other borrowed funds. 
The Bank has received waivers of rights to declare events of default 
under the respective loan agreements from IFC and KFW before 31 
December 2010. EBRD has issued the waiver of rights to declare 
event of default under their agreements in March 2011 with effec-
tive date as of 31 December 2010.
At the date of issue of this report the Bank has received the waivers 
of rights to demand premature repayment from its counterparties, 

most of which are at the same time the shareholders of the Bank 
and of ProCredit Holding. Taking this into consideration, all of the 
other borrowed funds are expected to be repaid according to their 
contractually agreed schedules. Refer to Note 41.

Credit related commitments
The primary purpose of these instruments is to ensure that funds 
are available to a customer as required. Guarantees and standby 
letters of credit, which represent irrevocable assurances that the 
Bank will make payments in the event that a customer cannot meet 
its obligations to third parties, carry the same credit risk as loans. 
Documentary and commercial letters of credit, which are written 
undertakings by the Bank on behalf of a customer authorising a 
third party to draw drafts on the Bank up to a stipulated amount 
under specific terms and conditions, are collateralised by the un-
derlying shipments of goods to which they relate or cash deposits 
and therefore carry less risk than a direct borrowing. 

Outstanding credit related commitments are as follows:

   2010 2009
Import letters of credit – –
Guarantees issued 2,876 2,433 
Total credit related commitments 2,876 2,433

The total outstanding contractual amount of guarantees does not 
necessarily represent future cash requirements, as these financial 
instruments may expire or terminate without being funded. In ad-
dition as at 31 December 2010 cash deposits of USD 279 thousand 
(2009: USD 266 thousand) are held as collateral for irrevocable 
commitments under guarantees issued. Import letters of credit are 
100% covered with blocked amounts on clients’ current accounts. 
Refer to Note 39. For the amount of provisions for credit related 
commitments (off-balance sheet credit risk) refer to Note 43.

Credit related commitments are denominated in currencies as fol-
lows:

  2010 2009
Ukrainian hryvnia 477 301
US dollars 3 25
Euros 2,396 2074
Others – 33 
Total 2,876 2,433

Commitments to extend credit represent unused portions of au-
thorisations to extend credit in the form of loans, guarantees or let-
ters of credit. With respect to credit risk on commitments to extend 
credit, the Bank is potentially exposed to loss in an amount equal 
to the total unused commitments. However, the likely amount of 
loss is less than the total unused commitments since most commit-
ments to extend credit are contingent upon customers maintaining 
specific credit standards. The Bank monitors the term to maturity 
of credit related commitments because longer-term commitments 
generally have a greater degree of credit risk than shorter-term 
commitments.
As at 31 December 2010, all commitments to extend credit are revo-
cable and amounted to USD 10,995 thousand (31 December 2009: 
all revocable and amounted to USD 4,573 thousand).

Assets pledged and restricted
At 31 December 2009, the Bank has no assets pledged as collat-
eral.
At 31 December 2010, the Bank had no assets pledged as collateral 
other than currencies receivable under foreign exchange swap con-
tracts which are placed against amounts payable. Only net position 
is recognised in the statement of financial position. 
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The gross assets/liabilities under such agreements placed against 
each other are as follows:

   2010  2009
  Asset pledged Related liability Asset pledged Related liability
 Gross receivables under depo swap contracts 2,000 2,000 – –
  Total 2,000 2,000 – – 

In addition, mandatory cash balances with the NBU in the amount 
of USD 5,846 thousand (31 December 2009: USD 5,267 thousand) 
represent mandatory reserves that the Bank is required to keep on 
the accounts with the NBU as disclosed in Note 32.

53. Related Party Transactions

Parties are generally considered to be related if the parties are un-
der common control or one party has the ability to control the other 
party or can exercise significant influence over the other party in 
making financial or operational decisions. In considering each pos-
sible related party relationship, attention is directed to the sub-
stance of the relationship, not merely the legal form.
At 31 December 2010, the outstanding balances with related par-
ties were as follows:

 Parent Other Entities Key Other
 company significant under common management related
  shareholders  control personal parties
Gross amount of loans 
and advances to customers
(contractual interest rate: 10-16%) – – – 304 –
Investment securities available-for-sale – – 96 – –
Other assets 3 – 48 – –
Customer accounts 
(contractual interest rate: 0%-17%) – – 12 90 –
Other borrowed funds (contractual interest 
rate: USD:2.5%- 8.42%; UAH - 14.43%) 7,768 43,538 – – –
Other liabilities 52 – 46 – –
Subordinated debt (contractual interest 
rate: 7.1% - 13.0%) 14,048 – – – –

The income and expense items with related parties for the year 
2010 were as follows:

 Parent Other Entities Key Other
 company significant under common management related
  shareholders  control personal parties
Interest income – – – 31 –
Interest expense (3,474) (3,363) – (11) –
Fee and commission income – – – – –
Fee and commission expense – – – – –
Other operating income  10 – – – –
Administrative and other operating expenses 
other than key management remuneration (1,859) (33) (750) – –
    including management services (1,798) – – – –
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Aggregate amounts lent to and repaid by related parties during 
2010 were:

 Parent Other Entities Key Other
 company significant under common management related
  shareholders  control personal parties
Amounts lent to related parties during the period – – – – –
Amounts repaid by related parties during the period – – – 23 –

At 31 December 2009, the outstanding balances with related par-
ties were as follows:

 Parent Other Entities Key Other
 company significant under common management related
  shareholders  control personal parties
Gross amount of loans and advances to 
customers (contractual interest rate: 10-16%) – – – 354 –
Investment securities available-for-sale – – 96 – –
Other assets 10 – 1 – –
Customer accounts 
(contractual interest rate: 0%-17%) – – 18 159 30
Other borrowed funds 
(contractual interest rate: 2.5% - 8.55%) 31,930 41,076 – – 34,750
Other liabilities 35 – – – –
Subordinated debt 
(contractual interest rate: 7.1% -13.0%) 14,048 – – – 9,206

The income and expense items with related parties for the year 
2009 were as follows:

 Parent Other Entities Key Other
 company significant under common management related
  shareholders  control personal parties
Interest income – – – 31 –
Interest expense (4,416) (2,546) (130) (9) (2,012)
Fee and commission income 45 – 9 – –
Fee and commission expense – (13) – – –
Administrative and other operating expenses 
other than key management remuneration (1,010) – (596) – (290)
including management services (923) – – – (261)

Aggregate amounts lent to and repaid by related parties during 
2009 were:

 Parent Other Entities Key Other
 company significant under common management related
  shareholders  control personal parties
Amounts lent to related parties during the period – – – 6 –
Amounts repaid by related parties during the period – – – 20 –

In 2010, the remuneration of members of key management person-
nel comprised salaries totalling USD 348 thousand (2009: USD 234 
thousand), including social insurance and pension contributions of 
USD 40 thousand (2009: USD 30 thousand).
The vacation accrual related to key management personnel as at 31 
December 2010  was USD 25 thousand (2009: USD 24 thousand).
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54. Presentation of Financial Instruments by Measurement Cat-
egory

For the purposes of measurement, IAS 39, Financial Instruments: 
Recognition of Measurement, classifies financial assets into the 
following categories: (a) loans and receivables; (b) available-for-
sale financial assets; (c) financial assets held to maturity and (d) 
financial assets at fair value through profit or loss (“FVTPL”). Finan-
cial assets at fair value through profit or loss have two subcatego-
ries: (i) assets designated as such upon initial recognition, and (ii) 
those classified as held for trading. The following table provides 
a reconciliation of classes of financial assets with these measure-
ment categories as at 31 December 2010:

  Loans  Available- Assets at Total
  and receivables for-sale assets FVTPL 
Assets    
Cash and cash equivalents and mandatory reserves 25,440 – – 25,440
Due from other banks 6,230 – – 6,230
Loans and advances to customers 233,338 – – 233,338
 Business loans 203,798 – – 203,978
 Agricultural loans 20,002 – – 20,002
 Housing improvement loans 2,516 – – 2,516
 Finance leases 1,151 – – 1,151
 Consumer loans 1,898 – – 1,898
 Other loans 3,973 – – 3,973
Investment securities available-for-sale – 3,204 – 3,204
Other financial assets 1,634 – 1 1,635
Total financial assets 266,642 3,204 1 269,847
Non-financial assets    18,057
Total assets    287,904

The following table provides a reconciliation of classes of finan-
cial assets with these measurement categories as at 31 December 
2009:

  Loans  Available- Assets at Total
  and receivables for-sale assets FVTPL 
Assets    
Cash and cash equivalents and mandatory reserves 34,055 – – 34,055
Due from other banks 37,244 – – 37,244
Loans and advances to customers 255,242 – – 255,242
 Business loans 238,717 – – 238,717
 Agricultural loans 5,934 – – 5,934
 Housing improvement loans 2,955 – – 2,955
 Finance leases 1,364 – – 1,364
 Consumer loans 718 – – 718
 Other loans 5,554 – – 5,554
Investment securities available-for-sale – 127 – 127
Other financial assets 1,481 – – 1,481
Total financial assets 328,022 127 – 328,149
Non–financial assets    18,332
Total assets    346,481

As at 31 December 2010 and 31 December 2009, all of the Bank’s 
financial liabilities except for derivatives were carried at amortised 
cost. Derivatives (Note 55) belong to the fair value through profit or 
loss measurement category.
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55. Derivative Financial Instruments

Foreign exchange derivative financial instruments entered into by 
the Bank are represented by currency swaps entered into with oth-
er banks in an over-the-counter market on customised contractual 
terms and conditions. Derivatives have potentially favourable (as-
sets) or unfavourable (liabilities) conditions as a result of fluctua-
tions in market interest rates and foreign exchange rates relative to 
their terms. The aggregate fair values of derivative financial assets 
and liabilities can fluctuate significantly from time to time.
The table below sets out fair values, at the statement of financial 
position date, of currencies receivable or payable under foreign ex-
change swap contracts entered into by the Bank. The table reflects 
gross positions before the netting of any counterparty positions 
(and payments) and covers the contracts with settlement dates 
after the respective statement of financial position date. The con-
tracts are short term in nature.

   2010  2009
 Contracts Contracts  Contracts Contracts
 with positive fair value  with negative fair value with positive fair value  with negative fair value
Depo swap: fair values, at 
the statement of financial 
position date, of     
   UAH receivable on settlement (+) 2,001 – – – 
   USD payable on settlement (-) (2,000) – – – 
Net fair value of swaps 1 – – – 

As at 31 December 2010 credit risk is limited to USD 1 thousand as 
SWAP agreements are pledged against each other.
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Fax: (38 044) 538 08 92

Kyiv 10
1 Lysenka St.,
Kyiv 01034
Tel.: (38 044) 585 86 20
Fax: (38 044) 585 86 22

Kyiv 11
3b Tuluzy St.,
Kyiv 03170
Tel.: (38 044) 585 85 91
Fax: (38 044) 585 85 92

Kyiv 12
3 Sichnevogo Povstannja St.,
Kyiv 01010
Tel.: (38 044) 585 85 95
Fax: (38 044) 585 85 96

Kyiv 13
6 Vasilkivska St.,
Kyiv 03040
Tel.: (38 044) 585 86 00
Fax: (38 044) 585 86 03

Kyiv 14 
41 Sagaydachnogo St., 
Kyiv 04070
Tel.: (38 044) 538 08 55
Fax: (38 044) 585 86 37

Kyiv 17 
25/1 Malyshka St., 
Kyiv 02206
Tel.: (38 044) 585 30 00
Fax: (38 044) 585 86 49

Kyiv 18 
3 Praz`ka St.,
Kyiv 02090
Tel.: (38 044) 585-35-00
Fax: (38 044) 585-86-38

Kyiv 19 
98/2 Peremohy Prospekt,
Kyiv 03062
Tel.: (38 044) 538-08-43
Fax: (38 044) 538-08-44

Bila Tserkva 1
15, Pyatdesyatyrichchya Peremohy Ave.,
Bila Tserkva 09117
Tel.: (38 04563) 90 272
Fax: (38 04563) 90 275

Bila Tserkva 2
137, Pyatdesyatyrichchya Peremohy Ave.,
Bila Tserkva 09113
Tel.: (38 04563) 44 450
Fax: (38 04563) 44 450

Dnipropetrovsk 1
4-A Karla Libknehta St.,
Dnipropetrovsk 49000
Tel.: (38 056) 770 77 10
Fax: (38 056) 770 77 10
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Dnipropetrovsk 2
12 Gasety “Pravda” Ave.,
Dnipropetrovsk 49081
Tel.: (38 056) 23 49 222
Fax: (38 056) 23 49 222

Donetsk 1
34 Chervonoarmiyska St.,
Donetsk 83086
Tel.: (38 062) 345 32 00
Fax: (38 062) 345 32 11

Donetsk 2
23 Pushkina St.,
Donetsk 83055
Tel.: (38 062) 348 36 00
Fax: (38 062) 348 36 06

Ivano-Frankivsk
11 Sichovyh Striltsiv St.,
Ivano-Frankivsk 76000
Tel.: (38 0342) 55 70 00
Fax: (38 0342) 55 70 13

Kharkiv 2
2/15 K. Marksa St.,
Kharkiv 61052
Tel.: (38 057) 766 48 01
Fax: (38 057) 766 48 03

Kharkiv 4
32/20, 23 Serpnya St.,
Kharkiv 61072
Tel.: (38 057) 766 38 08
Fax: (38 057) 766 38 09/10

Kharkiv 5
24 Geroyiv Pratsi St.,
Kharkiv 61146
Tel.: (38 057) 766 95 45
Fax: (38 057) 766 95 85 

Kharkiv 7
25 Chernyshevs’kogo St.,
Kharkiv 61002 
Tel.: (38 057) 766 23 50/60
Fax: (38 057) 766 23 43

Kramatorsk 
54 Sotsialistychna St.,
Kramatorsk 84300
Tel.: (38 0626) 423 406 
Fax: (38 0626) 423 406

Lviv 1
33 Gorodotska St.,
Lviv 79007
Tel.: (38 032) 298 73 45
Fax: (38 032) 298 73 45

Lviv 2
3 O. Basarab St.,
Lviv 79017
Tel.: (38 032) 297 72 55
Fax: (38 032) 298 78 20

Lviv 3
5 Mitskevycha Sq.,
Lviv 79000
Tel.: (38 032) 244 44 60
Fax: (38 032) 244 44 60

Lviv 4
51 Volodymyra Velykogo St.,
Lviv 79053
Tel.: (38 032) 245 82 00
Fax: (38 032) 245 82 01

Makiyivka
49/17 Lenina St.,
Makiyivka 86157
Tel.: (38 0623) 22 07 64/65
Fax: (38 0623) 28 45 04

Mariupol 
77 Metalurgiv Ave.,
Mariupol 87539
Tel.: (38 0629) 41 28 04
Fax: (38 0629) 41 28 05

Mykolaiv
17A Pushkinskay St.,
54029 Mykolayiv
Tel.: (38 0512) 53 08 50
Fax: (38 0512) 53 08 52

Odesa 1
11-A Varlamova St.,
Odesa 65009
Tel.: (38 048) 786 07 30/20
Fax: (38 048) 786 0 728

Odesa 4
98 Dnipropetrovska Doroha,
Odesa 65117 
Tel.: (38 048) 779 55 60
Fax: (38 048) 779 55 66

Poltava 
19/10 Kotlyarevskogo St.,
Poltava 36000
Tel.: (38 0532) 503 693
Fax: (38 0532) 503 688

Simferopol
2/10 Pionerskiy Lane,
Simferopol 95000
Tel.: (0652) 60 55 90
Fax: (0652) 60 55 80

Sumy
6 Kirova St.,
Sumy 40030
Tel.: (38 0542) 67 57 20
Fax: (38 0542) 67 57 29

Zaporizhzhya 
190 Lenina Ave., 
Zaporizhzhya 69035
Tel.: (38 061) 220 60 71
Fax: (38 061) 220 95 57
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